### NBSIR 75-783

# Validation of the DELCAP Airport Simulation Model

Judith F. Gilsinn

Institute for Basic Standards Applied Mathematics Division Operations Research Section National Bureau of Standards Washington, D. C. 20234

July 1975

**Final Report** 

Technical Report to:

Systems Research and Development Service Federal Aviation Administration Department of Transportation Washington, D. C. 20590

\$

Report No. FAA-RD-75-154

.

.



### DEC 1 0 1975

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE National Technical Information Service 5285 Port Royal Road Springfield, Virginia 22151

335027

Production Section A-607, Admin. Bldg. National Bureau of Standards Washington, D.C. 20234

Re your report: NBSIR-75-783, "Validation of the DELCAP Airport Simulation Model"

We are not able to process your report for the following reasons. Please make the corrections necessary and return the document and this letter to us. Report format is to conform with the ANSI standard, ANSI Z39.18, entitled "Format and Production for Scientific and Technical Reports" available @ \$4.00 from the American National Standards Institute, Inc., 1430 Broadway, New York, New York 10018.

- ] 1. Pages are missing.
- 2. All pages are not numbered and some could therefore be missing. We suggest author or editor number the pages consecutively throughout the document, or within chapters if prefixed by the chapter designation.
- 3. Some pages are not reproducible.
- 4. A Bibliographic Data Sheet (BDS) must accompany each title. Blank forms are enclosed.
- 5. This document has copyright or other restrictions. Please furnish written authorization for NTIS to reproduce and sell to the public.
- 6. An Accession Notice Card must accompany each title. Blank forms are enclosed.
- 7. We cannot microfiche pages larger than the standard  $8\frac{1}{2} \times 11$  in one frame (see ANSI standard). Please reduce pages exceeding  $8\frac{1}{2} \times 11$  in this document before returning and limit the page size of future documents to standard size.
- 8. The document is not reproducible due to insufficient contrast between the print and paper or broken print. Some pages, but not all, are indicated by blue check. Please examine all pages and furnish at least one clean, clear, reproducible copy.

Sincerely, ian JOHN H. ASHLEY, Chief

Input Branch Phone: 703-321-8517 IES/mdj Form NTIS-63 (Rev.7 -74)



BIBLIOGRAPHIC DATA SHEET	NBSTR-75-783	No.	J. Recipiei	
TITLE AND SUBTITLE	NBS1R-75-765		5. Publicat	tion Date
			Julv	7 1975
Valditation of t	he DELCAP Airport Simulatio	n Model	6. Performi	ing Organization Cod
AUTHOR(S)			8. Performi	ing Organ. Report No
Judith F. Gilsin	n			
PERFORMING ORGANIZAT	BUREAU OF STANDARDS		20504	/Lask/Work Unit No. 90
DEPARTME	NT OF COMMERCE N, D.C. 20234		11. Contrac	t/Grant No.
Sponsoring Organization Na	me and Complete Address (Street, City, S	tate, ZIP)	13. Type of	Report & Period
Systems R	esearch and Development Ser	vice	Covered Final	1
Federal A Departmen	viation Administration t of Transportation		14. Sponsor	ing Agency Code
SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES			1	
bibliography or literature so This report performed to vali were calculated b four appropriate	documents exercises of the l documents exercises of the l date the outputs of that mod y DELCAP for five runway con operating policies chosen fo	DELCAP airport si lel. Airport thr nfigurations, wit or each, and for	imulation coughput ch three three di	n model levels or fferent
bibliography or literature so This report performed to vali were calculated b four appropriate mixes of aircraft within 6 to 8 per at validating DEL and actual times Proved unsuccessf that portion of t terminal area ATC data is formulate flowcharts, descr user instructions	documents exercises of the l date the outputs of that mod y DELCAP for five runway con operating policies chosen for types. These estimates fro cent, with current values pro CAP's delay-figure output, to of aircraft departures and a ul, because available data a otal delay which DELCAP is of delay. A collection effort d. Appendices to the report iptions of program changes f for the model's operation.	DELCAP airport sidel. Airport the figurations, with or each, and for om DELCAP agreed covided by the FA using existing da errivals, is also the not sufficient esigned to measu to accumulate t contain program from earlier vers	imulation coughput th three three di well, ge A. An a ata on sc o reporte t to iso are, i.e. the neces a listing sions, an	a model levels or fferent enerally ttempt heduled d. It late sary , d
bibliography or literature so This report performed to vali were calculated b four appropriate mixes of aircraft within 6 to 8 per at validating DEL and actual times proved unsuccessf that portion of t terminal area ATC data is formulate flowcharts, descr user instructions KEY WORDS (six to twelve name; separated by semicological model validation;	documents exercises of the l date the outputs of that mod y DELCAP for five runway con operating policies chosen for types. These estimates fro cent, with current values pr CAP's delay-figure output, u of aircraft departures and a ul, because available data a otal delay which DELCAP is of delay. A collection effort d. Appendices to the report iptions of program changes f for the model's operation.	DELCAP airport si lel. Airport thr afigurations, with or each, and for om DELCAP agreed covided by the FA using existing da arrivals, is also are not sufficient lesigned to measu to accumulate to contain program rom earlier vers	imulation coughput th three three di well, ge A. An a ata on sc o reporte at to iso ore, i.e. the neces a listing sions, an	d model levels or fferent merally ttempt heduled d. It late sary , d
bibliography or literature so This report performed to vali were calculated b four appropriate mixes of aircraft within 6 to 8 per at validating DEL and actual times proved unsuccessf that portion of t terminal area ATC data is formulate flowcharts, descr user instructions KEY WORDS (six to twelve name; separated by semicol- model validation; AVAILABILITY	<pre>uvey, mention it here.) documents exercises of the l date the outputs of that mod y DELCAP for five runway con operating policies chosen for types. These estimates fro cent, with current values pr CAP's delay-figure output, u of aircraft departures and a ul, because available data a otal delay which DELCAP is of delay. A collection effort d. Appendices to the report iptions of program changes f for the model's operation.  entries; alphabetical order; capitalize on ons) Airport; airport capacit runway capacity; simulation [x] Unlimited</pre>	DELCAP airport sidel. Airport thr afigurations, with or each, and for om DELCAP agreed covided by the FA using existing da arrivals, is also are not sufficient esigned to measure to accumulate the contain program from earlier vers y; airport simuli ; validation. 19. SECURITY (THIS REF	imulation coughput th three three di well, ge A. An a ata on sc o reporte at to iso are, i.e. the neces a listing sions, an <i>irst key work</i> ation; me	d model levels or fferent merally ttempt heduled d. It late sary , d d d unless a proper odels; 21. NO. OF PAGE
bibliography or literature so This report performed to vali were calculated b four appropriate mixes of aircraft within 6 to 8 per at validating DEL and actual times proved unsuccessf that portion of t terminal area ATC data is formulate flowcharts, descr user instructions KEY WORDS (six to twelve name; separated by semicol- model validation; AVAILABILITY For Official Distributio	documents exercises of the l date the outputs of that mod y DELCAP for five runway con operating policies chosen for types. These estimates fro cent, with current values pr CAP's delay-figure output, u of aircraft departures and a ul, because available data a otal delay which DELCAP is of delay. A collection effort d. Appendices to the report iptions of program changes f for the model's operation.	DELCAP airport sidel. Airport thr afigurations, with or each, and for om DELCAP agreed covided by the FA using existing da arrivals, is also are not sufficient esigned to measure to accumulate the contain program from earlier vers y the first letter of the f y; airport simul ; validation. 19. SECURITY (THIS REF UNCLASS	imulation coughput th three three di well, ge A. An a ata on sc o reporte at to iso are, i.e. the neces a listing cions, an <i>Tirst key work</i> ation; more Y CLASS PORT)	d model levels or fferent merally ttempt heduled d. It late sary , d d dunless a proper odels; 21. NO. OF PAGE 167
bibliography or literature so This report performed to vali were calculated b four appropriate mixes of aircraft within 6 to 8 per at validating DEL and actual times proved unsuccessf that portion of t terminal area ATC data is formulate flowcharts, descr user instructions KEY WORDS (six to twelve name; separated by semicol model validation; AVAILABILITY For Official Distributio Order From Sup. of Doc Washington, D.C. 2040	<pre>uvey, mention it here.) documents exercises of the I date the outputs of that mod y DELCAP for five runway con operating policies chosen for types. These estimates fro cent, with current values pr CAP's delay-figure output, u of aircraft departures and a ul, because available data a otal delay which DELCAP is of delay. A collection effort d. Appendices to the report iptions of program changes f for the model's operation.  entries; alphabetical order; capitalize on ons) Airport; airport capacit runway capacity; simulation  x Unlimited n. Do Not Release to NTIS ., U.S. Government Printing Office 2, SD Cat. No. C13</pre>	DELCAP airport sidel. Airport thr afigurations, with or each, and for om DELCAP agreed covided by the FA using existing da arrivals, is also are not sufficient esigned to measu to accumulate to contain program rom earlier vers y the first letter of the f y; airport simul ; validation.	imulation coughput th three three di well, ge A. An a ata on sc o reporte at to iso ire, i.e. the neces a listing sions, an <i>Tirst key word</i> ation; mo Y CLASS PORT) IFIED Y CLASS GE)	a model levels or fferent merally ttempt heduled d. It late sary , d d d unless a proper odels; 21. NO. OF PAGE 167 22. Price



### VALIDATION OF THE DELCAP AIRPORT SIMULATION MODEL

Judith F. Gilsinn

Institute for Basic Standards Applied Mathematics Division Operations Research Section National Bureau of Standards Washington, D. C. 20234

July 1975

Final Report

Technical Report to: Systems Research and Development Service Federal Aviation Administration Department of Transportation Washington, D. C. 20590

Report No. FAA-RD-75-154



U.S. DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE, Rogers C.B. Morton, Secretary James A. Baker, III, Under Secretary Dr. Betsy Ancker-Johnson, Assistant Secretary for Science and Technology

NATIONAL BUREAU OF STANDARDS, Ernest Ambler, Acting Director



#### ABSTRACT

This report documents exercises of the DELCAP airport simulation model performed to validate the outputs (delay and capacity) of that model. Airport throughput levels were calculated by DELCAP for five runway configurations, with three or four appropriate operating policies chosen for each, and for three different mixes of aircraft types. These estimates from DELCAP agreed well, generally within 6 to 8 percent, with current values provided by the FAA. An attempt at validating DELCAP's delay-figure output, using existing data on scheduled and actual times of aricraft departures and arrivals, is also reported. It proved unsuccessful, because available data are not sufficient to isolate that portion of total delay which DELCAP is designed to measure, i.e. terminal area ATC delay. A collection effort to accumulate the necessary data is formulated. Appendices to the report contain program listing, flowcharts, descriptions of program changes from earlier versions, and user instructions for the model's operation.

Key Words: Airport; airport capacity; airport simulation; models; model validation; runway capacity; simulation; validation.



#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.	Introduction1
	1.1 Background1
	1.2 The Validation Process
	1.3 Description of DELCAP
	1.4 Validating DELCAP
2.	Validation of DELCAP Throughput Estimates9
	2.1 General Description
	2.2 Validation Output
	2.2.1 Single Runway
	2.2.2 Intersecting Runways
	2.2.3 Close Parallels
	2.2.4 Close Parallels with an Intersecting Runway24
	2.2.5 Analysis of Results
	2.3 Comparisons of Model Output with Available Data
3.	Validation of Model's Delay Estimates
	3.1 General Background
	3.2 Traffic Input Data
	3.3 Delay Analysis of the Input Data
	3.4 DELCAP Input
	3.5 DELCAP Output
	3.6 Data Required for DELCAP Delay Validation. 61
4	Conclusions
5	References 65
2.	
ADI	pendix A. Changes and Additions to DELCAP
1121	A.1 Modifications in Output
	A 2 Changes in Separation Criteria 72
	A 3 Improved Random Number Generator.
	A / Modifications in Operating Policy 72
	A 5 Changing Operating Policy During a Computer Run 75
	A 6 New Proprocessor Standard Values
Apr	and in R Descriptions and Flowcharts of Simulation Events 78
чЫ	B 1 Event EVCEN 82
	B 2 Event CEN 8/
	P 3 Event NYTOP 25
	D. J. Event MAIOF
	D.4 FUNCTION FREEK
	D. J. Event TOFF 02
	D.O EVENL IOFF
	D./ Event filor
	D.O EVENIL CHEUF
۸	D. 7 Event ODIR
Abl	Entition and Sota 101
	C. 1. Poutines
	C.2 Variables
	V. / VALIANTES

#### page

.

Appendix D. Revised Input Formats10	)5
D.1 Revised Preprocessor Input Formats	)5
D.2 Revised Input Formats for Exogenous Events	)9
D.2.1 Flight Generation10	)9
D.2.2 Policy Change11	LO
Appendix E. Program Listings11	11
E.1 Listing of the Preprocessor11	11
E.2 Listing of the DELCAP Simulation12	22
Appendix F. Processing the LGA Traffic Input Data14	+2

### LIST OF FIGURES

page

1.1	The Terminal Area as Seen by DELCAP	••5
1.2	Flowchart of the DELCAP Simulation	••/
2.1	Hourly Inroughput for a Single Kunway Handling Unly Takeoffs	12
2 2	Close Parallels with an Intersecting Runway	· 1 J
2.3	O'Hare Four-Runway Configuration	.28
3.1	Runway Configuration for LGA	.37
3.2	Sample Schedule Data	. 38
3.3	Sample of Actual Traffic Data	.40
3.4	Delay Profiles Using LGA Input Data	.41
3.5	Preprocessor Output	.46
3.6	DELCAP Summary Output	.51
3.7	DELCAP Delay Profile	.54
3.8	Computer Output: Detailed Trace	.5/
3.9	Comparison of Delay Profiles	. 58
A.1	Sample Preprocessor Output	. 67
A.2	Sample Simulation Output	. 69
B.1	Flowchart of the DELCAP Simulation Routines	.79
B.2	Flowchart of Event BEGIN	.80
B.3	Flowchart of Event CHOUR	.81
B.4	Flowchart of Event EXGEN	.83
B.5	Flowchart of Event GEN	.86
B.6	Flowchart of Event NXTOP	.87
B./	Flowchart of Function FREEK	.89
B.O R Q	Flowchart of Event TOFE	0/i
B. 10	Flowchart of Event FTIUP	98
B.11	Flowchart of Event CHGOP	99
B.12	Flowchart of Event CDIR	.00
F.1	Inconsistencies in Two Data Sources	.43
F.2	LGA Scheduled Flights Input to DELCAP	.46

#### LIST OF TABLES

2.1	Aircraft Characteristics for Validation Runs	10
2.2	Three Aircraft-Type Mixes Used	10
2.3	Configurations and Operating Policies for Validation Runs	11
2.4	Single Runway Throughput (per Hour)	16
2.5	Hourly Throughput for Near Intersection (V) With Interference.	18
2.6	Hourly Throughput for Near Intersection (V) Without	
	Interference	19
2.7	Hourly Throughput for Far Intersection (X) With Interference	20
2.8	Hourly Throughput for Far Intersection (X) Without	
	Interference	21
2.9	Hourly Throughput for Close Parallels	23
2.10	Hourly Throughput for Close Parallels Plus an Intersecting	
	Runway Without Interference	26
2.11	Hourly Throughput for Close Parallels Plus an Intersecting	
	Runway with Interference	27
2.12	Throughput for Several Configurations at Selected Airports	30
2.13	Sustainable Throughput Estimated by DELCAP	31
2.14	Comparison fo FAA Theoretical Throughput Estimates With Those	
	Calculated by DELCAP	.31a
3.1	LGA General Aviation Traffic Levels by Hour	45
3.2	Operating Policies for LGA by Hour	
3.3	Example of the Detailed Trace of Simulated Operations	
3.4	Number of Flights Delayed Excessively in Each Hour	60
A.1	Sample Operating Policies	74

#### 1. INTRODUCTION

#### 1.1 Background

In 1969 the FAA asked the National Bureau of Standards (NBS) to review its Airport Capacity Handbook, developed by Airborne Instruments Laboratory (AIL) in June 1963, and to evaluate the possibility of reapplying or extending that Handbook's airport capacity model so as to account for new aircraft types and mixes of aircraft types. The documentation proved insufficient to permit reconstructing the AIL model, which in effect had been "lost" during the intervening years. Consequently NBS developed an analytical model, for the simple case of a single runway handling landings only, and documented it in [4] and [7]. See also [8] and [9] for similar results. Subsequently NBS extended the analytical model to dual-use runways and multi-runway configurations, in [5] and [6].

In the process of carrying out the extension, it became evident that the analysis for complex configurations was very difficult, and there was a possibility the analytical expressions would prove intractable. To ensure ability to handle a large range of configurations despite possible difficulties in the analytical modeling, it was decided to develop concurrently a simulation model. The DELCAP model, documented in [1], was the result of this effort. Its design principle, described in the first chapter of that documentation, is the "model as little as you can" philosophy under which only those system elements with direct influence on stipulated output measures are included in the model. This philosophy assumes a well-defined set of applications for which a model is to be designed, and recognizes that the resultant model may thus be unsuited for other applications. Specifically, DELCAP was designed to calculate average maximum throughputs and delays resulting from airport airside operations in a terminal area.

Input parameters which were included in the model, and therefore may be varied, include:

separation rules, aircraft type mix, characteristics of each aircraft type, traffic levels, airport runway configuration, operating policy.

DELCAP was commissioned as a planning tool, and so major criteria in its design were that it be easy to use, have a short computer running time, and be economical enough to encourage its use to answer a variety of "what if" questions concerning airport capacities and airside delays.

<sup>\*</sup> The non-metric units, nautical miles, knots, feet and pounds, used in this report are those customarily employed in aviation.

The design and development of DELCAP were completed in this first effort, and the documentation was issued in May 1971. However, only illustrative runs designed to demonstrate its versatility and scope were made at that time.

In early 1974 the FAA's Air Traffic Service requested that the DELCAP model be reactivated, some modifications be made in it, and that it be validated for use in their Engineered Performance Standards (EPS) program for calculating target throughput levels at busy airports. This report documents that effort. An interim report [2] described the validation of throughput output from DELCAP; the results reported there have been incorporated in the present document to make it self-contained.

One <u>caveat</u> should be noted at the outset. The validation exercises reported here are aimed at assessing validity of DELCAP for a specific application, that of setting ATC system performance standards. The parameter ranges, configurations, and operating policies involved in the exercises are those to be found in that application. Therefore, although the validity of DELCAP has been established for input values in the ranges required by this one application, validity has not been established for all possible inputs and scenarios. The context of EPS presented a wide range of configurations and operating policies, so that our validation exercises do cover most of today's busy airport scenarios, indicating the model's usefulness in estimating throughputs at these facilities. Still, caution must be exercised if the DELCAP model is to be applied in other contexts, since validity has been established only in the limited sense noted above.

DELCAP is now operating both at NBS on the UNIVAC 1108 computer and on a CDC computer chosen by, and accessible to, the FAA. On both systems it may be operated remotely from a teletype terminal, which allows the analyst to use the model at his desk as "what-if" questions occur. The model has been used as a tool by FAA analysts in establishing EPS's, that is, traffic levels which a facility should be able to handle during busy hours, under a particular configuration and operating policy, with a given mix of aircraft types and a given arrival/departure ratio. Calculations which formerly had to be performed by hand (by FAA analysts) are now done by DELCAP, which, because it is inexpensive, quick and easy to use, can help investigate a wider variety of configurations and operating policies. Runs typically require 15 to 20 seconds to simulate one day's traffic. This speed and flexibility allow the analyst to set performance standards for conditions which occur less frequently as well as for the normal situation, since a large number of alternatives can easily be tried.

#### 1.2 The Validation Process

Once a mathematical model has reached operational status, there is a natural temptation to put it directly to practical use, skipping over any substantial effort to verify that the model does in fact do what it was designed to do. Such an omission, however, courts disaster, since a model which has not been exercised on a variety of data (and had its outputs compared with what is actually observed in the situation being modeled) may contain unsuspected anomalies likely to exhibit themselves at embarrassing moments or (even worse) to remain undetected. To guard responsibly against this, it is necessary to subject the model to a pre-use validation and preliminary sensitivity analysis.

Validation involves two types of analysis. The first is an independent assessment of the appropriateness of the structure and methods used. A second element of validity checking is the comparison of model outputs with what is actually observed in specific instances of the type of situation being modeled. Comparison of model performance with that of other models which are well-based and accepted, for cases to which both apply, could also be part of this type of analysis. Absolute assurance of validity for all possible future uses is, of course, impossible. Replication of reality for a few test cases can only insure that in these particular examples, the model performs as it should, but if the test cases were chosen carefully to be representative of the spectrum of situations to which the model is expected to be applied, then increased confidence in model validity can be obtained.

Beyond the basic validity testing described above, some preliminary sensitivity analyses should be conducted--to identify those parameters having most critical (most sensitive) effect on model outputs, and to ascertain the degree to which model outputs can be expected to vary with input variations. Such sensitivity analyses should also help to determine the limits beyond which application of the model is inappropriate.

#### 1.3 Description of DELCAP

DELCAP is a simulation model, written in the SIMSCRIPT 1.5 computer language, of the airport terminal area including terminal airside operations and those ground operations occurring on the runway surface. DELCAP was designed to focus on operations in the terminal area and to measure throughputs and delays associated with this subsegment of the whole Air Traffic Control (ATC) System. Its output consists of throughput and delay figures. Input includes traffic levels (or the explicit schedules of traffic, or both), the mix and characteristics of aircraft types, the separation rules which apply, the airport runway configuration and its runway operating policies.

In accordance with the modeling philosophy under which DELCAP was designed, in which ease of use is a major criterion, a FORTRAN preprocessing program has been written to allow users to provide inputs in a format less rigid than that required by SIMSCRIPT programs and to provide a set of nominal input values. The user specifies values for only those input parameters which are to differ from their nominal values. As noted in Appendix A, procedures for selection and values of these nominal inputs have been changed to those most useful for the EPS program.

Figure 1.1 displays the terminal area as seen by the DELCAP model. The aircraft denoted by capital letters are landings; those designated by lower case letters are takeoffs. The landing and takeoff streams are lettered in reverse order of their entrance to the model. (The particular configuration and operating policy shown--a pair of intersecting runways, one handling only takeoffs, the other only landings-is illustrative and should not be taken as a model restriction. Runway configuration is a model <u>input</u>; as will be shown by the exercises reported in Chapters 2 and 3, a wide variety of such configurations can be handled by DELCAP.)

It is convenient to describe DELCAP's treatment of landing and takeoff streams separately, since DELCAP is an event-oriented model (time is incremented to the next "critical event," rather than stepped along at preset intervals) and each critical event in an aircraft's path anticipates the next one along that path. Landings enter the simulation at handoff to tower approach control (A in Figure 1.1). The next critical point along a landing path is the outer marker. DELCAP requires that at least a preset minimum time interval ensue between handoff and the landing's passage of the outer marker. However, the presence of other aircraft in front of A in the landing stream may necessitate that it be placed in a holding pattern or that it fly a longer path to the outer marker, either of which would require extra time. DELCAP does not model the actual route flown by A, but this extra time requirement is imposed by the modeling device of "tying up" the outer marker, i.e., prohibiting A from passing it, until all those in front have done so.

B's final approach can be scheduled once the aircraft in front of B (C in the figure) has passed the outer marker. B must remain separated from C by the required amount (presently 3 miles if C is not a heavy aircraft, 4 miles if both C and B are heavies and 5 miles if C is a heavy but B is not) along the whole final approach path. DELCAP employs the idealization of constant final approach speeds (dependent on aircraft type), and so the acutal separation required between C and B when B crosses the outer marker is either (if C is faster) the minimum required spacing between these aircraft, or (if B is faster) a spacing such that when C touches down B will be at the required minimum separation distance from the end of the runway.\* A landing leaves the simulation when it turns off the runway.

<sup>\*</sup> Of course D cannot land as long as E is on the runway surface. That is, in addition to the airborne separation requirements, runway occupancy time also can affect the prescribed separation between D and E. DELCAP includes the "tying up" effects of runway occupancy, though in practice, it is usually the airborne separation which is critical.



Takeoffs enter the simulation about 15 minutes before scheduled departure time. A minimum taxi time between gate and runway is specified. Since in Figure 1.1, landing E has passed the runway intersection, takeoff c can be cleared to start its roll, if takeoff d had sufficient separation from takeoff c; this presently is 2 minutes after d lifts off if d is a heavy and c is not, and is a shorter, constant time interval--approximated as 20 seconds after liftoff--for all other aircrafttype combinations.

Figure 1.2 is a flowchart of the simulation. The bottom box, "choose next operation," represents the implementation of the runway operating policy which determines the sequence of landings and takeoffs on each runway. The two boxes referring to "maintain separation" are implemented in the model by "tying up" critical points in the landing and takeoff paths: the point at which a takeoff starts its roll, the outer marker, and the point at which a landing touches down. A landing or takeoff can be scheduled to take place when no critical point will be tied up when the aircraft reaches it.

The DELCAP model has been designed to provide output of two quantities, namely <u>throughput</u> (the number of operations handled by the facility per time period) and delay. Application of DELCAP is envisaged under two different scenarios. The first is one in which a realistic demand level is stipulated and DELCAP output yields resulting delays and throughputs. In the second scenario, DELCAP is run with high demand levels to estimate the airport's maximum throughput (<u>capacity</u>).

#### 1.4 Validating DELCAP

Validation of maximum throughput estimates is reported below in Chapter 2. Testing was concentrated on this case, since the main application which this validation effort supports operates in the second scenario. That application is the computation of EPS's, throughputs which are achievable under heavy traffic conditions, for several of the nation's busiest airports operating under a variety of possible configurations and operating policies.

Chapter 3 recounts an attempt, using currently available data, to validate DELCAP's delay output. This effort, which had to be abandoned for the present because empirical delay figures for that portion of the ATC system modeled by DELCAP were lacking, is reported here as an example of a model exercise, showing the model's versatility and ability to represent actual traffic together with artificially generated traffic. The exercise also illustrates the problems caused by multiple definitions of delay. We do describe (at the end of the chapter) the data collection effort required to support a delay-figure validation analysis.

In Chapter 2, validation exercises employed to test DELCAP under the second scenario above are described in detail, and their results are compared with values obtained from FAA's Air Traffic Service. These tests were designed in consultation with R. Scott of FAA's System Research

#### FIGURE 1.2

Flowchart of the DELCAP Simulation



and Development Service and R. Woods and R. Tobiason of the Air Traffic Service, to cover that set of configurations most representative of those encountered at major U.S. terminals, including a single runway, two intersecting runway configurations (differing in the placement of the intersection), a pair of close parallel runways, and a pair of close parallels with a third runway crossing the pair. Wide parallels were not included since they can be modeled as two separate single runways. A variety of operating policies were chosen to approximate those used under different traffic situations: when landings balance takeoffs, when landings predominate, and when takeoffs predominate. This diversity also allows comparison of results, to evaluate the sensitivity of DELCAP throughputs to operating policy. The exercises included different mixes of aircraft types, focusing primarily on the fraction of heavy aircraft in the mix since different, larger separations are required behind heavies because of wake turbulence. Other model inputs (such as aircraft characteristics or the length of the final approach path) could also have been varied, but preliminary tests have led us to believe that the three factors mentioned--configuration, operating policy, and aircraft-type mix--are the ones most critically affecting differences in throughput at major U.S. terminals.

Chapter 3 reports the results of an exercise of the model using actual scheduled traffic data from LaGuardia Airport (LGA) for October 25, 1974, plus general aviation traffic generated in a stochastic manner. Simulated delays were compared with the "real" delays experienced by the scheduled aircraft--calculated as the difference between the actual arrival or departure and the corresponding scheduled time. This comparison proved on closer consideration to be improper, "real" delays necessarily being much greater than the simulated ones because they include the effects of interruptions or slow-ups attributable to other parts of the system (not in the LGA terminal area) and to other sources such as equipment - or crew-induced delays. Simulated delays did, however, agree quite well with the delay level reported by the facility, and the shapes of the distributions, "real" and simulated, were very similar. Chapter 3 also contains a discussion of the data required to do a proper delay-figure validation, and suggests methods of acquiring these data.

Chapter 4 contains a conclusion and summary of the report. Appendices A through E document in detail the current version of the DELCAP model and its preprocessor. Appendix A includes a discussion of changes made to the model since its original documentation [1]. Flowcharts and descriptions of all the simulation routines are included in Appendix B. Appendix C lists the variables and arrays used in DELCAP, and Appendix D gives user instructions for preparing preprocessor input. Listings of both programs appear in Appendix E. Appendix F includes a description of the LGA data, together with a discussion of problems encountered in reconciling two data sources for the LGA input.

#### 2. VALIDATION OF DELCAP THROUGHPUT ESTIMATES

#### 2.1 General Description

This chapter documents runs of the DELCAP model designed to test the validity of its throughput calculations under a variety of conditions. The characteristics attributed during these runs to each of three aircraft types--heavy aircraft (over 300,000 lbs. gross weight), small aircraft (most single- and two-engine craft), and medium and larger craft (larger piston aircraft and most jets) -- are described in Table 2.1. These values were obtained from data collected by the Air Traffic Service at O'Hare International Airport (ORD).

Five different runway configurations, representative of those most often encountered and described in greater detail below, were investigated: a single runway, two runways intersecting so as to form a V, two runways intersecting to form an X, a set of close parallels (3000 to 4300 feet apart), and a set of close parallels with a crossing runway. Configurations involving wide parallels are not included in this analysis since the DELCAP model treats wide parallels as two completely separate runways, and as a result, the maximum throughput of a pair of wide parallels is just the sum of the throughputs available from them independently.

For each configuration, operating policies (displayed in Table 2.3) were chosen as most reasonable for each of three arrival/departure mixes: arrivals balancing departures, departures dominant, and arrivals dominant. Each configuration and operating policy was investigated for three aircrafttype mixes, identified by the percentage of heavy aircraft in the mix and described more fully in Table 2.2.

For each configuration, operating policy and aircraft-type mix, the model was run to simulate 20 hours of traffic. The average hourly throughputs (averaged over the sample of 20 hours) of landings, takeoffs and all operations were recorded for each runway and totaled for all runways to permit comparisons among policies, type mixes and configurations.

In Section 2.2 the model's outputs for these cases are described, and evaluated, including the testing of agreement with analytical models (where available) and with ATC experience about how throughput depends on the factors varied. In Section 2.3, the outputs are compared with FAA-supplied data.

#### 2.2 Validation Output

#### 2.2.1 SINGLE RUNWAY

The single runway case has been studied extensively, and admits analytical expressions for capacity. Two such expressions, one for

<sup>\*</sup> See for example [4], [5], and [6]. Similar formulas to those appearing below appear in these publications, but are derived here again for completeness.

Aircraft	Characteristics	for	Validation Runs	
the second second second second second				

Туре	Туре	Speeds	(Knots)	Runway Oc	cupancy (Sec)
Number	Description	Landing	Liftoff	Landing	Takeoff
1	Heavy A/C	124	120	55	33
2	Small A/C	119	90	40	27
3	Category III's (Larger A/C)	120	120	50	32

#### TABLE 2.2

### Three Aircraft-Type Mixes Used

Mix I -	5% Heavies	Mix II ·	- 15% Heavies	Mix III	- 50% Heavies
Туре	% in Mix	Туре	% in Mix	Туре	% in Mix
1	5%	1	15%	1	50%
2	17%	2	15%	2	9%
3	78%	3	70%	3	41%

		0 - 0						
Arrival/ Departure Mix	Arrivals = Departures		Departures	Predomínate		Arrivals Pı	redominate	r
% Heavies	5% 15% 5	20%	5%	15%	50%	5%	15%	50%
Configuration								
Single runway	Alternate		ľwo departur each pair of	es between arrivals		Two arriva each pair o	ls between of departure	S S
Intersecting	<ol> <li>Arrivals on one,</li> <li>Departures on the oth</li> <li>Alternate on both</li> </ol>	er I	Alternate on Departures o	one, n the other		Alternate ( Arrivals or	on one, n the other	
Intersecting	<ol> <li>Arrivals on one, Departures on the oth</li> <li>Alternate on both</li> </ol>	er I	Alternate on Departures o	one, n the other	• •• ••• ••	Alternate d Arrivals on	on ore, n the other	
Parallel	<ol> <li>Arrivals on one, Departures on the oth</li> <li>Alternate on both</li> </ol>	er I	Alternate on Departures o	one, n the other		Alternate d Arrivals on	on one, n the other	
Parallel + Intersecting	Arrivals on one parallel Departures on the other, Alternate on crossing ru	, D A nway r	epartures or lternate on unways	l one paralle the other tw	, I,	Arrivals on Alternate o runways	1 one parall on the other	el, two

ating Policies for Validation Runs ć Configurata runway handling takeoffs only and the other for the same runway handling landings only, are derived below. As will be seen, DELCAP outputs for these single-runway situations conform closely (as they should) to these theoretical formulas.

To calculate the expected value of the maximum throughput for a single runway handling takeoffs only, under the assumption of a continuous stream of departures in which heavy aircraft appear randomly and constitute a known fraction of all takeoffs, let

> N = number of takeoffs per hour, p = fraction of takeoffs which are heavies, r = runway occupancy time (hrs.) for heavies, Δ = average time (hrs.) between takeoffs for non-heavies δ = average time (hrs.) between takeoffs of two successive heavies (Note that separation rules require a non-heavy to wait 2 minutes after a preceding heavy liftoff before starting its roll.)

Then it follows that:

- 1. The time between takeoff of a heavy and that of a following non-heavy is r' = r + 2/60, the time between takeoffs of heavies is  $\delta$ , and the time between takeoff of non-heavies is  $\Delta$ .
- A fraction p of aircraft following a heavy are heavies;
   (1 p) are non-heavies.
- The expected number of hourly takeoffs by heavies is pN; for non-heavies it is (1-p)N.

Thus the following equation (between numbers of hours) holds:

$$pN[p\delta + (1-p)(r')] + (1-p)N\Delta = 1$$

or

$$N = 1/[p^{2}\delta + p(1-p)r' + (1-p)\Delta].$$

For r = 33 seconds,  $\Delta$  = 54 seconds, and  $\delta$  = 90 seconds for example, the values in Table 2.1 yield

$$N = 3600/[-64p^{2}+99p+54].$$

This is plotted as the upper curve in Figure 2.1. The two circled points, at 20 and 30 percent heavies, give the results of actual DELCAP runs and agree well with the corresponding values from the preceding formula.

Similarly, to calculate the expected throughput for a single runway handling landings only, under the further assumption that landing speeds for all aircraft types are equal, let

#### FIGURE 2.1

## Hourly Throughput for a Single Runway Handling Only Takeoffs or Only Landings



- N = number of landings per hour,
- p = fraction of landings which are heavies,
- s = the landing speed (in knots) for all aircraft types. (Although landing speed does vary among aircraft types, the figures in Table 2.1 indicate that using one value is not a great deviation from reality. More complicated formulas can be derived for the case in which speed depends on aircraft type.)

Then it follows (cf. the separation criteria given in section 1.3) that:

- 1. The time between the landings of two heavies is 4/s, between a heavy and a following non-heavy is 5/s, and between a non-heavy and a following aircraft is 3/s.
- A fraction p of the aircraft following a heavy are heavies, a fraction (1-p) are non-heavies.
- 3. The expected number of hourly landings by heavies is pN; for non-heavies it is (1-p)N.

Thus the following equation holds:

$$pN[p(4/s) + (1-p)(5/s)] + (1-p)N(3/s)=1$$

or

 $N = s/(3+2p-p^2).$ 

For

s = 125 knots, for example,

$$N = \frac{125}{(3+2p-p^2)},$$

which is plotted on the lower curve in Figure 2.1. The four circled points, output from the DELCAP simulation, agree very well with the expected throughputs.

Analytical expressions can be and have been derived for more complicated operating policies involving dual operations (both landings and takeoffs),<sup>\*</sup> but are much more complex since for some landing aircraft the minimum allowable spacing can be determined by the separation from a preceding landing, rather than the separation from a takeoff occuring between the two landings. In this case, the takeoff is in some sense a "free" contribution to throughput since it does not require an extra interruption in the flow.

<sup>\*</sup> See for example [6].

As part of our validation analysis, three operating policies for a dual use single runway were run using DELCAP. The output from these runs is displayed in Table 2.4. For time periods in which the numbers of arrivals and departures are approximately equal, the operating policy chosen for the single runway seeks to alternate landings and takeoffs. During departure-dominant periods, landings are spaced far enough apart to allow two takeoffs between each pair of landings. For arrival-dominant periods, takeoffs are permitted only between every other pair of landings.

As can be seen by comparing Table 2.4 with Figure 2.1, dual usage of the single runway decreases the takeoff throughput greatly (by about a factor of two). The reason is that landings require more time between operations and dual usage forces some takeoffs to wait for landings. On the other hand, landing throughput is not as greatly degraded by interspersing takeoffs among the landings. Alternation of landings and takeoffs decreased landing throughput by at most 30% from the pure landing operation, and increased total throughput by 40-60%. This agrees well with operating experience: in the absence of stringent takeoff-airspace restrictions, takeoffs are rarely the limiting throughput factor. On the other hand, spacing between landings is critical, and directions such as "maintain speed" sometimes have to be given by controllers to arriving aircraft in order to ensure that minimum spacing is attained.

Validation for the single-runway case was carried out because it is often an important component of more complicated configurations. Wide parallels may be regarded as two single runways in throughput calculations, for instance. Also, some airports may be reduced to essentially the singlerunway configuration during IFR weather or outages. Still, the primary advantage of DELCAP lies in its applicability to more complex runway situations for which analytic expressions are much more difficult to obtain.

#### 2.2.2 INTERSECTING RUNWAYS

Two different configurations consisting of a pair of intersecting runways were investigated: one with the intersection 2000 feet from the ends of each of the runways (representing the near-intersection or "V" case), the second with the intersection 4000 feet from the ends of each runway (a configuration shaped like an "X").

During periods in which arrivals and departures are roughly balanced, two different operating policies were chosen as reasonable: the first of them alternates landings and takeoffs on both runways, while the second reserves one runway for landings only and the other just for takeoffs. (The second policy can result in lower capacity, but is easier for the controller and probably more representative of actual practice.) For departure-dominant periods, one of the runways handles takeoffs only, with landings and takeoffs alternated on the other. Similarly, for arrival-dominant periods, one runway is set aside for landings only, while landings and takeoffs alternate on the other.

Single Runway Throughput (per Hour)

/

		5% HEAVIE	S	13	5% HEAVIES		50	% HEAVIES	
OPERATING POLICY	LAND	TAKEOFF	TOTAL	LAND	TAKEOFF	TOTAL	LAND	TAKEOFF	TOTAL
ARRIVALS = DEPARTURES: ALTERNATE	28.2	28.2	56.4	27.3	27.3	54.6	26.3	26.3	52.6
DEPARTURES PREDOMINATE: TWO TAKEOFFS BETWEEN EACH PAIR OF LANDINGS	19.6	39.2	58.9	18.6	37.2	55.4	17.2	34.4	51.6
ARRIVALS PREDOMINATE: TWO LANDINGS BETWEEN EACH PAIR OF TAKEOFFS	32.8	16.4	49.3	31.7	15.8	47.5	29.2	14.5	43.7

e

Each intersecting-runway configuration was run both with and without the requirement that operations on one runway be separated from those on the other. In the less restrictive case, the only interaction imposed was that a landing's touchdown or a takeoff's start-of-roll on one runway could not occur in the period between a landing or start-of-roll of an aircraft on the other runway and the time that aircraft passed the intersection. In the other case, in addition to the preceding prohibition, landings on one runway had to be separated by the required 3, 4 or 5 miles from landings on the other, and also by 2 miles from preceding takeoffs on the other. Two separate tables are given for each of the V and X intersection cases (see Tables 2.5-2.8), one including the second separation requirement (described as "with interference") and one without.\*

The interference requirement reduces throughput by 3 to 45 percent, with the lower reduction occurring when takeoffs are allowed on only one runway (i.e., the middle two operating policies in the Tables). It is probably very unusual for landings to be allowed on both runways of an intersecting pair. In fact, the "landings on one, takeoffs on the other" policy is the one most often employed in practice for an intersecting pair, if the runways are of comparable length. When one is longer than the other, then segregation by aircraft type, rather than by operation, is often employed, and something approaching the policy of alternating operations might be achieved. In this case segregation by type (and thus by landing speed) would tend to decrease actual interlanding separations (by reducing gaps due to a slow plane following a faster one), resulting in slightly higher throughputs than those given in Tables 2.5-2.8. With interference, the maximum number of landings -- which occurs for the near intersection for the policy allowing one runway to handle only landings and the other only takeoffs, and occurs for the far intersection for the policy allowing landings on both runways with takeoffs interspersed on one -- is actually about the same as the number of landings on the landingsonly runway alone (under the same policies) when there is no interference.

The difference between 5 and 50 percent heavies in the aircraft type mix leads to a decrease of 6 to 24 percent in total throughput, with the larger differences generally occurring for the policy having only landings on one runway and only takeoffs on the other. To explain this, note that with landings spaced at 5 miles (as for a non-heavy aircraft following a heavy), a takeoff can occur between the two landings without affecting either. The pure-landing/pure-takeoff policy does not exploit this, so that the full brunt of the increased separation is felt. Policies employing dual-use runways are in a better position to utilize these extra spaces.

\* Output for the "pure arrival, pure departure" case in Tables 2.5 through 2.9 differs from that reported in [2] because of an intervening model modification allowing policies which coordinate operations on different runways.

	TOTAL.	28.9	29.0	57.9	30.1	30.1	60.2		37.8	43.3	81.1		18.2	26.3	44.5
)%HEAVIES	TAKEOFF	14.5	14.5	29.0	30.1	0.0	30.1		37.8	21.6	59.4		0.0	13.1.	13.1
50	LAND	14.4	14.5	28.9	0.0	30.1	30.1		0.0	21.7	21.7		18.2	13.1	31.4
ES	TOTAL	31.5	31.4	62.9	34.3	34.4	68.7		41.4	44.1	85.5		20.3	28.0	48.3
15% HEAVI	TAKEOFF	15.7	15.7	31.4	34.3	0.0	34.3		41.4	22.0	63.4		0.0	14.0	14.0
	LAND	15.7	15.7	31.5	0.0	34.4	34.4		0.0	22.1	22.1		20.3	14.0	34.3
	TOTAL	32.6	32.6	65.3	37.4	37.4	74.8		44.4	44.9	89.3		21.6	29.4	51.0
HEAVIES	TAKEOFF	16.3	16.3	32.6	37.4	0*0	37.4		44.4	22.4	66.8		0.0	14.7	14.7
5%	LAND	16.3	16.3	32.6	0.0	37.4	37.4		0*0	22.4	22.4		21.6	14.7	36.3
	RUNWAY	Т	2	TOTAL	1	2	TOTAL		-1	2	TOTAL		Н	2	TOTAL
	OPERATING POLICY ARRIVATS =	DEPARTURES	ALTERNATE ON BOTH		ARRIVALS = DEPARTURES	RUNWAY 1-TAKEOFFS ONLY	RUNWAY 2-LANDINGS ONLY	DEPARTURES	PREDOMINATE	RUNWAY 1-TAKEOFFS ONLY	RUNWAY 2-ALTERNATE	ARRIVALS	FREDUMINALE	RUNWAY 1-LANDINGS ONLY	RUNWAY 2-ALTERNATE .

Hourly Throughput for Near Intersection (V) With Interference

Hourly Throughput for Near Intersection (V) Without Interference

TOTAL 52.4 52.3 32.0 32.0 64.0 46.7 52.3 0.66 31.6 52.2 83.8 104.7 50% HEAVIES TAKEOFF 32.0 26.2 52.4 0.0 32.0 26.1 46.7 0.0 72.9 26.1 26.1 26.1 LAND 32.0 32.0 26.2 52.3 0.0 0.0 26.1 26.1 31.6 26.1 26.1 57.7 TOTAL 54.3 54.5 36.5 36.5 73.1 54.3 119.0 35.9 108.8 54.7 54.2 90.2 15% HEAVIES TAKEOFF 54.4 27.1 27.2 0.0 36.5 36.5 54.7 81.8 0.0 27.1 27.1 27.1 **UND** 27.2 54.4 0.0 27.1 36.5 36.5 0.0 27.1 27.1 35.9 27.1 63.1 TOTAL 56.2 38.6 38.6 77.2 63.8 56.1 112.4 55.9 56.0 119.8 38.1 94.1 5% HEAVIES TAKEOFF 56.2 38.6 0.0 38.6 28.1 28.1 63.8 28.0 91.8 28.0 0.0 28.0 27.9 27.9 38.1 28.0 66.1 LAND 28.0 56.2 0.0 38.6 38.6 0.0 28.1 RUNWAY TOTAL TOTAL TOTAL TOTAL 2 - $\sim$  $\sim$ E Ē  $\sim$ -RUNWAY 2-ALTERNATE 2-ALTERNATE ALTERNATE ON BOTH RUNWAY 1-TAKEOFFS 2-LANDINGS RUNWAY 1-TAKEOFFS RUNWAY 1-LANDINGS OPERATING POLICY ONLY ONLY ONLY ONLY PREDOMINATE PREDOMINATE ARRIVALS = DEPARTURES DEPARTURES ARRIVALS = DEPARTURES ARRIVALS RUNWAY RUNWAY

TOTAL 28.3 56.6 28.3 28.7 28.7 57.4 36.8 42.7 79.5 18.0 25.8 43.8 50% HEAVIES TAKEOFF 28.3 28.7 0.0 36.8 0.0 14.1 14.1 28.7 21.3 58.1 12.9 12.9 LAND 28.3 0.0 14.2 28.7 0.0 21.3 21.3 18.0 14.1 28.7 12.9 30.9 TOTAL 30.6 61.3 31.6 31.6 30.7 63.1 40.0 42.8 82.8 20.0 27.4 47.4 15% HEAVIES TAKEOFF 15.3 40.0 15.3 31.6 0.0 31.6 30.7 21.4 61.4 0.0 13.7 13.7 15.3 15.3 30.6 0.0 31.5 31.5 0.0 21.4 21.4 20.0 LAND 13.7 33.7 TOTAL 31.6 31.6 63.2 33.6 33.6 28.4 49.6 67.3 85.8 42.7 43.1 21.2 5% HEAVIES TAKEOFF 15.8 15.8 33.6 0.0 31.6 33.6 42.7 21.5 64.2 0.0 14.2 14.2 LAND 15.8 15.8 31.6 0.0 0.0 33.6 33.6 21.5 21.5 21.2 14.2 35.4 RUNWAY TOTAL TOTAL TOTAL TOTAL 2 2 2 2 --H RUNWAY 2-ALTERNATE RUNWAY 2-ALTERNATE ALTERNATE ON BOTH RUNWAY 1-TAKEOFFS 2-LANDINGS RUNWAY 1-TAKEOFFS RUNWAY 1-LANDINGS OPERATING POLICY ONLY ONLY ONLY ONLY PREDOMINATE PREDOMINATE DEPARTURES ARRIVALS = DEPARTURES ARRIVALS = DEPARTURES ARRIVALS RUNWAY

Hourly Throughput for Far Intersection (X) With Interference

	5%	HEAVIES	-	15	5% HEAVIES			50% HEAVIE	
RUNWAY	LAND	TAKEOFF	TOTAL	LAND	TAKEOFF	TOTAL	LAND	TAKEOFF	TOTAL
Ч	27.2	27.2	54.5	26.3	26.2	52.5	25.4	25.4	50.9
2	27.2	27.3	54.5	26.4	26.4	52.8	25.5	25.4	50.9
TOTAL	54.5	54.5	109.0	52.7	52.7	105.4	50.9	50.9	101.8
1	0.0	37.7	37.7	0.0	34.9	34.9	0.0	30.6	30.6
2	37.8	0.0	37.8	34.9	0.0	34.9	30.7	0.0	30.7
TOTAL	37.8	37.7	75.5	34.9	34.9	69.8	30.7	30.6	61.3
-1	0.0	58.0	58.0	0.0	51.7	51.7	0.0	44.9	44.9
2	27.4	27.3	54.7	26.6	26.6	53.3	25.6	25.6	51.2
TOTAL	27.4	85.3	112.7	26.6	78.4	105.0	25.6	70.5	96.1
1	38.0	0.0	38.0	35.3	0.0	35.3	30.8	0.0	30.8
 2	26.3	26.4	52.7	26.1	26.0	52.1	25.5	25.5	51.0
 TOTAL	64.3	26.4	90.7	61.4	26.0	87.4	56.3	25.5	8.18

Hourly Throughput for Far Intersection (X) Without Interference

The location of the intersection, far rather than near, causes a greater reduction in takeoff throughput than in landing throughput. This is to be expected, since runway occupancy time is not a critical factor in interlanding spacing, but plays a much greater role in constraining takeoffs. The intersection's location, however, has much less effect than does operating policy.

In summary, the simulated behavior of a pair of intersecting runways is very much as one would expect from logic and real-world experience. The throughput levels produced by DELCAP may be higher than those usually observed because two of the four operating policies simulated allow landings on both runways, a situation atypical in practice. Thus the predicted throughputs for the pure-landing/pure-takeoff strategy perhaps represent the most realistic estimates.

#### 2.2.3 CLOSE PARALLELS

A parallel runway configuration was run under the restriction that landings on one runway must be separated by 3, 4 or 5 miles from landings on the other, and by 2 miles from preceding takeoffs on the other. (This restriction presently applies to parallels whose center lines are separated by 3000-4300 feet.) The results are given in Table 2.9.

During periods when the numbers of arrivals and departures are about the same, the operating policies of choice are either to alternate landings and takeoffs on both runways or to reserve one runway exclusively for landings and the second just for takeoffs, alternating operations on the two. When departures dominate, one runway is reserved exclusively for them, while landings and takeoffs alternate on the other runway. For periods in which arrivals predominate, one runway is restricted to landings only, while landings and takeoffs alternate on the other.

Comparison with Table 2.6 shows that the performance of a pair of close parallel runways very closely resembles that of a "V" intersection with interference, and many of the remarks made for that earlier case also apply here. Since runway occupancy time is not a critical factor in interlanding spacing and since the required separations between landings on the two runways are the same as for one runway, the maximum landing throughput for a set of parallels is not much larger than that for a single runway with two landings between each pair of takeoffs (see Table 2.4). Alternating landings and takeoffs on both runways yields about a 16 percent improvement over the single runway, gained presumably because runway occupancy time has no effect on the other runway's operations.

When takeoffs predominate, landings are spaced far enough apart to allow extra takeoffs on the other runway, and a comparison with Figure 2.1 shows that the number of takeoffs is at most 11 percent less than a single runway handling only takeoffs. Coordinating operations on the two runways, so that a landing on one alternates with a takeoff on the
TABLE 2.9

			Hourly	Through	put for	Close Par	rallels			
						15% HEAVI	ES		50% HEAVE	ES
OPERATING POLICY	RUNWAY	ILAND	TAKEOFF	TOTAL	(INV <sup>-</sup> I	TAKEOFF	TOTAL.	(INVI)	TAKEOFF	TOTAL
ARRIVALS = DEPARTURES	Ţ	16.3	16.4	32.7	15.7	15.7	31.5	14.5	14.5	29.0
ALTERNATE ON BOTH	5	16.3	16.3	32.7	15.7	15.7	31.5	14.5	14.5	29.0
RUNWAYS	TOTAL	32.7	32.7	65.4	31.5	31.5	63.0	29.0	29.0	58.0
						-			-	
ARRIVALS = DEPARTURES	-i	0.0	37.6	37.6	0.0	34.7	34.7	0*0	30.5	30.5
ALTERNATE LANDING	2	37.6	0.0	37.6	34.7	0.0	34.7	30.5	0.0	30.5
TAKEOFF ON RUNWAY 1	TOTAL	37.6	37.6	75.3	34.7	34.7	69.5	30.5	30.5	61.0
						-				
DEPARTURES										
PREDOMINATE	-	0.0	54.0	54.0	0.0	49.0	49.0	0.0	42.3	42.3
RUNWAY 1-TAKEOFFS	2	27.5	0*0	27.5	26.2	0.0	26.2	23.9	0.0	23.9
RUNWAY 2-LANDINGS ONLY	TOTAL	27.5	54.0	81.6	26.2	49.0	75.2	23.9	42.3	66.2
			_							
ARRIVALS										
PREDOMINATE	F	16.5	16.5	33.1	16.0	16.0	32.0	13.8	13.8	27.6
RUNWAY 1-ALTERNATE	2	21.0	0.0	21.0	20.0	0.0	20.0	1.8.7	0.0	18.7
ATINO ATINO	TOTAL	37.7	16.5	54.2	36.1	16.0	52.1	32.5	13.8	46.3

other, results in a decrease of only 8 percent in total throughput but an increase of 28 to 37 percent in the number of landings. In fact the second policy, involving cooperating pure operations, suffers only a 6 to 8 percent reduction in the number of landings from the number operating on a single runway handling landings only. The addition of the second of a close parallel pair of runways thus buys some additional throughput, 16 to 34 percent for periods when the numbers of arrivals and departures balance and 37 percent when departures dominate. During arrival-dominated periods, however, only 9 percent increase in total throughput is observed.

### 2.2.4 CLOSE PARALLELS WITH AN INTERSECTING RUNWAY

The runway configuration for these runs is pictured in Figure 2.2. For time periods in which arrivals and departures are balanced, the operating policy chosen reserves one of the parallel runways (1) for takeoffs, the other parallel (2) for landings and alternates landings and takeoffs on the crossing runway (3). For departure-dominant periods one of the parallels (1) is reserved for takeoffs and landings and takeoffs are alternated on the other two runways. For arrivaldominant periods one of the parallels (1) is reserved for landings, and landings and takeoffs are alternated on the other two. These last two policies are probably unrealistically complicated for a real control situation, but have been simulated to show possible throughput advantages from dual operations.

### FIGURE 2.2

Close Parallels with an Intersecting Runway



- 24 -

Tables 2.10 and 2.11 summarize the results of these runs. Separation requirements for aircraft on the two parallels are those described in Section 2.2.3 for close parallels. For the runs reported in Table 2.10, no interference requirements were put on the intersecting runway, so that takeoffs and landings on it were restricted only by runway occupancy on the other runways. This, of course, does not represent the real requirement when all runways are operated under IFR conditions, but may be more reflective of actual operating practice if the crossing runway is used primarily for smaller VFR aircraft. The runs reported in Table 2.11 had all interference restrictions in force.

Without the interference requirement in effect, the third runway increases landing throughput by 50 to 79 percent and takeoff throughput by 13 to 33 percent over the levels reported in Table 2.9 for parallel runways operated in the pure landing/pure takeoff mode. This increase does not accrue when the interference requirement is in force, since as noted earlier, that requirement means that maximum landing throughput is effectively that of a single runway.

The three different operating policies chosen differ by 17 to 34 percent in landing throughput, but by a factor of almost 3 in takeoff throughput, again demonstrating that meeting takeoff demand is less difficult and less critical than meeting landing demand, a fact wellrecognized by controllers. This is shown even more dramatically by the observation that the first and second policies displayed in Table 2.10 differ only in that the first one restricts runway 2 to landings only (rather than dual use), but the landing throughput is almost the same in the two cases.

### 2.2.5 ANALYSIS OF RESULTS

The preceding section described output from applications of the DELCAP model to a variety of common runway configurations, demonstrating the model's versatility and its ability to represent those airport facilities for which further computerized throughput analysis is desired. DELCAP has also been run on the Chicago O'Hare (ORD) configuration depicted in Figure 2.3. In addition, the model is capable of handling even more complex configurations than this, with many more runways and more complicated interactions among them.

Table 2.10

Hourly Throughput for Close Parallels Plus an Intersecting Runway Without Interference

						T					T				
TFS	TOTAL	0 7E	21.6	42.1	98.7		35.6	40.3	44.0	119 0	( • / + +	16.5	25.9	29.0	71.5
50% HFAV	TAKEOFF	34.0	0.0	21.0	56.0		35.6	20.1	22.0	T. T.		0.0	13.0	14.5	27.5
	LAND	0.0	21.6	21.0	42.6		0.0	20.2	22.0	42.2		16.5	12.9	14.5	43.9
TES	TOTAL	36.6	21.3	41.6	9.66		39.3	41.2	45.8	126.3		17.9	28.9	30.7	77.5
15% HEAV	TAKEOFF	36.6	0.0	20.8	57.5		39.3	20.6	22.9	82.8		0.0	14.4	15.3	29.8
	LAND	0.0	21.3	20.8	42.1		0.0	20.6	22.9	43.5		17.9	14.4	15.3	47.7
ment da e calendar politikaren berenan artendar berenan erre	TOTAL	40.3	21.2	41.8	103.4		43.2	42.9	45.6	131.8		19.3	29.5	30.4	79.2
HEAVIES	TAKEOFF	40.3	0°0	20.9	61.2		43.2	21.4	22.8	87.5		0.0	14.7	15.2	29.9
5%	I.AND	0.0	21.2	20.9	42.2		0.0	21.5	22.8	44.3		19.3	14.7	15.2	49.3
	RUNWAY	Ц	2	ŝ	TOTAL		Н	2	m	TOTAL		Ц	2	ę	TOTAL
	OPERATING POLICY	ARRIVALS = DEPARTURES	RUNWAY 1-TAKEOFFS ONLY	RUNWAY 2-LANDINGS ONLY	RUNWAY 3-ALTERNATE	DEPARTURES	PREDOMINATE	RUNWAY 1-TAKEOFFS ONLY	RUNWAY 2-ALTERNATE RUNWAY 3-ALTERNATE		ARRIVALS	PREDOMINATE	RUNWAY 1-LANDINGS ONLY	RUNWAY 2-ALTERNATE RUNWAY 3-ALTERNATE	

TABLE 2.11

	OT AT	4.0	4.4	2.8	L.3			4.6	3.1	3.0	.8		y.		8	.5
SE	E Di G	2	Н	2	.9			27	2.	2;	7(		C F		17	48
N% HEAVI	TAKFOFI	24.0	0.0	11.4	35.4			24.6	11.5	11.5	47.7			0.0	8.9	17.9
5(	T.AND	0.0	14.0	11.4	25.8			0.0	11.6	11.5	23.1		12.6	9.0	8.9	30.5
IES	TOTAL	25.3	14.6	24.0	64.0	F -		26.1	23.7	23.7	73.5		14.3	18.9	18.8	52.0
15% HEAV	TAKEOFF	25.3	0.0	12.0	37.3			26.1	11.8	11.8	49.8		0.0	9.4	9.4	18.8
	LAND	0.0	14.6	12.0	26.7			0.0	11.9	11.8	23.7		14.3	9.5	9.4	33.2
	TOTAL	26.0	14.0	25.1	65.1			30.4	25.4	25.4	81.3		15.3	18.9	18.9	53.1
VIES	TAKEOFF	26.0	0.0	12.5	38.6			30.4	12.7	12.7	55.8		0.0	9.4	9.4	18.9
5% HEA	I.AND	0.0	14.0	12.5	26.5			0.0	12.7	12.7	25.4		15.3	9.4	9.4	34.2
	RUNWAY	н	2	3	TOTAL			-	2	3	TOTAL		1	2	e	TOTAL
	OPERATING POLICY	AKRIVALS = DEPARTURES	RUNWAY 1-TAKEOFFS ONLY	RUNWAY 2-LANDINGS	RUNWAY 3-ALTERNATE		DEPARTURES	FREDUMINALE	RUNWAY 1-TAKEOFFS ONLY	RUNWAY 2-ALTERNATE RUNWAY 3-ALTERNATE		ARRIVALS	PREDOMINATE	RUNWAY 1-LANDINGS	RUNWAY 2-ALTERNATE RUNWAY 3-ALTERNATE	

Hourly Throughput for Close Parallels Plus an Intersecting Runwav With Interference

### FIGURE 2.3





In the analyses reported above, the model was also exercised under different aircraft-type mixes and different arrival/departure ratios to demonstrate its ability to model these variations successfully. Changing the fraction of heavy aircraft from 5 to 50 percent decreases landing throughput (per runway per hour) by from 0 to 20 percent with an average decrease of about 12 percent, representing from 0 to 8 landings per runway and averaging about 4. Hourly takeoff throughput per runway is decreased more severely - from 0 to 28 percent, averaging 12 percent and representing a decrease of from 0 to 19 takeoffs (averaging 7).

As noted above, operating policy has almost as great an effect on throughput as does runway configuration. The influence of policy, a critical factor in actual operations, is probably somewhat exaggerated by the simulation when used to estimate maximum throughputs. In the simulation, operating policy is rigidly imposed. Whereas in a real situation a controller might run overflow takeoffs on a runway normally handling landings only, or divert a landing to a runway generally reserved for takeoffs, the simulation does not have this flexibility. In practice, the controller's extra leeway should allow him to exceed the capacity levels predicted by the model and therefore should allow for contingencies unforeseen by model assumptions, such as more serious bunching of arrivals and departures, or gaps caused by pilot decisions over which the ATC system has little control. The comparative rigidity of the DELCAP model's handling of operating policy should not seriously affect its usefulness as a tool in establishing EPS's, if care is taken in its application to ensure the most appropriate policy is chosen for simulation.

The DELCAP simulation as now constituted assumes interlanding spacings of exactly 3, 4 or 5 miles as well as fixed and constant runway occupancy times, assumptions which are unrealistic. However, since real separations and runway occupancies may be either less or greater than the nominal values, it is unclear in which direction or to what extent these assumptions bias the resultant throughput values. Although it would be a relatively simple matter to represent these factors in a stochastic manner, it is not at all clear that much additional accuracy in throughput calculations would be gained, particularly since results are averaged over a period of 20 hours.

Throughputs calculated by DELCAP vary with operating policy, configuration and mix in the expected direction and agree quite well in magnitude with observed levels. (A more complete demonstration of this last point follows in the next section.) There are, however, a number of instances in which model outputs are higher than those actually attained at most installations. These involved the simulation of operating policies more complex in their control requirements than the policies in present use, so that empirical data with which to compare these outputs are lacking. For example, it would be unusual for a pair of intersecting or close parallel runways to be operated for any prolonged time with landings on both, unless one runway handled primarily smaller aircraft making visual approaches. This also holds true for the "parallels with crossing runway" configuration; most airports with such a configuration would use the parallels for landings and takeoffs (on separate runways) of larger aircraft, with the crossing runway allocated to lighter aircraft as required. The DELCAP throughputs reported above, therefore, in part require demand levels and controller capabilities which are unlikely to be sustained over long periods. More practical capacity levels are associated with those policies which reserve main runways for pure operations and shorter crossing runways for mixed operations of lighter aircraft.

### 2.3 Comparisons of Model Output With Available Data

Table 2.12 reports IFR throughput figures for a variety of runway configurations at several airports, as computed by a theoretical procedure now under development by the FAA Air Traffic Service, as estimated by staff at the facility, and finally, as found using a version of the theoretical procedure devised by the FAA to account for local variations. The figures vary from facility to facility for the same configuration because of differences in aircraft-type mix and in other special characteristics such as air space restrictions (at JFK, for example). Differences between the theoretical and the modified standard values range from 4 to 19 percent and average 11 percent, so that one can regard as acceptable similar differences between these values and those produced by the model.

ΤA	BLE	2.	12

Configuration Class	Theoretical	Facility Estimates	Modified Standard
Wide Parallels			
• JFK IFR-Pure*	74	70	71
• MIA - Mixed • ATL - Mixed . ORD - Mixed	106 114 104	75 91 90	100 98 <b>92</b>
Close Parallels			
• JFK IFR-Pure • PHL - Pure	60 68	50 52	52 57
4 R/W's ORD			
2 Pure Approach 2 Pure Departure	152	135	137

Throughput for Several Configurations at Selected Airports

\* A "pure" operation is one handling only takeoffs or only landings. Parallels operated in a pure policy have one runway only for landings and a second for takeoffs only. "Mixed" operations refers to a policy allowing both landings and takeoffs on a runway.

In comparing the figures in Table 2.12 with DELCAP outputs, we have modified the latter to take into account the fact that takeoff capacity is rarely restricted and that the numbers in Table 2.12 are those sustainable over an extended period of time during which the total numbers of arrivals and departures are approximately equal. Whenever simulated takeoffs substantially outnumber landings, the maximum total throughput as calculated by DELCAP does not correspond to such a sustainable situation, and a better approximation to realistic total throughput is twice the calculated landing throughput. Table 2.13 reports throughputs thus obtained from DELCAP for configurations similar to those in Table 2.12. (Most of these numbers are taken directly from tables in the previous sections.) Throughput for the TABLE 2.13

Sustainable Throughput Estimated by DELCAP

		5% HEAVI	ES			15% HEAV	I ES			50% HEA	VIES	
CONFIGURATION AND POLICY	LAND	TAKEOFF	TOTAL	SUSTAIN	CINVI	TAKEOFF	TOTAL	SUSTAIN	ILAND	TAKEOFF	TOTAL	SUSTAIN
WIDE PARALLELS PURE	38.8	61.3	100.1	77.6	36.8	53.9	90.7	73.6	32.3	45.7	78.0	64.6
WIDE PARALLELS MIXED	56.4	56.4	112.8	112.8	54.6	54.6	109.2	109.2	52.6	52.6	105.2	105.2
CLOSE PARALLELS PURE	37.6	37.6	75.3	75.3	34.7	34.7	69.5	69.5	30.5	30.5	61.0	61.0
2 WIDE PARALLELS (ORD) PURE	76.4	73.3	152.7	152.7	71.4	71.4	142.9	142.9	62.7	62.7	125.3	125.3

### TABLE 2.14

### Comparison of FAA Theoretical Throughput Estimates With Those Calculated By DELCAP

Configuration Class	Theoretical	DELCAP
Wide Parallels		
. JFK IFR-Pure*	74	78
. MIA-Mixed . ATL-Mixed . ORD-Mixed	106 114 104	113 113 109
Close Parallels		
. JFK IFR-Pure . PHL-Pure	60 68	61 75
4 R/W's ORD		
2 Pure Approach 2 Pure Departure	152	143

wide parallels with pure operations is calculated by adding the throughput for a single runway with only landings, to that for a single runway with only takeoffs.\* Throughput for wide parallels used in mixed operations is calculated as twice the throughput for a single runway serving alternating landings and takeoffs. Throughput for the ORD 4-parallels case pictured in Figure 2.3 is estimated as the sum of throughputs for a near-intersection ("V") configuration and a far intersection pair of runways (both pairs without interference). The FAA theoretical values are compared with the DELCAP Estimates for the appropriate aircraft type mixes in Table 2.14.

Differences in throughput among airports depend in part on the aircraft-type mix. The mix at JFK contains approximately 43 percent heavies, while that at the other airports is much lower. (At ORD, for instance, there are about 16 percent heavies.) For most of the airports of concern here, small aircraft account for a relatively small proportion of traffic (except for PHL where they account for about 40 percent). Therefore, for most airports the throughput figures are more like those reported for 5 and 15 percent heavies.

In the case of wide parallels and pure operations, values in the two tables agree quite well. Whereas the theoretical value of 74 operations per hour agrees exactly with the DELCAP value for 15 percent heavies, the value of 65 from DELCAP for 50 percent heavies is more appropriate since JFK has over 40 percent heavies. Linear interpolation (of 40 percent between 15 and 50 percent) yields about 68, slightly lower than the final figure of 71 (surprisingly, since one would normally expect the model, requiring perfect controllability, to estimate higher than actual values), but still within 5 or 6 percent of the modified performance standard.

In the case of wide parallels under mixed operations, DELCAP maximum throughput values vary from 105 for 50 percent heavies to 113 for 5 percent heavies, agreeing very well with the 104 to 114 theoretical values for the three airports using this operating policy. The most applicable DELCAP values are for the 5 to 15 percent heavies for these three airports, meaning that DELCAP estimates are 5 to 7 operations high for MIA (Miami International) and ORD (Chicago O'Hare International), and one operation low for ATL (Atlanta), but still within 5 to 6 percent of the theoretical values determined by the FAA.

DELCAP values agree very well with the theoretical values for close parallels. The DELCAP throughput of 61 operations at 50 percent heavies matches closely the theoretical value of 60 for JFK, which has a large percent of heavies in its mix. The PHL theoretical value of 68 is closely approximated by the DELCAP-computed value of 69.5 for 15 percent heavies. In both cases the DELCAP values are slightly high (1 or 2 percent) but the fraction of heavies at PHL is probably closer to the 5 percent level, in which case the DELCAP figure is 10 percent high.

<sup>\*</sup> The numbers in Table 2.13 for this case are obtained from runs not included among those reported earlier.

.

Throughput calculated by DELCAP for the 4-runway ORD case lies between the modified standard and the theoretical value in Table 3.2. Note that the DELCAP throughputs used for this analysis are those without interference. (If values from runs with interference were used, the DELCAP estimates would be somewhat lower.) Discussions with FAA personnel familiar with the ORD operation indicate that the two sets of parallels are treated almost as two independent sets of intersecting runways. For the pure operating policy, takeoffs are cleared once a landing passes the intersection, and occur in such a way that the two mile departure/arrival separation does not limit operations. In this operating situation the "without interference" policy more closely describes the actual situation and therefore is indeed the more appropriate policy choice for comparison purposes.

The exercises described above have incorporated some preliminary investigation of model throughput sensitivity to aircraft mix and to runway operating policy. Throughput decreases, from 10 to 33 percent (averaging about 16), as the percentage of heavy aircraft in the mix increases from 5 to 50 percent. Of much greater effect on throughput are two other factors: runway operating policy, and the interference requirements. The latter are determined by ATC rules, but only apply to IFR traffic. If some crossing runways are used primarily by VFR aircraft, or if many aircraft are able to turn off before an intersection, then throughput obtained from DELCAP runs without interference rules in effect would more closely represent the actual situation. As has been noted above, care must be taken in defining the operating policy. Throughput for a mix containing 5 percent heavies for wide parallels with alternating operations on both runways is 113, while that for wide parallels handling pure operations is 78. Depending on the actual sequencing of operations on the two runways, almost any value between these two extremes can be obtained. Therefore it is necessary to be very careful in defining the operating policy to insure that the DELCAP runs model the particular situation desired, and it is strongly advisable to try a variety of policies if there is any question as to which is most applicable.

The DELCAP simulation as now constituted assumes interlanding spacings of at least 3, 4 or 5 miles as well as fixed and constant runway occupancy times, assumptions which are unrealistic. However, the validation indicates that not much additional accuracy in throughput calculations would be gained from (the very easy-to-implement step of) representing these factors in a stochastic manner.

The exercises reported in this chapter have increased our confidence in DELCAP's validity for use as a tool in setting engineered performance standards. In the cases discussed above, DELCAP's throughputs agreed very well with the theoretical values calculated, using a manual process, by the FAA's Air Traffic Service. These theoretical values are the ones with which we would expect greatest agreement, since they are arrived at,

in the simplest cases, in much the same way as DELCAP simulates events. It was hoped that the validated DELCAP would be able to take over this calculation chore, thus avoiding time-consuming and cumbersome hand operations. These validation exercises have established DELCAP's ability to handle that task. The differences between the theoretical and modified standard values highlight the fact that DELCAP (or any model, for that matter) is only a tool to aid in developing the standards. Other factors not included specifically in the model, such as airport noise restrictions, special approach or departure route requirements, ground configurations, or unusual bunching of the traffic distribution, may further limit the sustainable traffic levels, so that two facilities with the same traffic mix, configuration and operating policy may not be able to sustain the same throughput levels even though the model would output them the same. Use of model outputs without careful scrutiny is never advised in any application, but the validation results reported above indicate that the outputs of the DELCAP model will fit well into the philosophy and process already adopted by the FAA for setting engineered performance standards.

### 3. VALIDATION OF MODEL'S DELAY ESTIMATES

### 3.1 General Background

In the previous section we reported a successful effort establishing the validation of DELCAP's throughput results. This section will document an effort designed to aid in establishing the validity of DELCAP's delay outputs. Because of problems in the definition of delay and in available data, the approach reported below was unsuccessful. It is described here to provide a further example of the operation of the DELCAP model, as well as a "lesson" in how not to attempt validation of delay output.

Although the effort was unable to establish the validity of DELCAP delay output, it did illustrate how the model can be run with a mixture of scheduled traffic entered explicitly and general aviation traffic generated in a Poisson manner. Whereas model-computed delays were not comparable with actual recorded delay (measured using the difference between actual and scheduled operation times), the model-computed delay figures agree quite well with facility estimates of the delays attributable to facility operations on the day to which the data apply. In addition, the shapes of the delay curves in these two cases as they vary during the day are very similar, with peaks occurring at about the same times. This section ends with suggestions for future delay validation efforts, which would involve the collection of special data referring to that portion of delay attributable to air traffic control procedures in the the terminal areas.

Problems associated with the definitions of capacity and delay are discussed for example in [4]. Intuitively, the definition of "delay" seems clear -- to retard, to slow down, to detain -- but the crux of the problem lies in the question -- retard, slow down, detain relative to what? Presumably there is a faster way to accomplish the activity in question, and delay is experienced because of not being able to do it that way. The commercial air passenger believes he is delayed only if he arrives later than his scheduled arrival time. The pilot may perceive delay whenever he has to wait in a queue on the ground or in a holding pattern. The ATC system seeks to measure ATC delays, those resulting from ATC procedures, but unfortunately it is difficult to separate them from those resulting from schedule bunching. The ATC system does not count those delays occurring on the ground because of airline procedures, including those resulting from gate assignment problems or from crew or equipment shortages. Path stretching procedures are not normally considered by the ATC system to generate "delay" but may be so considered by others.

Thus each party of the air transport system has a different part of the total delay in mind when speaking of delay. The approach to delay calculation also matters, since whether delay occurs only during specific maneuvers or only because of a particular time difference (e.g. actual versus scheduled arrival times) affects the way it should be measured and calculated. The problems arising because of different definitions of delay are further complicated by the need to ascribe portions of delay to different parts of the system. ATC delay must be separated from total delay and then be apportioned to the facilities involved. DELCAP is oriented exclusively to the effects of terminal-area ATC, and the "controls" exercised over each aircraft are necessitated predominantly by the presence of other aircraft in the environment. Therefore, the definition adopted for delay in DELCAP is the difference between the time to execute a maneuver in the presence of other aircraft and a nominal value of the time to execute that maneuver with no other aircraft involved. The DELCAP-computed delay includes only that portion of an aircraft's total delay occurring while under control of the terminal facility being modeled. It includes delay caused by airside operations, but not by ground operations, with the exception of those occurring on the runway surface. These restrictions ensure that DELCAP-computed delay refers to only that part of the ATC system, the terminal area, for which it is desired.

While this definition is a quite straightforward way to model delay, is physically meaningful, and corresponds correctly to the "terminal-area ATC" level of analysis for which DELCAP was commissioned, it does not correspond to any current operational definition. Thus, in order to validate DELCAP's delay figures it will be necessary to mount a special data collection effort. The characteristics of such an effort are described below in section 3.6.

It was recognized early in the DELCAP-delay validation work (and indeed noted earlier when describing future work in [1]) that there would be difficulties in comparing the data on delay available from the scheduled and actual operation times with the delays measured by DELCAP. Despite these anticipated problems, it was decided jointly with the FAA to continue on and to learn as much as possible using these data, which were the only ones available in time without a special data collection effort. Even if the analysis of delay output showed inconsistencies, the exercise would allow testing DELCAP in a mode discussed previously but not actually run: mixing scheduled and stochastic types of traffic input.

In the past, DELCAP has been run on a variety of runway configurations representing several of the nation's busiest airports, but each of these efforts used traffic descriptions concocted from general knowledge of the traffic levels expected at the facility. The exercise described below uses actual traffic for LaGuardia Airport (LGA) for Friday, October 25, 1974. The facility reported good weather conditions that day and "no delays" (i.e. no aircraft delayed more than 15 minutes). This includes only delays occurring while aircraft are in a holding pattern or a ground departure queue. Other factors contributing to passenger-experienced longer trips, such as path-stretching, alternate routing, airline gate delays, or equipment problems, are not included in such estimates. Some of these factors, in particular path-stretching, do contribute to the DELCAP-computed delay figures. The LGA facility reports only delays occurring while the arriving or departing aircraft are under its control, specifically while they are in the facility's holding pattern or queues. LGA handled 939 operations, of which 715 were air carrier operations and the rest were mainly general aviation, with a few non-scheduled suburban carriers included. The runwav configuration for LGA is depicted in Figure 3.1.



FIGURE 3.1

### Runway Configuration for LGA

Most of the time the airport is operated with landings on one of the runways and takeoffs on the other, with runway-directions depending on wind direction. A more detailed description of the input data for the DELCAP run of LGA is given below.

### 3.2 Traffic Input Data

Traffic data for LGA are available from two sources: scheduled operations from the Official Airline Guide [3] and actual operations from CATER\* data. The Airline Guide schedule data were provided to us by the FAA from a printout of the FAA's Airport Information Retrieval System (AIRS) program, which extracted the data in a form convenient to use in this effort. A sample of this data appears in Figure 3.2. Arrivals and departures were listed separately, sorted by departure or arrival time. Ten minutes had been subtracted from arrival time (added to departure time) to allow for the difference between gate time and touchdown (start-of-roll). The data include the flight identification, the operation time (touchdown or start-of-roll), the aircraft type, and additional data giving origi-

\*CATER, Collection and Analysis of Terminal Records, has been instituted at the three large New York airports (LaGuardia, Kennedy and Newark), and under it data are relayed to Washington concerning each operation at any of the airports as well as meteorological conditions.

### Sample Schedule Data

1400 A/C	20 (	A LE	4	
DL 01905	1400	TFH7	0100	ZRW
ΔΛΠΛ564	1405	J725	0056	ZOR
SON0710	1409	JDC 9	0041	ZDC
NAND 92	1,417	J727	0217	ZMA
FADDR92	1424	J725	0224	ZMA
NW00201-	1424	J72/	0139	ZAU
TW00310	1427	J727	0142	ZAU
AA110442	14.58	1707	0103	7140
	1401	1705	0210	ZMP
	1443	1727	01/13	240
FA0103<	1443	JDos	0043	ZRW
TW00570	1445	JDC 9	0055	<b>70</b> B
PI00 72	1447	J73/	<b>n</b> n49	ZDC
TW00072	1450	J725	0200	ZKC
NCD005	1450	JD9S	0140	ZAU
FA0243<	1450	JD95	0050	ZDC
FA00150	1451	J727	0148	ZJX
AL 00492	1455	JR11	0055	ZOB
UA00840	1459	5737	0109	ZOR
1500 A/C	21 0	5/A	4	
A400298	1505	J727	0108	ZOR
AA00142	1505	J727	0035	ZDC
UA00450	1517	J727	0212	ZMP
AA00221	1518	J725	0048	ZDC
A/10606	1522	J725	0141	ZME
DLACTUS	1522	JDOS	0026	ZRW
NA00144	1523	JUID	021.5	ZMA
	1529	1725	0144	2 AU 7 AU
EA0 463	1530	1707	0.053	ZAU
FA01-4<	1540	JD95	0040	ZBW
A I FOR	154	J727	0115	ZOH
(70-906	1545	JD95	0042	ZDC
Twn: 124	1546	J727	0111	ZID
AL 00621	1547	TCV5	0042	ZDC
A/-00302	1548	J725	014B	ZAU
FA00740	1550	JDAS	0220	ZMA
EA0/102	1550	JD95	0151	ZIL
	1500	1705	0.05	200
	1.9.00	0175	0.0417	2DC

nating (or terminating) air route control center and flight time. Flight ID's with the symbol < as final character belong to Eastern Airline's shuttle flights and may represent several actual aircraft for each flight because of extra sections. Aircraft types represented in the example in Figure 3.2 include Fokker Friendship Turbo-prop F-227 (TFH7), Boeing 727 and Stretch 727 (J727 and J72S), Douglas DC9 and Stretch DC9 (JDC9 and JD9S), Boeing 737 (J737), BAC 111 (JB11), Douglas DC10 (JD10), and the Convair 580 Turbo-prop (TCJ5). All of these, with the exception of the DC10 (a heavy aircraft), are "category 3" aircraft types.

A sample of the CATER data on actual flight operations at LGA appears in Figure 3.3. These data are taken from flight strips and transmitted daily via teletype from New York to Washington. Touchdown and start-of-roll times are recorded for all operations at the three New York airports (LGA), JFK and EWR). Data recorded include the date and time of each operation, the flight identification, the aircraft type, the user category (Air carrier, General aviation, or Suburban), arrival or departure designator, IFR or VFR distinction, the runway on which the operation occurred, and gate departure time for takeoffs. In addition to these traffic data, the CATER printout also indicates operating policy and changes in policy as well as weather conditions (primarily visibility range and wind direction and speed). The traffic recorded in the CATER data includes helicopter operations, designated by aircraft type HELO and an H associated with the user type (AH is air carrier helicopter, for example), but only fixed-wing operations were included in the simulation input.

Input from the two sources, scheduled operations and actual operations, was matched and discrepancies noted. The discrepancies and efforts to reconcile them are discussed in greater detail in Appendix F, which also contains a listing of the actual traffic input to the model.

### 3.3 Delay Analysis of the Input Data

For each of the 702 flights for which the data contained both a scheduled operation (landing or takeoff) time and an actual operation time, "delay" was computed as the difference between the two times. Figure 3.4 records for each hour the number of aircraft whose delay fell into each delay category (5-minute intervals ranging from no-delay to over one hour's delay). In addition to the hourly delay profile for all aircraft, Figure 3.4 also contains separate profiles for landings and takeoffs. In each case 26-27 precent of all operations are delayed more than 30 minutes and 8-9 percent are delayed over an hour. Since the facility reported good weather with "no delays", these long delays must be the result of problems occuring elsewhere in the air traffic control system. This indicates the difficulties, to be described below, in attempting to use this delay profile for validating DELCAP-computed delays. DELCAP models only the LGA terminal area, and can thus estimate only that subtotal within the total delay which occurs within that terminal area. The delays reported in Figure 3.4, representing the difference between the actual and scheduled operation times, include many delay factors not attributable to conditions in the LGA terminal area. Even departures from LGA can be delayed by late arrival of equipment from elsewhere.

### Sample of Actual Traffic Data

DATE 10	/25/74	LIST	LG A OF	DAIL OPERAT	.Y TIONS	PAGE	07
DIG/OP FLI/ID	A/C CI	AD IV	RNY	D TR	REM AR KS	WEATHER	COMMENTS
•••••							
051440-54152	D CQ A	D T	1.7	1427			
251442-EATJS	B737 A	AI	22	1431			
251444-AA593	B727 A	DĪ	13	433			
251446-AA442	B727 A	AI	22				
251447-NY1	HELO AH	DV	111				
251440-14570 251450-FA1031			22				
251452-EA892	B727 A	AI	22				
251453-AA272	B727 A	AI	22				
251453-EA543	DC9 A	DI	13	1449			
251455-NC50	DC9 A	AI	22	1 4 50			
251455-NW200	B727 A		22	1400			
251456-N57129	AC6 G	DI	13	1451			
251458-TW72	B727 A	AI	22				
251 458 - TW 3 23	B727 A	DI	13	1454			
251459 - AA412	B727 A	AI	22				
271700-N7031	BALL G		13	1477			
251502-EA1430		AI	22				
251503-S0713	DC9 A	DĪ	13	1457			
251504-EA150	B727 A	A I	22				
251505-EA1441	DC9 A	DI	13	1503			
251506-NY2	HELU AH	AV	///				
251508-114911	B 7 27 A		13	1504			
251508-PI72	B737 A	AI	22				
251510-UA469	B737 A	DI	13	1 50 7			
251510-AA298	B727 A	AI	22				
251511-NY2	HELU AH		///				
251513-N32530			13	1505			
251513-AL 492	BALLA	AI	22				
251515-TW115	B727 A	DI	13	1507			
251516-AA257	B727 A	DI	13	1511			
251515-UA450	B727 A		22	1511			
251518-44433	B727 A	DI	13	1511			
251519-EA1040	DC9 A	DI	13	1 509			
251521-AA221	B727 A	A I	22				
251522-N8000U	N265 G	DI	13	1519			
271723-DL1904	1227 A	DI	13	1250			
G11760-14314	DIGIA	M 1	66				

## Delay Profiles Using LCA Input Data

## HOURLY DELAY PROFILES (SCHEDULED VERSUS ACTUAL OPERATION TIMES) LGA - 10/25/74

## NUTBER OF AIRCRAFT TH EACH DELAY CATEGORY (5-MINUTE INTERVALS)

TOTAL	55	55	с Ю	P.	ų	-	c	gar.	c	c	c	52	45	50	ţ 1	1	41	C F)	44	с£	C †	4,0	4 IJ	54	202
OVER 60	16	1.3	٢	c	С	c	c	•	c	C	0	c	c	c	Û	С	c	0	•	ĩ	0	c	ۍ ۱	15	5a
55-60	ю	4	ю	-	0	0	c	0	0	с	0	0	с	0	0	0	0	O	0	0	0	1	5 2	1	18
50-55	ю	ю	0	Ð	0	0	0	0	0	0	c	C	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	Ŧ	0	0	2	Ð	13
45-50	6	ţ	1	c	0	c	0	0	c	С	С	0	c	0	1	0	0	1	0	с	1	0	1	N	13
40-45	ç	Ţ		c	c	c	¢	D	c	¢	¢	¢	¢	c	*	с	с	c	c	c	с	٨	147)	5	10
35-40	4	¢,	c	¢	c	c	c	c	с	0	0	0	0	T	F	0	1	c	с	c	•	ß	9	۶.	74
30-35	2	S	c	0	e	0	0	c	c	c	0	c	0	ţ	N	c	c	0	0	•	*	7	£	S	Я£
25-30	tı	9	N	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	J.	N	0	0	N	0	1	r	7	N	ţ	41
20-02	۴	۴	l	C'	N	•	0	c	0	с	¢	Ċ.	c	tt	5	c	٨	ю	<b>ر</b>	۴	12	ç	ſ	ſ	64 H
15-20	-	ъ	Ю	0	0	0	с	0	c	0	с	0	N	<u>ي</u>	tt	N	ю	1	t	tt	10	41	N	1	51
10-15	~	C)	1	0	0	0	0	C	0	С	0	C	7	10	7	ď	σ	7	æ	9	۲	P)	<b>g</b>	~	76
5-10	1	0	٣	1	C	0	Ċ,	0	c	0	0	6	18	14	5	S	12	11	14	8	ę	v	1	0	110
C-0	c	1	¢	**	c	0	c	с	c	C	с	13	ιu	9	10	14	¢	7	Ľ	11	r	•	0	Ŧ	84
EANLY	Ģ	2	9	0	0	0	0	0	ŋ	Ċ	0	4	7	t	4	7	8	7	10	10	Ó	8	7	2	108
HOUK	1	N	ŝ	t†	ß	9	7	8	6	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	17	18	19	20	21	22	23	54	TOTAL
																								e	

### Delay Profiles (Cont'd)

$\sim$
U.
5
~
1
141
-
4
-
1.1
1
Ξ.
₹
-
5
Ĩ.
iñ.
3
$\succ$
n
$\overline{O}$
ē
W.
-
<
$\cup$
$\succ$
$\triangleleft$
_
L.
$\Box$
T
5
4
w
÷
10
Ĕ. I
N
=
F
$\sim$
Æ
0
ш
$\overline{\Box}$
LL.
C
. Y
щ.
ليب
-
3
£

TOTAL	10	- C		4	- c	*	· c	c	с	с	c	5	24	26	c A	οļ	с С	62	c T	c	2	۲ ال	22	30	3400
over 60	α	c u	្រ	. c	. c	C	C	c	с	, c	¢	С	c	C	С	0	с	с	c	-	c	С	م	10	08
55-60	C	) <b>P</b>	N (	-	1 C	C	C	C	0	C	C	0	0	C	0	0	0	0	c	С	0	0	n N	1	+ ارب
50-55		-		c	0	0	С	0	0	c	C	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	F.	4	Ľ
45-50	C	-	• •		0	0	C	0	0	C	С	0	0	c	C	0	С	0	0	0	0	0	С	N	7
40-42	0	C		- C	C	С	c	0	с	С	С	С	С	0	С	с	C	c	0	С	c	g.d	<b>F</b>	Ľ	01
35-40	P	) gen	, c	C	С	0	Ċ	0	0	C	0	0	0	-	امع	C	С	C	С	c	1	1	ſ	نىر	14
30-35	11	C	C	с	C	0	0	0	C	0	0	0	c	0	¢	0	0	0	c	•1	-	41	4	•-1	17
25-30	4	C	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	ю	N	0	0	N	0	0	2	9	0	2	22
5 L - 5 2	<b></b>	ga-1	-	¢	С	Ţ	с	С	С	с	c	с	С	+	٣	c	وبيا ا	1	C	<b>c</b> u	4	r	1	ю	ر م
15-20	1	N	0	0	0	C	c	0	C.	0	0	C	1	ю	<del>e-1</del>	0	-	-	N	17	7	N.	0	0	25
10-15	С	C.	÷	Ċ,	C	0	0	Ċ,	С,	с	Ċ	0	4	7	11	7	11	ß	ſ	***	ю	0	0	0	41
5-10	Ţ	0	1	0	¢	0	0		Ĺ	0	e	÷	6	1	rt.	C	T	7	S	M	0	T	0	0	56
9-5	Ċ	gan"	C	c.	C	0	с	с	Q	0	<b>C</b> 7	11	7	۵.	٣	0	PC"	1	PC -	1	<del>*</del> -{	c	c	C	4 U
EARLY	~	2		0	0	Ū,	0	Ċ	0	0	С	Ţ	ŝ	1	1	N	CV	N	t	Q	N	ñ	ŝ	t	62
HOUR	1	2	M	t	ß	0	2	60	6	10	11	12	13	14	15	10	1 /	18	19	50	21		5 N	± N	TOTAL

FIGURE 3.4 Delay Profiles (Cont'd) NUMBER OF ARRIVALS IN EACH DELAY CATEGORY (5-MIMUTE INTERVALS)

TUTAL	00	52	۲ ۲	~	η	с	r	•	c	c	c	ſ	53	54	5	٩Į	21	5	с С	50	10	ר ג	26	54	354
OVER 60	α.	7	~	c	с	с	c	gar.	c	c	с	c	c	c	с	c	c	c	1	C	c	c	۴	ſ	27
55-60	'n		0	0	0	0	c	c	с	0	0	0	0	0	0	С	с	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	S
50-55	~	N	0	0	Ċ	c	с	0	С	с	0	0	0	0	c	c	0	0	0	•1	0	0	•	2	Q
45-50	0	ю	c	c	с	0	C	0	С	0	с	¢	0	0	<b></b> 1	0	c	gard	0	0	1	<	1	0	6
40-45	ţ	٢	с	c	c	c	c	c	с	c	с	с	C	c	٣	c	c	с	с	0	C	Ļ	¢	c	С
35-40		1	0	0	0	0	C	¢	C	С	0	0	0	с	C	c	1	с	с	0	с	t	•	с.	10
30-35	۴	s	c	с	¢	с	c	C	0	C,	C	c	C	-1	0	0	c	0	с	0	0	۴	41	4	51
25-30	0	9	1	0	2	0	0	0	G	0	0	0	1	2	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	-1	N	N	6
20-25	c	0	C	c	N	c	С	c	с	¢	C	c	0	۴	*	с	٣	с.	a.	1	<b>C</b> ,	ي	11	0	53
15-21	0	M	ĸ	С	0	0	0	¢	с	0	¢	0	1	0	r)	N	2	0	0	0	ю	2	<2	-	26
1.0 - 1.5	2	C	<b>C</b> .	c	с	c	U	с	с	c.	¢	c	۳	۴	۳	•	۲	<u>م</u>	ю	ß	¢.	۳Ĵ	•**	م	35
5-10	0	¢	1	ga-r	C	0	С	r	c	L	C	ç	σ	Ω	٩.	5	ŝ	t	6	ß	9	1	1	د	14
5-U	C	C,	¢	1	c	c	c	c	c	c	c	¢.	þ.	7	2	ſ	ŀ.	Pr'	¢,	٣	~	ł	c	1	<b>C</b> ∩ ⊮)
EARLY	17	2	S	0	0	0	0	ŋ	0	D	0	s)	t	ۍ	ŝ	ς,	9	ŝ	0	4	t	S	4	3	69
ноИя	1	2	Ð	t	£	9	7	90	6	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	17	18	19	20	21	22	23	24	TOTAL

Long delays are reported in hours 22 to 24 and 1 to 3 (or 2100 to 300 GMT, which is 5-11 p.m. local time), with about two thirds of the departures and 52 percent of the arrivals scheduled for that period delayed more than half an hour. About 46 percent of all scheduled flights are delayed by more than 15 minutes. On the other hand about 15 percent of the operations were early: 11 percent of the departures and 20 percent of the arrivals. Since no scheduled air carrier can depart early, presumably the early departures occur in the data because of the adjustment of gate time to roll time. Since this adjustment involved a single time increment added to gate time, whereas actual taxiing time depends on gate and taxiway location, actual time may vary from the single nominal value by several minutes. This could cause an aircraft to be listed as departing early if that aircraft actually required less taxiing time than the nominal figure.

### 3.4 DELCAP Input

In addition to the scheduled traffic input to DELCAP shown in Appendix F, general aviation traffic was also included. Table 3.1 displays the hourly general aviation traffic levels actually maintained on October 25. Scheduled traffic was supplied to the model directly as an exogenous\* input through the exogenous event routine XGEN, while a representation of general aviation traffic was generated randomly by event routine GEN according to Poisson distributions with the hourly operation rates from Table 3.1 as means. All general aviation traffic was assumed to be aircraft type 2 (light aircraft).

The runway configuration for LGA is shown in Figure 3.1. Figure 3.5 gives the preprocessor output resulting from the LGA input. "Runway 1" is runway 04, "runway 2" is runway 13, "runway 3" is runway 22, and "runway 4" is runway 31. The initial operating policy allows landings and takeoffs to alternate on runway 3 (22). Changes in policy are input exogenously through exogenous event routine CHGOP. The operating policies used during the run are given in Table 3.2. The change at 1920 -- from alternating on 3 and 2 to alternating on 3 and 4 -- involves a direction change (runway 2 to runway 4), as does the change at 0250 from 3 and 4 to 1.

<sup>\*</sup>SIMSCRIPT simulations have two ways of initiating events, exogenously and endogenously. Endogenous events are those initiated by other events in the program while exogenous events are initiated by user-supplied input data. In DELCAP, flights may be generated by either of these mechanisms: stochastically by event GEN which schedules the arrival to the system of the next flight after the previous stochastically-generated one has arrived, or externally by XGEN in which the user inputs the system arrival time of each flight and the characteristics of that flight.

Γ	AB	LE	3	1
-			-	_

### LGA General Aviation Traffic Levels By Hour

Hour	Landings	Takeoffs	Total
1	4	<u>/</u> ;	8
2	3	3	6
3	2	7	9
4	3	2	5
5	15	4	19
6	2	12	14
7	0	0	0
8	0	0	0
9	0	0	0
10	0	0	0
11	2	2	4
12	7	5	12
13	10	8	18
14	7	12	19
15	8	9	17
16	3	7	10
17	4	6	10
18	7	4	11
19	4	9	13
20	7	6	13
21	9	15	14
22	7	6	13
23	7	12	19
24	6	7	13

### Preprocessor Output

### THIS SIMULATION RUNS FPOM 7.00 TO 7.00

### AIRCRAFT DESCRIPTION

TYPE	SPEEDS LANDING	(KNOTS) LIFTOFF	RUNWAY OCCUPA Landing	NCY (SECONDS) TAKEOFF
1	124.	120.	55.	33.
2	119.	00.	40.	27.
3	120.	120.	50.	32.

### TRAFFIC DESCRIPTION

TYPE	LANDING MIX	TAKEOFF MIX
1	0.	0.
2	100.	100.
3	0	0.

### Preprocessor Output (Cont'd)

AIRPORT CONFIGURATION

NUMBER OF RUNWAYS = 4 RUNWAY 1 ( 4 ) - NO POLICY PROVIDED/ NOT USED INITIALLY RUNWAY 2 (13 ) - NO POLICY PROVIDED/ NOT USED INITIALLY RUNWAY 3 (22 ) - DUAL USE, ALTERNATING OPERATIONS RUNWAY 4 (31 ) - NO POLICY PROVIDED/ NOT USED INITIALLY

RUNWAYS 4 AND 13 INTERSECT AT A POINT 4900. FEFT FROM THE END OF RUNWAY 4 AND 1050. FEET FROM THE END OF RUNWAY 13 .

RUNWAYS 4 AND 31 INTERSECT AT A POINT 4900. FEET FROM THE END OF RUNWAY 4 AND 5950. FEET FROM THE END OF RUNWAY 31 .

RUNWAYS 13 AND 22 INTERSECT AT A POINT 1050. FEET FROM THE END OF RUNWAY 13 AND 2100. FEET FROM THE END OF RUNWAY 22 .

RUNWAYS 22 AND 31 INTERSECT AT A POINT 2100. FEET FROM THE END OF RUNWAY 22 AND 5950. FEET FROM THE END OF RUNWAY 31 .

RUNWAYS 4 AND 13 ARE SEMI-DEPENDENT -SIMULTANEOUS ARRIVALS ARE PROHIBITED

RUNWAYS 4 AND 31 ARE SEMI-DEPENDENT -SIMULTANFOUS ARRIVALS ARE PROHIBITED

RUNWAYS 13 AND 22 ARE SEMI-DEPENDENT -SIMULTANEOUS APRIVALS ARE PROHIBITED

RUNWAYS 22 AND 31 APE SEMI-DEPENDENT -SIMULTANEOUS ARRIVALS ARE PROHIBITED

Preprocessor Output (Cont'd)

### FRACTION OF LANDINGS OF EACH TYPE ON EACH PUNWAY

ΤΥΡΕ	RUNWAY 1 (4	) 2 (13	) 3 (22	) 4 (31)
1	.0000	.0000	1.0000	.0000
2	.0000	.0000	1.0000	.0000
3	.0000	.0000	1.0000	.0000

### FRACTION OF TAKEOFFS OF EACH TYPE ON EACH PUNWAY

TYPE	RUNWAY 1 ( 4	) 2 (13	) 3 (22	) 4 (31)
1	.0000	.000	1.0000	.0000
23	•0000 •0000	.0000 .0000	1.0000 1.0000	.0000 .0000

### TABLE 3.2

### Operating Policies for LGA, by Hour

### Time

### Policy

0400-1025

Alternate landings and takeoffs on runway 3(22).

1025-1920

1920-0250

0250-0400

on runway 3(22).

Alternate a landing on 3(22) with a takeoff on 2(13).

Alternate a landing on 3(22) with a takeoff on 4(31).

Alternate landings and takeoffs on 1(04).

Standard aircraft-type data as shown in Figure 3.5 were used, with type 1 being heavy jets, type 2 being light aircraft, and type 3 being category 3 aircraft, i.e. medium size jets and large propeller aircraft.

### 3.5 DELCAP Output

Summary output from the DELCAP run of the LGA data is shown in Figure 3.6. Since the general aviation traffic was entered stochastically, it is not surprising that the DELCAP traffic total (934) is slightly lower, by about 0.5%, than the actual total (939). Each average hourly throughput figure is obtained by dividing total throughput for that runway and operation type by the time within the hour during which the runway accepts that operation. If the time period is not a busy one or if it includes a long time during which no operations occur, the average hourly throughput may differ greatly from that for a typical hour with more traffic. The average hourly delay is computed similarly, by dividing the sum of the delays suffered by all aircraft of the appropriate operation type on the runway in question by the time period over which that runway accepts that operation. The delay is thus the hourly average of all the aircraft delays for aircraft that landed (or started to roll) in the time period in question. (Delay is recorded at touchdown or start of roll, so that a delay which actually occurred before a change of policy may be recorded after the change.)

The DELCAP delay profile is given in Figure 3.7. This also is standard DELCAP output whenever the delay output option is selected. Only 66 aircraft, about 7 percent of all operations, had delays of more than fifteen minutes, which agrees fairly well with the facility estimate of "no delay" (since the facility records only delays of more than fifteen minutes). Over half of all operations (57 percent) suffered less than 5 minutes delay. Peak delays occurred during hours 15 (10-11 a.m.) and 22 (5-6 p.m.), which agrees well with the peak traffic hours of 14 and 23. Regarding LGA as it is operated during busy periods as a pair of V-shaped intersecting runways, operated with landings on one and takeoffs on the other, the capacity of the airport should be about 75 operations per hour (from Table 2.5). Thus the highest traffic input (69 operations in an hour) is less than the airport capacity, but some delay results nonetheless, since the times at which aircraft desire service are bunched instead of being evenly spaced. For instance, 42 percent (8 out of 22) of the departures in hour 1 are scheduled to depart at exactly 0000, clearly a situation making delay inevitable. Arrivals to the terminal area are not as bunched as departures, and even when several have the same scheduled arrival time, their prior processing by the air traffic control system tends to space them apart more than the schedule would indicate. This may explain in part why average takeoff delay per aircraft in Figure 3.6 is greater than the average landing delay, even when the number of landings exceeds the number of takeoffs.

### DELCAP Summary Output

		HOURLY	THROUGHP	τυτ	HOURLY DE	AY PER A	IDCRAFT
HOUR	RUNWEY	LANDINGS	TAKEOFFS	TOTAL	LANDINGS	TAKENEES	ALL
8	1	0	0	n	0.	0.	Ο.
	2	0	r	Ù	<sup>3</sup> 0 .	0.	0.
	3	0	a	D	0.	0.	Ο.
	4	0	0	0	0.	0.	Ο.
5	1	0	0	0	0.	0.	Ο.
	2	0	0	0	0.	0•	Ο.
	3	0	<u>C</u>	0	0.	Ū •	0.
	4	0 =	6	0	0.	0.	0.
10	1	0	0	0	0.	<b>0</b> • 1	A .
	2	0	0	0	0.	0.	0.
	3	0	Q	0	0.	0.	<b>•</b> •
	4	0	0	0	0.	0.	Ο.
1 <u>i</u>	1	0	0	0	0.	0.	0.
	2	0	2	2	0.	0.	n .
	3	1	Û	1	0.	0.	0.
	4	0	0	0	0.	Π.	0.
12	1	0	Ċ.	0	0.	0.	·) •
	2	0	29	29	0.	5.4	5.4
	3	14	С.,	14	0.0	11.	0.5
1	4	0	0	0	0.	0.	· · ·
13	1	U	0	0	U •		
	2	0	33	55	U .	4.6	4.6
	3	51	0	51	5.0	<i>U</i> .	5.11
4	4	U	Ĵ.	0	0.	0.	· · ·
14.	1	U	0 7 <b>7</b>	U 77	0.	11.0	
	2	75	37	37	0.5	11.0	11+8
	5	0	0	35	÷ • ↓ 0	0.	
15	1	0	0	0 0	0.	0.	
- J	2	0	35	35	0.	12.0	12.0
	3	23	0	23	1.8	12.00	1.0
	ц ц	0	C	6	0.	0.	1.
15	1	0 0	C C	0 0	0.	0.	0.
<b>T</b> (:	2	0	27	23	0.	2,0	2.9
	3	21	0	21	3.3	0.	7, 7
	4	0	0	Î.	0.	0.	0
17	1	0	ñ	n n	0.	0.	0.
- /	2	Ő	30	30	0.	3.0	3.0
	3	24	C.	24	2.4	0.	2.4
	4	0	,	0	0.	0.	0.
1.5	1	0	Ĝ	0	0.	0	0
	2	ŋ	26	26	0.	2.6	2.6
	3	27	<u>∩</u>	27	1.7	C •	1.7
	. 4	0	Ç	0	0.	Λ.	Λ.
14.	1	0	0	C	0.	0.	0.
	2	0	21	21	0.	1.4	1.4
	3	21	r	21	3.5	0.	3.5
	4	0	C	0	0.	0.	0.

			FIGURE 3	.6.			
		DELCAP	Summary Ou	tput (Cont'd	)		
				•			
24	1	0	n	n	Ο.	Λ.	Λ.
	2	0	15	15	0.	2.5	2.5
	3	31	G	31	5.6	0.	5.6
	4	0	14	14	0.	12.7	12.7
21	1	0	0 -	0	0.	0.	Ω.
	2	0	0	0	0.	0.	0.
	. 3	31_	0	31	6.4	0	6.4
_	4	0	37	37	0.	13.5	13.5
22	1	0	6	0	0.	<u>0</u>	0.
	2	0	C	0	0.	0.	0.
	3	38	6	38	9.1	0.	9.1
,	4	0 •	38	38	0.	17.9	17.9
23	1	0	0	U	0.	0.	0.
	2	0	° C	U	0.	0.	0.
	3	35	0	35	2.9	n.	2.9
	4	U	35	50	0.	d•5	9.2
(i	1	0	<u>0</u>	0	0.	ŋ.	n.
	2	70	C	11 70	U.	0.•	U.
	0	30	1)	20	2.00	U.	2.5
	4	U	32	34	0.	<b>→</b> U	<b>D</b> • 11
1	1	0	0	0	0.	0	0
	2	37	0	37	5.4	0.	5 /
	<u>и</u>	0	29	28	0.	6.1	6.1
0	1	0	0	20	0.	0.	0.
1.	2	0	0	Ő	0.	0.	0.
	3	23	0	23	1.2	0.	1.2
	4	0	13	18	0.	7.0	7.0
2	1	0	0	0	0.	0.	0.
	2	0	Ó	0	0.	0.	n.
	3	1.1	Ċ	11	0.0	Π.	0.0
	4	0	9	9	0.	2.9	2.9
1;	1	5	2	7	0.1	0.	0.1
	2	0	ē	0	0.	0.	0.
	3	0	0	0	0.	0.	0.
	4	0	5	0	0.	0.	0.
5	1	1		1	0.	0.	Π.
	2	0	0	0	0.	<u>0</u> .	0
	3	13	1	19	0.P	0.	0 <u>•</u> 2
	4	0	0	C.	Ω.	0.	n.
<u>۲</u> ۰	1	0	Ū.	Û	0.	0 <b>.</b>	.0 .
	2	0	0	0	0.	0.	Ο.
	3	3	7	10	0.	0.1	0.1
	4	0	0	0	0.	0.	0.
7	1	0	n	0	0.	C .	Λ.
	2	0	0	C	0.	C .	0.
	3	0	1	1	0.	0.	0.
	4	0	ſ	C	0.	0.	n.

FINAL RANDOM NUMBER SEED 302305136602

### DELCAP Summary Output (Cont'd)

### SUMMARY REPORT FOR THIS RUN

### TOTAL THROUGHPUT

RUILAY	OPERAT	TONS PERFOR	1ED
-	LANDINGS	TAKEOFES	TOTAL
1	6	2	8
2	0	251	251
3	454	9	463
4	0	212	212
TOTAL	460	474	934

### AVERAGE HOURLY THROUGHPUT

RUNAY	OPERATIONS PEPFORMED						
	LANDINGS	TAKEOFFS	TOTAL				
1	0.2	0.1	0.3				
2	0.	10.5	10.5				
3	18.9'	0.4	19.3				
4	0.	8.8	8.8				
TOTAL	19.2	19.7	38.9				

### AVERAGE HOURLY DELAY

RUNDAY	DELAY (MINUTES)						
	LANDINGS	TAKEOFFS	TOTAL				
1	0.0	0.	6.0				
2	0.	60.6	60.6				
3	72.6	0.0	72.6				
4	0.	90.4	90.4				
TOTAL	72.6	151.0	223.6				

### DELCAP Delay Profile

# DELAY PROFILE - HUMBER OF ALSCRAFT IN EACH DELAY CATEGORY BY HOUR

## MINUTES NELAYED

	_	r	c	¢	¢	c	¢	ſ	c	¢	C	• ¢	ζ	c	c	c	c	¢	•	¢	~	Ċ	, f	ć	- (		-
		c	c	r	ç	c c	ſ	Ċ	ſ	. с	c c	Ċ	-	- c		Ċ	с		c		Ċ	. :	. c	. (	: ;	E G	-
ר ה ה ה	•	C	С	c	c	C	. c	c	c	C	د	. c	. c	. c	. c	. c	. c	. c	c	. c	. с	. c	. ,c	- 0	2 0	- 0	Ξ
45-50	•	C	c	c	с	c	с	c	c	с	c	С	c	. <b>c</b> .	c	c	с	c	c	c	c	c	с	c	c	z c	-
5 T/ U T/	¢	ſ	C	C	C	C	C	0	C	C	0	С	C	) C	C		C	) C	· c		c	` C	c	c			5
35-40	c	D	Ċ	C	C	C	C	с	С	С	0	С	C	C	c	c	C	0	C	C	c	c	c	c	: c		2
30-35	c	-	C	C	C	С	c	c	C	c	c	Ċ	С	С	c	c	с	0	C	c	c	С	c	c	. c	• <b>c</b>	2
25=30	c	5	c.	c	c	С	c	c	c	с	C	c	c	C.	c	c	c	c	c	c	c	c	17	c	c	1	
30-02	c	2 (	C	0	C,	c	C,	C	c	0	0	0	C	c	c	<u>۱۳</u>	0	c	0	0	C	c	α	C	C		1
15-20	-	- (	-	c	c	C	c	c	c	с	c	с	с	C.	LL LL	с	C,	c	c	C.	ſ	11	19	h	c	<u>ک</u>	
10-15	1	; <b>(</b>	V	c	c.	C	0	¢	0	c	=	¢	ſ	~	い へ	j j	C)	-	ę	1	<b>ر ا</b>	31	25	15	ĸ	156	
n5−1 r	α	- P4 - 4		-1	c	c	с	с	с	c	с	c	2	С.	21	10	r. T	ιu	t	ſ	13	15	13	-13	14	180	
110 PE1_AY	tt ()	26			~	50	10	<del>-</del> -(	C	0	C	5	31	36	22	25	31	43	44	36	30	11	¢	U †	45	532	
10UR	•	~	J P	<b>n</b> .	t	ı م	91	7	σı	ۍ	0	5	27 4	- 13		15	19	1 /	8 ( 1	6 <b>T</b>	20	21	22	23	24	TOTAL	

Table 3.3 gives a detailed trace of the various events in the operation of several aircraft. During this time period, landings on runway 3(22) were alternated with takeoffs on runway 2(13) whenever possible. An option in the DELCAP model has been developed which prints out the times of various events in a slightly different format, arranged by time of occurrence rather than flight, and with an internal flight identification number instead of the actual flight number. In Table 3.3 we have arbitrarily assigned the general aviation flights tail numbers N0001 to N0005 for convenience. Figure 3.8 displays the same output (with two additional flights at the end) directly as it comes from the computer. It should be noted that in the computer output flight identification numbers may be repeated after an aircraft lands or takes off, although at any one time the number refers to only one aircraft.\* Examples are flight ID's 18199 and 18203 in Figure 3.8. It will also be noted that because of roundoff procedures the times at which flights enter the simulation may be printed, as for instance, 15.09.59 rather than 15.10.00.

These detailed printouts can be used to aid in evaluating the delays given by the DELCAP delay profile as well as to ascertain how the model actually treats the various operations. Such analysis of the internal procedures of the model is itself a valuable step in establishing model validation.

One comparison of the distribution of "total delay" as actually occurring (from Figure 3.4) with DELCAP-computed delay (from Figure 3.7) is given graphically in Figure 3.9, which shows the cumulative frequency distribution for the two sets of "delay" figures. Only a quarter of actual operations experience either no delay or delays of less than 5 minutes, while well over half (57 percent) of the simulated operations fall into this category. All simulated aircraft experience less than 25 minutes delay while only 68 percent of the actual operations do so. Thus there is very little agreement between simulated and actual delays.

This discrepancy can mean one of two things: either the model does not correctly model delay and is erroneous, or else the data are inappropriate for this particular analysis. Even before the simulation was run, analysis of the input data delay profile in Figure 3.4 indicated difficulties in using the actual versus schedule operation time data as a basis for terminal delay estimates. The LGA tower facility had reported "no delays" on a day in which over one quarter of the operations were actually delayed more than half an hour, with 8 to 9 percent delayed more than an hour. Clearly this is possible only if the delays occurred elsewhere. The 59 operations delayed over an hour would certainly have complained about incurring such delays at a facility having no problems with runways, weather or unusually high traffic levels, lending further credibility to the supposition that most of this delay did not occur at LGA.

\*This is done for efficient computer storage of flight information.

ć	2
ć	5
ſŦ	2
RI	ב
A T A	

Example of the Detailed Trace of Simulated Operations

				LANDING TIMES		TAKEOFF	LIMES
W TYPE E	ш	TIME INTERS	OUTER MARKER	TOUCHDOWN	TURNOFF	ROLL	LIFTOFF
	1			( ( 1 1 1 1 1 1			
	nct	×TT.0	05.2141	72.6161	Z0.01CL		-
3 3 151(	151(	00.00	1518.14	1521.05	1521.55	-	
3 3 1511	1511	• 00	1519.44	1522.35	1523.25		1
2 3 1512	1512	• 00	1	1		1519.49	1520.21
3 2 1512	1512	.45	1521.15	1524.07	1524.47		1
3 3 1515.	1515.	00	1526.30	1529.21	1530.11	-	1
3 3 1515.	1515.	00	1528.00	1530.51	1531.41	-	1
3 2 1517.	1517.	38	1529.31	1532.23	1533.03	-	!
2 2 1520.	1520.	13	1	1	-	1528.03	1528.30
2 2 1520.	1520.	42			-	1529.32	1529.59
2 3 1522.	1522.	00		1	-	1531.02	1531.34
3 3 1522.	1522.	00	1531.02	1533.53	1534.43	1	1

\*Time appears as hour, minutes and seconds, so that, for example, 1508.11 is 8 minutes and 11 seconds after 1500 hours.
		TAKEUFF	FLT RW ROLL LIFTOFF								18203 2 15+19+49 15+20+21									18195 2 15.28.U3 15.24.31	18043 2 15.29.32 15.29.59		17875 2 15.31.02 15.31		18075 2 15.32.35 15.13.07		17879 2 15•34•05 15•34•37
FIGURE 3.8	unputer Output; Detailed Trace	LANDING	FLT PR OM TOUCHD OFF				18199 3 15.12.30 15.15.22 15.16.02					1/9/1 3 15.18.14 15.21.05 15.21.55 17967 3 15.19.44 15.22.35 15.23 25			17827 3 15.21.15 15.24.07 15.24.47					18199 3 15.24.30 16 20 21 16 30 11		18039 3 15.28.00 15.30.51 15.31.41		182°3 3 15°29°31 15°32°23 15°33°03		17983 3 15.31.02 15.33.53 15.34.43	
		ENTERS STAULATION	INZEX FLT RY TIME OP TY	6A 18199 3 15.59.11 2 2	AC 17971 3 15.39.59 2 3	AC 18253 2 15-11-59 1 3		GA 17227 3 15.12.45 2 2	AC 19199 3 15.15.50 2 3	AC 19-35 3 15.15.59 2 3			GA 19195 2 15.20.13 1 2	GA 18-43 2 15.23.42 1 2		AC 17475 2 15.21.59 1 3	AC 17983 3 15.21.59 2 3	AC 18/75 2 15.21.59 1 3	AC 17479 2 15.21.59 1 3								

.





The long delays occur late in the day and landing delay peaks before takeoff delay, leading one to speculate that the takeoff delays are caused in part by delayed arrivals of an aircraft needed for a later departure. Arrival delay, computed as scheduled minus actual arrival time, clearly includes all delays occurring during the whole flight, whether caused by air traffic control (ATC) factors or something else (equipment malfunction, for example). Takeoff delay will not contain ATC delays from other sectors for this flight, but may be affected by delays to an earlier flight using the same aircraft, and may also include (non-ATC) delays due to equipment, crew and gate problems. Thus even before the simulation was run, there was doubt as to the likelihood of any agreement of the actual delays with the simulation output delays, which represent ATC delays only in the LGA terminal area. Once the simulation output became available, these fears were realized as displayed in Figure 3.9.

Although the delay profiles were quite different, their "shapes" appear similar; that is, as delay varies over the day the actual and the DELCAP-computed delays peak or fall at the same times. To test this hypothesis, i.e. that the distributions have the same general shape, the number of flights actually delayed excessively in each hour are compared in Table 3.4 with the corresponding number of flights with excessive modelcomputed delays. For the actual delay data excessive delay is taken to mean more than 15 minutes; for the simulated flights delays of 5 minutes or more were considered excessive since few flights were delayed in DELCAP by more than 15 minutes. Observations in the two columns were ranked separately, and these rankings compared by hour using the Spearman rank correlation coefficient, \* whose value was .725, significant at the .001 level. This means that the probability of getting such agreement of two rankings by chance alone is less than .001. Clearly some correlation between the two distributions is to be expected since they both depend on the same traffic input, but the level of significance is high enough to indicate greater agreement than one would expect from this fact alone.

Although, as the discussion above indicates, the LGA exercise has shown the inadequacy of the particular data base used, it has been included in this report because that type of data base is the one most often suggested for delay validation and the one most obvious to those not directly involved in modeling. Elucidation of the problems associated with this approach will perhaps aid others involved in similar efforts by providing a concrete example of the difficulties. Since the "scheduled versus actual operation time" data base is inadequate to validate the DELCAP delay calculations, we will include below a description of a data base, together with directions for its collection, which we believe would

<sup>\*</sup>For a further explanation of this statistic and its use see Sidney Siegel, <u>Nonparametric Statistics for the Behavioral Sciences</u>, McGraw-Hill, New York, 1956, pp. 202-213.

TABLE	3	•	4	
-------	---	---	---	--

	NUMBER	NUMBER
HOUR	ACTUALLY DELAYED	DELAYED IN DELCAP
1	47	25
2	47	20
3	18	1
4	1	0
5	4	0
6	1	0
7	0	0
8	1	0
9	0	0
10	0	0
11	0	0
12	0	12
13	3	28
14	16	50
15	15	33
16	3	13
17	6	11
18	7	5
19	7	6
20	11	30
21	20	57
22	34	68
23	37	31
24	44	17

# Number of Flights Delayed Excessively in Each Hour

be adequate for that task. The internal trace output can be used to better understand the internal operation of DELCAP, and thus acts as a beginning delay validation, but in the absence of the type of data base described below the validity of delays calculated by DELCAP is not yet demonstrated. It should be remembered, however, that DELCAP <u>throughput</u> output has been validated for use in setting engineered performance standards by the exercises reported above in Section 2.

## 3.6 Data Required for DELCAP Delay Validation

The delay measured by the DELCAP model includes (as intended) only that delay incurred by an aircraft in the terminal area being modeled, and incurred because of separations required between aircraft. The delay is calculated as the difference between the minimum time for an aircraft to execute the maneuver in question (fly from handoff to the outer marker, make its final approach, land, and exit the runway -- or request clearance, exit from the gate, taxi to the departure runway, start its roll and liftoff) and the time it actually takes in the presence of other aircraft.

Instead of scheduled arrival and departure times, the model needs actual handoff and departure-request times. Using these will overcome the problem of including delays occurring elsewhere, by capturing just that portion of a flight arising within the terminal area in question. The actual handoff times will spread out the arrivals from the artificially bunched scheduled arrival times, thus reflecting the effect of the ATC system in smoothing out schedule bunching. The use of gate-departure request time will avoid contaminating the analysis with the results of late equipment arrivals, equipment problems and other non-ATC-caused delay factors causing late departure requests.

The actual handoff and gate request times could be obtained by stationing people in the tower and monitoring the appropriate positions, recording the times and flight numbers. It would also be necessary to record actual touchdown and start-of-roll times for each flight. These data could be obtained in a similar manner from the tower in good weather, if the tower is situated so that the runway is visible. Monitoring the appropriate approach or departure position would provide the flight ID, but visual recording of touchdown and start-of-roll time would be required. These data could in principle be obtained as part of some other airport data collection effort.

Such data would allow an analysis of terminal-area ATC-specific delays, and comparison of the delays output by the model with actual delay of the type the outputs are supposed to represent. (However, one major risk of discrepancy remains. Path-stretching procedures may be used by facilities without the additional flying time contributing to facility-computed delay, while that time would contribute to DELCAP-calculated delays. We emphasize again the necessity for comparisons based on the same definition and measure of "delay".) The analysis would focus on the comparison of DELCAP delays with delays calculated as the difference between the actual operation time (handoff to touchdown, or departure-request to roll) and a minimum time for that operation. Ideally, this input data set would allow a flight-by-flight comparison (using DELCAP's detailed trace procedure) of actual and simulated events. In addition, comparison of delay profiles could be used to assess overall performance. It is this latter that is most critical for future application of the model, and discrepancies in individual flight behavior are less important than is absence of overall bias or other systematic errors.

If DELCAP-computed delays are to be used in further analyses of the ATC system, there seems no choice but to evaluate these delay outputs using data obtained in the manner outlined above. Such a procedure is not necessary for further use of the model's throughput values, since the exercises reported in Section 2 have demonstrated the validity of that output for use in the engineered performance standard program.

### 4. CONCLUSIONS

The DELCAP simulation model is an existing analysis tool which has proven useful in aiding the setting of engineered performance standards. It has been operated both on the UNIVAC 1108 at NBS and on a CDC computer chosen by the FAA, and has been run both by its designers at NBS and by FAA personnel.

We have reported in Section 2 the results of a validation of DELCAPproduced throughput levels for use in FAA's EPS program. This analysis included an examination of DELCAP outputs for five different configurations (a single runway, two pairs of intersecting runways with different placements of the intersection, a pair of close parallel runways, and close parallels with a crossing runway) representative of the configurations most commonly found at major terminals\*, and for three or four operating policies for each configuration. The tests included three arrival/departure mixes, and the operating policies were chosen to apply to the appropriate mixes. Each configuration and policy was run on each of three different aircraft-type mixes, distinguished primarily by the fraction of heavy aircraft in the mix and ranging from 5 percent to 50 percent heavies. Comparison of the model results with FAA-computed values at 5 airports, covering 7 configuration/policy combinations, was carried out. The DELCAP values were within 5 to 6 percent of the FAA-computed values in all cases but one, and were within 10 percent in that case. Thus the DELCAP model has been accepted as a good substitute for the manual procedure developed by the FAA, and because of its ease of use and flexibility, it can extend and enhance the FAA's analyses in the program.

The LGA exercise reported in Section 3 demonstrated the model's ability to simulate actual scheduled traffic together with randomly generated general aviation traffic and to measure delays from these operations. Inasmuch as the data presently available are insufficient to isolate delay occurring in the portion of the ATC system DELCAP was designed to model, we are unable to validate DELCAP's delay outputs without a further data collection effort. Such an effort, involving collection in a terminal area of handoff and request-to-depart times as well as actual operation times, is described in Section 3. The "delay validation" exercise has highlighted the importance of insuring that definitions of delay are the same, since there are many different definitions of this complex concept. Although DELCAP's delay values could not be validated because of these data problems, model output agreed well with facility estimations of delay and the time distributions of delay (actual versus DELCAP) were similar. These results give a preliminary indication that DELCAP-computed delays may indeed be useful for analyses, an indication which can only be checked by further efforts.

The exercises reported in Section 2 indicate that the DELCAP model is most sensitive to operating policies. Since different operating policies are optimal for different arrival/departure ratios, this factor also greatly affects model output. The model is also quite sensitive to runway \*We note again that wide parallels are effectively two independent single runways. configuration, particularly to the number and the independence (or interdependence) of the runways, but the location of an intersection and the difference between close parallels and an intersecting pair of runways have only minor effect on throughput. Aircraft-type mix has less effect on throughput than do operating policy and major configuration differences, but it is still an important factor. Separations, too, have an effect on the throughput, but reduction of all separations to three miles or less (for a dual-use single runway) has less effect than one might expect. (Despite the reduction in minimum inter-landing separation, landing aircraft must be separated by more than three miles in order for takeoffs to occur between landings.) Other factors affecting sensitivity include approach speeds and runway occupancy times, but for the ranges occurring at the busier airports, the model is less sensitive to these than to the other factors given above.

DELCAP is a tool whose usefulness and validity have been demonstrated for application in the Engineered Performance Standards Program. It may also be useful for other analyses, but care should be exercised that the model is appropriate and that the validations like those described in this report be performed and include the types of scenarios to be represented for that application. In order to use the delay figures output by DELCAP, further validation -- requiring a special data collection effort such as that suggested in Section 3.6 -- will be necessary. Preliminary indications from the LGA exercise reported above, suggest that such an effort would be successful.

### 5. REFERENCES

1. Judith Gilsinn, with E.H. Short, W.A. Steele, D. Klavan, <u>A Simulation</u> <u>Model for Estimating Airport Terminal Area Throughputs and Delays</u>, NBS Report Number 10592, FAA Report Number FAA-RD 71-9, May 1971.

2. Judith F. Gilsinn, <u>Validation of Maximum Airport Throughput Levels</u> Estimated by the DELCAP Simulation Model, NBS Report Number NBS-IR 75-638, FAA Report Number FAA-RD 75-66, January 1975.

3. Official Airline Guide, North American Edition, Reuben H. Donnelly Corporation, Oak Brook, Illinois 60521.

4. Analysis of a Capacity Concept for Runway and Final-Approach Path Airspace, NBS Report Number 10111, FAA Report Number RD-69-47, November 1969.

5. A.J. Goldman and W.A. Steele with W.A. Horn, <u>Continued Analysis of</u> a Capacity Concept for Runway and Final-Approach Path Airspace, NBS Report Number 10589, April 1971.

6. W.A. Horn, Extension of a Capacity Concept to Dual-Use Runways and Multi-Runway Configurations, NBS Report Number 10593, 1971.

7. A.J. Goldman, <u>A Capacity Concept for Runway and Final Approach Path</u> Airspace, Navigation 17, pp. 253-259, 1970.

8. A. Blumstein, <u>The Operations Capacity of a Runway used for Landings and Takeoffs</u>, in Proc. Second Inter. Conf. on Operational Research, J. Banbury and J. Maitland (ed.), John Wiley and Sons, pp. 657-672, 1961.

9. R.M. Harris, <u>Models for Runway Capacity Analysis</u>, MITRE Corporation Technical Report Number MTR 4102, October 1969.

#### APPENDIX A

### CHANGES AND ADDITIONS TO DELCAP

During the course of the validation effort reported in this document, modifications were made to DELCAP and its preprocessor in several areas: output, separation criteria, random number generator, operating policies, changes in operating policy, and standard preprocessor inputs. Several criteria were used in deciding which of a number of plausible changes should be implemented, and first among these was the preservation of the DELCAP design philosophy, that the model should remain easy and inexpensive to operate. A second factor was the benefit expected to accrue and the priority of need for that change in the Engineered Performance Standards Program. The changes chosen for implementation are described below.

### A.1 Modifications in Output

DELCAP is expected to operate under two scenarios: one to compute airport maximum throughput (capacity) and the second to compute delay resulting from a particular demand profile. Since delay output would be meaningless under the first scenario, the user now has the option of suppressing delay output for runs under this scenario. Current output formats have been modified so that the number of characters per line is less than 72, permitting output to fit on most terminals. Output now consists of actual throughputs and average delay per aircraft for each hour, separately for landings, takeoffs and total operations, separately by runway. Summary statistics at the end of a run provide for each runway -- separately for landings, takeoffs and total operations -- the total throughput for the run, average hourly throughput, average total hourly delay, and the delay profile. Illustrative preprocessor and simulation outputs are shown in Figures A.1 and A.2.

In addition to throughput and delay information, DELCAP prints the final random number seed for use in subsequent runs. (See below for a more complete description of the random number generation process.)

Average hourly statistics (throughput or delay) are computed for each runway based on the time period within that hour during which the runway operating policy handles the operation in question. It should be noted that when periods of low traffic levels are averaged with busy periods, average throughput levels may appear much lower than customary throughput levels. In this case, hourly throughputs may be more appropriate and the user may wish to compute (off-line) separate average throughput levels for different time periods. The delay profile appears at the end of simulation output whenever delay output is called for. The profile shows the number of aircraft in each delay interval for each hour of the day. Delay is recorded for each landing at touchdown and for each takeoff at start of roll, so that the delay recorded to aircraft in a particular hour may include delays occurring in a previous hour. The figures thus describe

## FIGURE A.1 Sample Preprocessor Output

THIS SIMULATION RUNS FROM 2.00 TO 22.00

### AIRCRAFT DESCRIPTION

TYPE	SPEEDS LANDING	(KNOTS) LIFTOFF	RUNWAY OCCUPA LANDING	NCY (SECONDS) TAKEOFF
			1	
1	124.	120.	55.	33.
2	119.	90 <b>.</b>	40.	27.
3	120.	120.	50.	32.

## TRAFFIC DESCRIPTION

TYPE	LANDING MIX	TAKEOFF MIX
1	5.	5.
2	17.	17.
3	78.	78.

## AIRPORT CONFIGURATION

NUMBER OF RUNWAYS = 2

RUNWAY 1 (15 ) - OPERATED WITH RUNWAYS 2 OPERATION SEQUENCE DEPART ON 1 ARPIVE ON 2

RUNWAY 2 (18 ) - OPERATED WITH RUNWAYS 1 OPERATION SEQUENCE DEPART ON 1 ARRIVE ON 2

RUNWAYS 15 AND 18. INTERSECT AT A POINT 2000. FEET FROM THE END OF RUNWAY 15 AND 2000. FEET FROM THE END OF RUNWAY 18.

RUNWAYS 15 AND 18 ARE SEMI-DEPENDENT -SIMULTANEOUS ARRIVALS ARE PROHIBITED

## FIGURE A.1

# Sample Preprocessor Output (Cont'd)

FRACTION OF LANDINGS OF EACH TYPE ON EACH PUNWAY

ΤΥΡΕ	RUN# AY	1 (15 )	2 (18 )
1		•0000	1.0000
2		•0000	1.0000
3		•0000	1.0000

FRACTION OF TAKEOFFS OF EACH TYPE ON EACH PUNWAY

TYPE	RUNWAY	1 (15	)	2	(18	)
1 2 3		1.0000 1.0000 1.0000		•	0000 0000 0000	

## FIGURE A.2

# Sample Simulation Output

		HOURLY	THPOUGHP	HOURLY DELAY PER AIRCRAFT							
HOUR	RUNHAY	LANDINGS	TAKEOFFS	TOTAL	LANDINGS	TAKFOFFS	ALL				
3	1	0	36	36	0.	3.9	3.9				
	2	37	Û	37	3.4	0.	3.4				
4	1	0	30	30	0.	A.4	8.4				
	2	30	Û	30	2.4	Ο.	2.4				
5	1	0	39	38	0.	5.4	5.4				
	2	37	e	37	4.9	Ο.	4.9				
0	1	0	30	30	0.	14.6	14.6				
	2	30	C	30	2.5	0.	2.5				
7	1	0	23	28	0.	29.5	29.5				
	2	29	2	29	3.7	0.	3.7				
6	1	0	37	37	0.	44.6	44.6				
	2	36	Ú	36	4.0	Ο.	4.0				
9	1	С	35	35	Ο.	41.2	41.2				
	2	35	0	35	7.0	0.	7.0				
10	1	0	37	37	0.	33.1	33.1				
	2	37	Ũ	37	6.1	Λ.	6.1				
11	1	0	So	29	0.	27.2	27.2				
	2	26	0	26	3.9	0.	3.0				
12	1	0	31	31	0.	41.8	41.8				
	2	31	0	31	4.0	Ο.	4.0				
13	1	0	37	37	0.	47.3	47.3				
	2	37	ŋ	37	13.2	Ŋ.	13.2				
14	1	0	37	37	0.	44.5	44.5				
	2	37	ſ	37	20.0	Ο.	20.9				
15	1	0	36	36	0.	39.6	39.6				
	2	37	0	37	26.3	0.	26.3				
16	1	0	39	38	0.	36.0	36.0				
	2	37	0	37	19.5	Q .	19.5				
17	1	0	39	39	Ο.	34.5	34.5				
	2	39	0	30	19.0	0.	19.9				
18	1	()	31	31	0.	24.2	24.2				
	2	31	0	31	13.4	0.	13.4				
19	1	0	34	34	0.	36.1	36.1				
	2	34	0	34	7.9	0.	7.9				
20	1	0	36	36	0.	20.6	20.6				
	2	36	Û	36	12.1	0.	12.1				
21	1	0	39	38	0.	8.2	8.2				
	2	38	0	39	15.1	<u>0</u> .	15.1				
22	1	0	33	33	<u>0</u> .	2.7	2.7				
	2	36	0	36	17.6	Ο.	17.6				

FINAL RANDOM NUMBER SEED 360575540052

# FIGURE A.2 Sample Simulation Output (Cont'd)

## SUMMARY REPORT FOR THIS RUN

## TOTAL THROUGHPUT

RUNWAY	OPERAT	IOUS PERFOR	MED
	LANDINGS	TAKEOFES	TOTAL
1	0	690	690
2	690	0	690
TOTAL	690	690	1389

## AVERAGE HOURLY THROUGHPUT

RUNWAY	OPERAT	IONS PERFOR	MED
	LANDINGS	TAKEOFFS	TOTAL
1	0.	34.5	34.5
2	34.5	0.	34.5
TOTAL	34.5	34.5	69.

## AVERAGE HOURLY DELAY

RULWAY	DFL	AY (MINUTE	S)
	LANDINGS	TAKEOFFS	TOTAL
1	0.	946.4	946.4
2	374.4	0.	374.4
TOTAL	374.4	946.4	1320.8

FIGURE A.2 Sample Simulation Output (Cont't)

DELAY PROFILE - NUMBER OF AIRCRAFT IN EACH DFLAY CATEGORY BY HOUR

	0VFP 60	c	c	c	: c	с	c	c	c	c	c	. с	c	c	c	: c	c	c	c	c	c	c	c	c	c	c
	55-60	с	c	c	c	c	c	с	с	с	c	с	с	с	c	c	c	c	c	c	c	c	c	c	С	С
	50-55	C	c	c	- C	: C	c	C	c	- c	c	c	. c	c	c	: n	, c	c	: C	c	. c	C	c	c	0	
	45-50	¢	c	C	c	С	с	C	c	c	с	c	с.	α	-	- C	c	c	c	- C		с	c	c	с	19
	40-45	c	¢	c	C	c	с	с	21	11	c	C	~	24	0	-	c c	c	c	. c	. c	С	c	с	С	81
	35-40	С	Ċ	c	c	c	с	ю	13	σ	0	c	13	α	12	, 1	С	c	0	2	C	C	C	с	с	61
	30-35	c	c	c	с	C	0	a	R)	12	5	0	10	0	t	1	5 0	5	0	1.8	0	c	C	0	С	110
	25-30	0	C	0	0	0	0	ю	0	r0	13	4	1	0	0	22	14	22	C <sup>1</sup>	14	6	0	0	0	0	108
(FD	20-25	С	с	с	с	0	С	٣	c	c	7	¢.	C.	c	ഹ	2 2	<b>p</b> -1	0	15	C	10	c	с	c	C	вo
ES DELA	15-20	0	C	C	C	0	6	ď	0	c	n	17	0	C	15	11	16	9	21	C	R)	С	14	c	0	119
TUNIM	10-15	0		0	0	0	æ	CM	0	0	0	c	0	13	16	0	10	20	¢	•	13	19	13	0	Û	134
	02-10	Ć	c	0	12	1	11	c	0	14	en.	-	Ċ	18	*	0	**	C,	C	ΪŪ	17	23	Q	0	C	124
	00-02	0	0	21	15	29	10	¢.	19	9	18	11	11	9	0	c	c	С	1	16	10	26	7	c	c	214
	NO DELAY	0	0	52	33	45	25	20	<b>1</b> A	15	16	14	20	с	0	0	0	0	13	2	6	CM.	29	C	.0	319
	HOUR	÷-1	N	ŝ	4	S	9	2	8	6	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	17	16	19	20	21	22	23	54	TOTAL

the delay experienced by operations occurring (touching down or starting roll) in the stated hour, not the delay actually <u>experienced</u> that hour or the delay experienced by aircraft <u>scheduled</u> to land or take off that hour.

### A.2 Changes in Separation Criteria

With the advent of heavy aircraft (greater than 300,000 lbs. gross weight), wake turbulence problems have led to the imposition of separation rules requiring 5 mile separation for all non-heavy aircraft landing following a heavy, and 4 mile separation for a heavy following a heavy. All other aircraft combinations must be separated by 3 miles. Any non-heavy taking off behind a heavy must wait for two minutes after the heavy lifts off. Other takeoff separations are approximated in DELCAP by requiring that the second aircraft wait 20 seconds after the first lifts off. This eliminates all references to whether aircraft diverge or not and all necessity for treating departure paths. Other landing and takeoff separations may be input if it is so desired, but the revised DELCAP allows separation to depend only on the types of aircraft involved.

## A.3 Improved Random Number Generator

Early test runs of DELCAP indicated that the random number generator available in the SIMSCRIPT system did not produce a sequence of numbers which were statistically "random" to a satisfactory degree. This has been remedied with the inclusion of a random number generator obtained from the NBS Statistical Engineering Laboratory. This generator requires a starting value (referred to as the "seed"), which is modified each time a random number is calculated. The final seed is printed out by DELCAP and can be used to start other runs. The sequence of random numbers produced depends entirely on the seed, so that runs can be replicated by using the same seed and on the other hand different traffic samples can be obtained by using different seeds. The seed is input and output as a 12 digit octal number.

## A.4 Modifications in Operating Policy

The initial version of DELCAP allowed 4 different operating policies: landings only, takeoffs only, mixed operations where landings take precedence, and mixed operations in which landings and takeoffs alternate. To allow a more flexible sequencing procedure DELCAP was modified to let the user input the desired operation sequence. The user may provide any sequence of operations (of length up to 20), and this sequence will be repeated for the duration of the run.

In the earlier versions of the DELCAP model, operating policies were strategies for operating a single runway only. In the course of the "throughput validation" effort, it became evident [2] that allowing independent sequencing and generation of aircraft on close parallels or intersecting runways unduly favored takeoffs over landings, since the average minimum time between takeoffs is less than that between landings. This led to unrealistically high takeoff throughputs and also to a degradation of the landing throughput, because of the interference by takeoffs with the landings. In discussing these problems with knowledgeable authorities at the FAA, it became clear that in most control situations a pair of close parallels or intersecting runways would be operated cooperatively, with a sequence of operations applying to the pair. The most common example involves either parallels or intersecting runways, operated with one of the pair reserved exclusively for landings and the second for takeoffs. During periods when the number of desired arrivals and departures are approximately equal and traffic is heavy, landings will be spaced far enough apart to allow a takeoff to occur in between successive landings. In practice this means landings are spaced only slightly further apart than the minimum. Takeoffs will be alternated with landings by clearing an aircraft for takeoff as soon as the previous landing has passed the intersection (when the runways intersect) or as soon as the landing touches down (for close parallels). To accommodate a higher volume of takeoffs than landings, landings are spaced far enough apart that two (or more) takeoffs could occur between successive landings.

The DELCAP model has been modified to accommodate such policies. (See Appendix B for a description of the new version of event NXTOP, in which the bulk of the modifications occur.) In earlier DELCAP versions, a policy was specified for each runway by indicating the operation sequence for that runway. The modified version now requires that the user specify the number of the policy applicable to that runway. Then he must specify separately the policy itself in the form of two sequences, the first giving the operation sequence and the second giving the associated runway sequence. Therefore the i-th entry in the first sequence is the i-th operation and the i-th entry in the second sequence is the runway on which that operation is to occur. The number of operating policies provided may not equal the number of runways; it may be less if one policy applies to several runways; it may be more if policies are changed during the course of a run.

An example of the four policies used in the LaGuardia run reported in Section 3 is given in Table A.1. Policies 1 and 4 use only one runway, on which operations are alternated. Policies 2 and 3 both use two singleoperation runways, with an operation on one alternating with an operation on the second. For instance for policy 3, takeoffs (operation 1) on runway 4 alternate with landings (operations) on runway 3.

### TABLE A.1

### Sample Operating Policies

POLICY	SEQUENCE OF	
NUMBER	OPERATIONS AND RUNWAYS	2
1	1 2	
Ĩ	3 3	
2		
	1 2	
	2 3	
3	1 2	
	4 3	
4	1 2	
7		

With the inclusion of this additional flexibility of operating policy, the user is now required to specify completely the set of policies. for any run, including the trivial sequence of operations having a single 1 for takeoffs only or a single 2 for landings only, together with the runway sequence whether or not only one runway is involved. This additional input requirement is a comparatively small price to pay for the extra flexibility and realism conferred by the more general operating policy approach. The preprocessor checks that the policy, specified in its input as applying to a given runway, can properly apply to it. It will not check, however, that another policy also affects this runway, since this may happen when policies change. Neither will it check that policy changes (after the initial policies) correctly apply to the runway they are associated with. This latter check is not made because the preprocessor does not have among its inputs the policy changes associated with each runway, since such changes are treated by the simulation as exogenous events.\* Care must therefore be exercised by the user to ensure consistency for his input policies and policy changes initiated during a run.

\*The alternative is to complicate the simulation itself by adding consistency checking to the simulation code.

#### A.5 Changing Operating Policy During a Computer Run

In earlier versions of the DELCAP simulation, operating policies specified at the start of the run for each runway remained in force throughout the entire run. This approach was unacceptable for the LaGuardia exercise described in Section 3, since the operating policy in force changed several times during the day, and it was desired to include the effects of such changes on aircraft delay.

The main difficulty in incorporating the ability to change operating policy during a run lay in deciding how best to represent such changes. They can be classified into 3 categories:

1. use a runway surface not now being used,

2. change the sequence of operations on a runway now being used,

3. change the direction of operation of a runway now being used. Any combination of these can also occur as a policy change.

In the first two cases little additional delay results from the change, unless it must be made so suddenly that established queues must be moved. It is assumed by the model that changes are not of this sudden type. Operations will occur on a new runway as soon as the first operation designated for that runway can take place under proper separation rules. Policy shifts involving sequence changes (including those from pure operations -- of landings or takeoffs only -- to mixed operations, or the reverse) are allowed to occur as soon as the last of the operations waiting (in queues) at the time the change is called-for has occurred. This is done to avoid difficulties arising because a policy may affect more than one runway. In practice, since operations are generated some time before their occurrence (touchdown or roll) on the runway, this extra time period required before effecting a policy change results in very little delay.

Additional delay does occur, however, for case 3 above. Whenever the runway whose direction is changed previously handled takeoffs, and is to handle landings after the direction change (it may or may not handle landings before and/or takeoffs after), it will be necessary to clear the takeoff queue before effecting the policy change, and also to allow additional time for the last takeoff to clear the final approach path before the first landing under the new policy can even start its approach. Since any runwaydirection change may require moving queues around and establishing new approach patterns, an arbitrary time delay is required before initiation of a policy change whenever a change of runway direction is involved, and the model thus requires a fixed (input) time period between the last operation under the old policy and the first under the new.

Each policy change necessitates also that the distribution of traffic by runway be changed to agree with the new operating policies. (The program does not check that the two agree, so the user must be careful in providing input.) Policy change is handled by the DELCAP model as an exogenous event CHGOP, which reads the new policy number for each runway and the new traffic distribution by runway. The user must also specify for each runway whether or not the new policy involves a direction change on that runway. All policies themselves are input at the beginning of the run, rather than with each change, and the user is responsible for consistency here also. Policy change is accomplished in CHGOP, whenever the policy change can occur immediately. In cases which require a delay, either to clear operations waiting or previously scheduled for the runway, or to effect a change of direction, the policy change occurs in CDIR. Descriptions of these routines are given in Appendix B, and input formats for the data required for a policy change appear in Appendix D.

## A.6 New Preprocessor Standard Values

The preprocessor program has been designed to provide standard input values for each of six input categories. The user may elect to provide his own input or to accept the standard values, and indicate this decision by an option (non-blank characters if the standard is to be used, blanks for user provided values) on the preprocessor parameter card, the second preprocessor input card (see Appendix D for its format). Whereas the original version of the preprocessor was designed to have an input tape with standard input for several major airports, this tape is no longer referred to in the program and standard input is now provided internally through the use of the DATA statement.

Standard input for data group 1, aircraft type data, is shown at the top of the Sample Preprocessor Output in Figure A.1. The three standard aircraft types are:

- 1. heavy aircraft
- 2. light (piston) aircraft

3. other aircraft: larger piston aircraft and most jets. The standard input for data group 2, aircraft type mix, appears below the aircraft type characteristics in Figure A.1. Standard input for data group 3, the departure and arrival rates, is set at 200 takeoffs per hour and 100 landings per hour, values which would saturate IFR operations at any large airport. These values are thus appropriate for throughput runs but not delay runs. To obtain realistic delay estimates, the user must supply realistic traffic levels.

Standard separations, data group 4, are those now required by FAA rules: 3 miles behind a non-heavy, 4 miles for a heavy behind a heavy, and 5 miles for a non-heavy behind a heavy for landings; and for takeoffs 20 seconds more than the runway occupancy time behind a non-heavy, 2 minutes for a heavy behind a heavy, and 2 minutes plus the runway occupancy time for a non-heavy behind a heavy. (The takeoff time separations are approximations involving several constraining rules.) Standard input for data group 5, the runway and operating policy data, specifies a single runway operated with landings and takeoffs alternated. The distance to the outer marker is 5 miles and the times to fly from handoff to the outer marker are 10, 13, and 10 minutes for the three aircraft types respectively. The standard input data for data group 6, the distribution of runway usage, have all aircraft using the single runway. The changes described above have enhanced model capability and allowed it to reflect more accurately the sitatuion being simulated, without changing the basic philosophy of the DELCAP model. DELCAP was designed to be limited in scope to the calculation of airport runway throughput and the delays caused by terminal airside traffic. The design concentrated particularly on enabling the user to describe those elements of the terminal area which have primary impact on capacity and delay, without requiring him to provide excessive detail in input data. To ensure that DELCAP remains an easily used, convenient planning tool, candidate changes have all been examined against these criteria and only those meeting them have been implemented.

#### APPENDIX B

#### DESCRIPTIONS AND FLOWCHARTS OF SIMULATION EVENTS

Figure B.1 gives a general "flowchart" of the DELCAP simulation model routines. The word "flowchart" is somewhat of a misnomer in the context of a SIMSCRIPT model. The diagram indicates which event routines occur as a result of which other routines, but it does not give the order in which they are actually executed, since this is chronological.

Events GEN and EXGEN create flights, which are the units that move through the various events in the model. EXGEN is an exogenous event which occurs at times designated for the arrival into the system of specific flights. GEN creates flights in a stochastic manner. Stochastically generated flights are assigned an aircraft type and a landing or takeoff runway by the two functions PTYPE and PRWAY. Flights are constantly entering the system while other events are happening. GEN schedules the next occurrence of itself according to a Poisson process, while the next specific flight (if any are left) for EXGEN is always available. The event NXTOP finds the next operation (landing or takeoff) which is to occur on a particular runway. It is scheduled in one of two cases: (1) if the queue is empty when the current flight is filed in it, or (2) when the current flight has either begun to fly the final approach path to land or has left its gate to take off. Condition (1) is detected in GEN or EXGEN, and condition (2) in LAND or TOFF. NXTOP then schedules the next LAND or TOFF at the time the runway and/or final-approach path is free, as determined by the function FREER. Since there is a time gap between NXTOP and TOFF or LAND during which landings or takeoffs on other runways may have created new tieups for "this" runway, LAND and TOFF again determine the first time the runway is free (from FREER). Then the flight may land or depart, which in the DELCAP model implies tying up the appropriate points for a period of time sufficient to maintain the required separations. LAND or TOFF then reschedules NXTOP, and the cycle continues. When a tieup is no longer in force, the routine FTIEUP destroys it.

Several routines do not appear in this list, since they do not affect each flight. The BEGIN event (see Figure B.2) starts the simulation, and schedules the event ENDS which prints the simulation output and stops execution. The routine CHOUR (see Figure B.3) updates the current hour for output of delay and throughput, and reschedules GEN for the Poisson parameter for the new hour. The routine PRINT records the delay and throughput information at touchdown for landings, and at start-of-roll for takeoffs.

The exogenous event CHGOP reads the characteristics of a new policy and initiates the changeover if that can occur immediately. Otherwise CHGOP or NXTOP initiates CDIR when the changeover should occur. CDIR also handles the change of direction of a runway. The following sections will include descriptions of the events in Figure B.1, as well as CHGOP and CDIR.





Flowchart of the DELCAP Simulation Routines



FIGURE B.2

Flowchart of Event BEGIN

.





### Flowchart of Event CHOUR

### B.1 Event EXGEN

This event creates exogenously-determined flights provided by the user. It, or the stochastic generation process or both, may be used for a particular run. When inputting the information for the routine EXGEN, the user must supply for each flight: the hour, minute, and second of entrance into the system, whether this flight is a takeoff or a landing, the runway used for takeoff or landing, and the aircraft type. The SIMSCRIPT system programs read these flights one at a time at the proper simulated time. Therefore, there is no limit on the total number of flights as long as the number simultaneously active (including both those generated by EXGEN and those produced by GEN) is sufficiently small to fit in core. (For a simulation run with 20 runways, 100 aircraft types, and 10 departure paths, there could be about 6,000 flights active at any given time. This, which is permitted in the present model, is far beyond the capacity of any existing airport to handle.)

Figure B.4 provides a flowchart for the EXGEN event routine. For a landing, the array TIN stores the time the current flight could (in the absence of other traffic) first cross the outer marker after flying from its handoff point. A takeoff's flight plan becomes active about 13 to 15 minutes before its scheduled departure. In the model this time period is divided into two segments, so that takeoffs are scheduled about the same time before start of roll as landings are before touchdown. The first of these time segments (about 10 minutes), which may be thought of as representing the time between when the flight plan becomes active and when the aircraft is cleared to leave its gate, is added to the current time and stored in TIN. (The second segment, about 5 minutes, may be thought of as representing a time interval between when the aircraft is ready to leave its gate and when it could start its roll down the runway; it will be described in greater detail in the section on the TOFF routine.)

After calculating the appropriate TIN, the EXGEN routine files the newly generated flight into the appropriate queue. There are two queues for each runway, one for landing aircraft, the other for takeoffs. The queues are organized in a first-in-first-out manner. This means there is no sequencing by aircraft type; when a slow aircraft precedes a faster one, the latter is not permitted to overtake the former, even if it could reach the outer marker first without thereby delaying the slower plane.

Each flight must remain in the queue until its TIN. Filing flights into the queue about 10 minutes before they could actually cross the outer marker or leave a gate provides a means for identifying the aircraft type of the flight that follows the current flight. This allows calculation of the proper tieup time to ensure that two aircraft remain separated by the required distance. This distance depends on the speeds of both aircraft involved, and so cannot be calculated until the type of the second plane has been determined.



FIGURE B.4

## Flowchart of Event EXGEN

If the queue was empty before the present flight was added to it, the NXTOP routine is scheduled to occur at TIN, which is the first instant when this flight could be removed from its queue. The NXTOP routine. which schedules the next operation (landing or takeoff) for a particular runway, thus occurs in one of two circumstances: either (1) a landing or takeoff has just occurred, or (2) the runway has been idle but there is now a new flight available for it. Case (1) will be described later in conjunction with the NXTOP, LAND and TOFF routines. In case (2), which is detected in the EXGEN routine, the appropriate queue will have been empty before the flight was filed in it. Therefore the NXTOP routine is scheduled for when the flight is first available to land or take off. However, an earlier NXTOP may have been scheduled in LAND or TOFF, since the other queue may not be empty. In this situation, NXTOP is scheduled, but when it occurs the next operation will already be defined (NEXT  $\neq$  0) and the NXTOP routine will be terminated. This means that NXTOP may be scheduled more often than necessary. The programming alternative was the coding of a much more complicated set of tests to ensure that NXTOP is scheduled only when necessary. This did not seem warranted, in view of the lack of computerstorage problems and the logical simplicity of the current test.

### B.2 Event GEN

This event generates flights in a Poisson manner. Landings and takeoffs are generated separately, from two different sets of Poisson parameters. This routine is first scheduled by the BEGIN routine. BEGIN schedules two GEN's, one to create a landing flight and one to create a takeoff. From then on, the GEN routine schedules the next occurrence of itself. Therefore, within GEN we wish to sample from the Poisson distribution to reschedule GEN for the next entry ("arrival") of another aircraft into the simulated system.

The procedure used in the computer for sampling from a distribution is based on the fact that the range of <u>any</u> cumulative distribution is uniformly distributed over the interval [0,1]. In the case here, we have assumed Poisson generation, so the probability of an arrival in a time period of length dt is µdt (plus comparatively infinitesimal terms), where µ is the expected number of arrivals per unit of time. Then the probability q(T) that the next arrival will occur in at most T units of time is

$$q(T) = prob (t \le T) = 1 - e^{-\mu T}$$
.

Since q is a cumulative distribution, its range is uniformly distributed over the interval [0,1]. We therefore employ a standard computer subroutine to choose a random number R from this uniform distribution, and then find the T for which q(T) = R, namely

$$T = -\lambda \ln (1-R)$$

where  $\lambda = 1/\mu$ . The next instance of GEN is scheduled to occur in T time units. (Note that our time unit for the simulation is the hour, so  $\lambda$  is

the reciprocal of the number of arrivals per hour.) Input to the simulation contains two sets of values for  $\lambda$  for each hour of the day, one for landings and one for takeoffs. As noted earlier, on the hour, each hour, the next GENs, one for a landing and one for a takeoff, are rescheduled according to the  $\lambda$  for the appropriate hour.

In the event EXGEN, the type and the runway are provided as part of the input. In the stochastic version GEN, however, these three items are obtained by sampling from the appropriate distributions. The simulation is provided (by the preprocessor) with the cumulative distributions of (1) type of aircraft, one for landings and one for departures, and (2) runway use by each type of aircraft for landings and also for departures. The two functions PTYPE and PRWAY perform the sampling processes.

Figure B.5 provides a flowchart of the GEN routine. After rescheduling the GEN routine for the next landing or next departure (depending on the current operation), and sampling to obtain a type and runway for the current flight, the remainder of the routine is the same as for the EXGEN routine. The appropriate value of TIN is calculated, the flight is filed in its proper queue, and if the queue was empty before this flight was filed in it then the NXTOP routine is scheduled at TIN.

## B.3 Event NXTOP

This event finds the next operation, landing or takeoff, which will be scheduled to occur on a runway. Figure B.6 is a flowchart of this routine. Because of the new more sophisticated operating policies to be simulated, this routine has required significant changes from the original version of DELCAP. A search is made, starting with the next position (stored in LAST) in the policy sequence applying to this runway, for the first flight which can be scheduled immediately under this policy. If no flight can occur immediately, the search continues through the policy to determine the flight which will be available soonest, and LAND or TOFF is scheduled for that flight. In addition to determining the next operation to be scheduled under the policy, the NXTOP routine also recognizes when a change in policy, which is not initiated by CHGOP, must occur. If the next flight to be scheduled is the last flight in the queue at the time the policy change was requested in CHGOP (i.e. if the current flight FLT = QF(k,i)), then the QF's for the other runway, operation combinations for this policy are checked. If all QF's are zero, the policy changeover is scheduled to occur when the current flight either starts its approach or leaves its gate. This is accomplished by scheduling CDIR at the (same) time for which the LAND or TOFF routine was scheduled.





Flowchart of Event GEN

.



FIGURE B.6

Flowchart of Event NXTOP

The NXTOP routine is scheduled in one of two instances; (1) the LAND or TOFF routine has occurred, or (2) a queue was empty and a new flight has just been filed. In the second instance, NXTOP is scheduled for the time TIN at which the flight could first be scheduled. However. since the other queue for the runway need not be empty or a LAND or TOFF routine could just have occurred, another NXTOP may already be scheduled for this runway. To avoid error because of having several NXTOPs scheduled at once, an array NEXT with an entry for each runway has been introduced. Originally it is zeroed. When a next operation for a runway has been found by NXTOP, NEXT is set equal to 1 (for a takeoff) or 2 (for a landing). Then NEXT is zeroed in the LAND or TOFF routine. Therefore NEXT is nonzero precisely when a LAND or TOFF is scheduled but has not yet occurred. NXTOP proceeds to find a next operation for a runway only if NEXT for that runway is zero. This condition is tested at the beginning of NXTOP, and if NEXT is non-zero NXTOP is immediately terminated.

### B.4 Function FREER

This function finds the earliest time a particular flight can land or take off without violating the separation rules. FREER is first called in NXTOP, to find the time at which the LAND or TOFF routine should be scheduled.

There may be a gap between the time the NXTOP routine occurs and the time LAND or TOFF occurs, during which other flights might add new tieups which require postponement of the operation in question. Therefore FREER is called again from LAND or TOFF, to determine when the landing or takeoff may <u>actually</u> occur. Figure B.7 contains a flowchart of the function FREER. The left-hand side refers to landings, the upper right-hand side to takeoffs and the lower portion of the chart to both. T is the maximum of TIN and the current time, used to single out for examination only those tieups affecting the current flight. The array TR is created to contain the time (TMAX) each tieup affecting the flight will no longer be in force, and J is a count of the number of entries in TR.

For landings, both the set of tieups (OMTI) associated with the outer marker and the set (THTI) associated with the runway threshold are examined. The time of tieups in THTI is translated to the outer marker by subtracting off the amount of time it takes the current flight to fly from the outer marker to the runway threshold; this reflects the fact that the runway threshold need only be free as the current flight gets there, not before. For takeoffs, only the set of tieups (ERTI) associated with the end of the runway are examined. The time of these is translated to the gate by subtracting off TDMIN, since takeoffs are scheduled before they leave their gates to taxi to the runway.

If there are no tieups affecting the current flight (i.e. J = 0), FREER is set equal to T. If only one tieup affects the current flight (i.e., J = 1), then TR (1) will contain the time at which that tieup will no longer impede the start of the landing or takeoff procedure, and so FREER is set equal to







it. If several tieups affect the current flight, FREER is set equal to the maximum of the TR's.

It should be clear from the previous description that this routine does <u>not</u> attempt to fit a flight in between two others, even if the gap between the two is wide enough. To do so would require a great deal more coding. The crux of the difficulty is how wide a gap is "wide enough". The tieups occurring as a result of the inserted flight must not affect <u>any</u> previously scheduled flight. This means that all the tieups which LAND or TOFF would create must be examined to see if they would interfere with a landing or takeoff already scheduled or in progress. This is similar to performing the whole of the LAND or TOFF routine, and involves the additional burden of identifying the flight which is being interfered with. (It is no longer just the first in a queue.) Therefore the simpler procedure, of waiting until the last tieup is no longer in force, was used in the DELCAP simulation.

One further difficulty can arise when a slow landing follows (i.e. lands later than) a fast takeoff. NXTOP is called as soon as the takeoff leaves its gate. The landing therefore is not permitted to cross the outer marker before then, since FREER is at least T which in turn is at least the current time of NXTOP. However, if the landing is slow enough it could in principle be scheduled earlier, and the takeoff would still be able to precede it while maintaining the required separation. Therefore, although the sequence of operations on the runway must be a takeoff followed by a landing, the sequence of routines should really be LAND followed by TOFF. This difficulty has not been resolved, but in sample debugging runs it occurred only about 2 to 3% of the time, and added only about 30 seconds extra delay at each occurrence. Therefore it does not seem to affect the DELCAP results by a significant amount.

## B.5 Event LAND

The primary purpose of both the LAND and TOFF routines is to tie up the appropriate points in order to ensure that following flights remain properly separated from the current landing or takeoff. Figure B.8 is a flowchart of LAND. LAND removes the first flight from the landing queue for the appropriate runway. Then it calls FREER to find when the runway and final approach path are first free so that this flight may cross the outer marker.

The separation rules which apply to a landing, and their implementation, are discussed below:

(1) No two aircraft may occupy the same runway at the same time. This rule is implemented by tying up the runway threshold (for landings) or the end of the runway (for takeoffs) for the time the current landing will occupy the runway.

(2) Two landings must be separated by a minimum distance (called SEPLL, in DELCAP) and depending on the two aircraft types involved. We assume a constant nominal final-approach speed, depending on aircraft type. Therefore, the point at which two landings are closest while always main-



Flowchart of the Event LAND

taining the required separation depends on the relative speeds of the two planes. If the first (of aircraft type i) is faster, they will be closest when the first crosses the outer marker. In this case the outer marker is tied up for the time it will take the second (of aircraft type j) to fly SEPLL (i,j). If the second is faster, the two planes will be closest when the first just touches down. In this case the runway threshold is tied up from touchdown of the first until that time plus the time for the second to fly SEPLL (i,j).

(3) A landing must be separated from a preceding takeoff by a required distance (called SEPTL in DELCAP). The standard present value for SEPTL is 2 miles. As noted above, the final-approach speed is treated as constant. Under the assumption of a single constant acceleration for a takeoff on the ground and in the vicinity of the airport, the distance the landing must be from the takeoff when the latter starts its roll is

SEPTL +  $0.5 v^2 \cdot ROTT/S$ ,

where v is the speed of the landing, S is the liftoff speed of the takeoff, and ROTT is the runway occupancy time for the takeoff. (This formula is derived in Appendix F of [4].) The end of the runway is therefore tied up from the time the landing passes this point until touchdown time.

Tying up a point is accomplished in the simulation by creating a temporary entity called a TIEUP, with attributes TMIN, the time the tieup goes into force, and TMAX, the time the tieup is no longer in force. The TIEUPs are filed in one of the sets OMTI, THTI, or ERTI, which are scanned in FREER to decide when the runway and final approach path airspace are free. Once the TIEUP is no longer in force, it is removed by the FTIUP routine which is scheduled in LAND as the TIEUP is created.

In addition to tying up points on the same runway, points on interfering runways must be tied up. Two arrays RPT and TPT control these interferences in the DELCAP simulation. For each runway and interference, RPT contains the runway being interfered with, and TPT contains the type of interference. There are six types of interference:

- 1 Landings on one runway must be separated from landings on the other runway by SEPLL, depending on the aircraft types involved.
- 2 Landings on the one runway must be separated from preceding takeoffs on the other runway in the same manner as that described in (3) above.
- 3 Takeoffs on the one runway must be separated from following landings on the other as described in (3) above.
- 4 Takeoffs on the one runway must be separated from takeoffs on the other runway by the same separation as takeoffs on the same runway.
- 5 Takeoffs on the two runways are separated by the times in the array SEP2.
- 6 The two runways intersect.
Types 1, 2, and 6 apply to landings. Tieups for interference types 1 and 2 are computed in a manner similar to (2) and (3) above. For intersecting runways, a takeoff or landing on another runway may not be on the runway between the time the current landing touches down and the time it passes the intersection or turns off, whichever occurs first. The time for an aircraft to travel from touchdown to an intersection a distance D from the end of the runway is

$$(1/A)(-v + v^2 + 2AD)$$

where v is the landing speed and A is the acceleration of the landing. We assume A is constant, so

$$A = (v_1 - v) / ROTL < 0,$$

where  $v_1$  is the turnoff speed of the landing, v is the final approach speed, and ROTL is the runway occupancy time. This formula is derived in Appendix G of [4].

The RPT and TPT lists are scanned, and appropriate tieups are initiated to maintain required separation between the current landing and operations on other runways. As each tieup is created, it is filed into the set for the point being tied up. At this same time, an FTIUP is scheduled to destroy the tieup once it is no longer in force.

Once all the necessary tieups have been created, the LAND routine sets NEXT = 0 and schedules NXTOP for the time the current landing crosses the outer marker. Then the delay to this flight is calculated as the difference between the time it crosses the outer marker, and TIN (which is the first time it could cross the outer marker were there no other aircraft present). The PRINT routine is scheduled at the touchdown time for this landing. PRINT adds the delay to this flight to the total delay, and increments the number of landings for the correct hour. Since all tieups to maintain separation from this landing have been created and since the delay for this flight has been calculated, the flight is no longer needed, so it is destroyed. This completes our description of the landing routine. The takeoff routine performs similar tasks related to takeoffs.

## B.6 Event TOFF

Figure B.9 is a flowchart of the TOFF routine. Much of it is similar to the LAND subroutine. The first flight is removed from the landing queue and FREER is called to ascertain the first time the flight can taxi to takeoff. Tieups are created to maintain separation, both on the same runway and on others where there is interference. NXTOP is scheduled for the time specified by FREER, the delay is calculated, and the flight is destroyed. Thus the overall structure of TOFF is similar to that of LAND.



<sup>- 94 -</sup>

Takeoffs, however, are special in one way. They enter the system several minutes before scheduled takeoff and the TOFF routine occurs later still before takeoff. The reason for this early scheduling of takeoffs can best be described here, in the context of the TOFF routine. Takeoffs are scheduled early so that their scheduling can be compatible with that of landings. Landings need to be scheduled before touchdown, since they must be properly separated from other operations along the whole of the final approach path. If takeoffs were scheduled only at start-of-roll, a following landing could be scheduled no earlier than that start-of-roll. In other words, the following landing could not cross the outer marker until the preceding takeoff had started its roll. It would greatly complicate the model if landings and takeoffs for one runway were scheduled in an order different from that in which they occur in LAND and TOFF. By scheduling takeoffs early, landings and takeoffs can be treated in the same manner. As noted above, there is still a residual difficulty when a very slow landing follows a fast takeoff, but for the most part, scheduling takeoffs early permits proper sequencing and scheduling on a dual-use runway.

One may still ask, "Why generate takeoffs so early?" It is necessary to generate takeoffs at least 3 to 5 minutes (depending on the separation rules) before they are scheduled by TOFF. When calculating the tieup duration needed to maintain separation from following aircraft, it is necessary to know the type of the following aircraft. Therefore takeoffs have to be generated as far ahead (in time) of scheduling in TOFF as the greatest time separation required between aircraft.

The careful reader may wish to inquire whether this procedure is indeed not too artificial. We note in response that these time intervals can be interpreted in terms of real events. The time between flight generation and scheduling of TOFF may be thought of as the minimum time ahead of departure at which a flight plan can be filed. Such a minimum time is in fact required at the more congested airports, and as more terminals become congested this practice will become more widespread. Also, with the addition of computer processing of flight plans, a minimum filing time is quite likely. The time between scheduling and start-of-roll may be thought of as the time for the aircraft to leave its gate, taxi to the runway, and complete final checkout. In the model, queuing for takeoff would then occur before leaving the gate, although at most terminals gate space is limited and there are parking ramps for waiting. This is another instance of a situation in which we are interested in the length of a time interval but not in where the aircraft is during that interval. We would be interested in where the aircraft actually is only if this were to affect whether the aircraft could turn onto the runway when the runway is free. The DELCAP model does not include any ground operations, and therefore, the delay figures do not include delays incurred during ground operations. Future model modifications might address this additional source of delay.

To return to our discussion of the TOFF routine, we will now describe the separation rules applying to a takeoff, and their implementation.

(1) No two aircraft may simultaneously occupy the same runway. This rule is implemented in the same manner as it was in LAND. The runway threshold and the end of the runway are tied up from start-of-roll to liftoff.

(2) Separation between departing aircraft depends on the types of aircraft involved, since under current rules extra time is required for aircraft departing behind a heavy, and this time is less if the following aircraft is also a heavy than if it is not. Separation times are stored in the array SEPTT, which is a two-dimensional array depending on the aircraft types involved.

(3) A takeoff must be separated from a succeeding landing. The process here in TOFF is similar to that described for separation (3) of LAND. The runway threshold is tied up from start of roll until that time plus

(1/S) (SEPTL + 0.5 v<sup>2</sup> ROTT/S)

where v is the landing speed, S is the liftoff speed of the takeoff, and ROTT is the runway occupancy time of the takeoff.

Each tieup created is filed in the appropriate set ERTI, for the end of the runway, or THTI for the runway threshold. Along with each tieup, the routine FTIUP is scheduled for when the tieup is no longer in force.

TOFF also ties up points on interfering runways in order to ensure that the required separation from the current takeoff is maintained. Of the six types of interference listed in the description of the LAND routine, four pertain to takeoffs:

3. Takeoffs on one runway must be separated from following landings on the other runway.

4. Takeoffs on one runway must be separated from takeoffs on the other runway by the same time as takeoffs on the same runway.

5. Takeoffs on the two runways must be separated by the times in the array SEP2.

6. The two runways intersect.

Tieups for types 3 and 4 for different runways are computed in the same manner as separations (3) and (2) above for one runway. Tieups for type 5 are computed in a manner similar to that of separation (2) above, except that a second array SEP2 is used instead of SEPTT. SEP2 contains time separations required between aircraft on different runways. Type 6 is handled for takeoffs in the same manner as for landings. The threshold and end of the second runway are tied up from the time the takeoff starts its roll until it has passed the intersection.

The remainder of the takeoff routine is the same as the landing routine. NXTOP and PRINT are scheduled, delay is calculated, and the flight is destroyed.

#### B.7 Event FTIUP

This event destroys a tieup as soon as it is no longer in force. A flow chart appears as Figure B.10. These "erasures" free computer storage for new flights and tieups, and make searching the sets in FREER easier. Since the sets OMTI, THTI, and ERTI are ordered by TMAX (the time the tieup is no longer in force), FTIUP only needs to remove and destroy the first tieup in the appropriate set.

## B.8 Event CHGOP

This event, whose flowchart appears as Figure B.11, reads the new policy to be used for each runway together with the new runway usage, distributions, and initiates policy changeovers whenever the changeover can occur immediately. The array QF(k,i) indicates for each runway and operation the status of the runway for changing policy. CHGOP sets up QF so that QF = 0 if either the queue for that runway and operation is empty or if the runway was not used under the previous set of policies. If, on the other hand, the runway was previously used and has aircraft in its queue, QF for that runway and operation is set equal to the last flight in that queue.

The old policy for a runway is stored in the array INDX and the new policy in TNDX. Changing the policy consists of replacing INDX with TNDX and setting TNDX to be zero. The change can occur only when all the QF's for all runway/operation combinations in the policy are zero. However, if the policy change involves a change in direction of a runway, it cannot be initiated immediately, and in this case the routine CDIR which handles runway direction changes is scheduled at the current time. If any QF's are non-zero then the policy change is initiated by NXTOP, which detects when the next aircraft scheduled is the flight stored in QF, and calls CDIR to initiate the policy change.

## B.9 Event CDIR

Figure B.12 is a flowchart of event CDIR. This event also initiates policy changes, and can be scheduled either from CHGOP or NXTOP. It first tests if a runway-direction change is involved in the policy change. If that is so, the changeover must be deferred for a time (AFIN(k)). To accomplish this, CDIR is rescheduled after a lapse of AFIN, and CHGD is zeroed so that when CDIR is next entered the change will not be further deferred. When CHGD is zero, CDIR changes INDX to be TNDX and zeroes TNDX, thus actuating the changeover.





Flowchart of Event FTIUP





## FIGURE B. 12

Flowchart of Event CDIR

#### APPENDIX C

## MODEL ELEMENTS: ROUTINES, VARIABLES AND ARRAYS, ENTITIES, AND SETS

This appendix is divided into two parts. The first lists each of the model's routines, corresponding to events and functions, and provides a phrase describing what each does. The second section lists the names and descriptions of variables used in the model. The variables are listed under the SIMSCRIPT headings of: entities, arrays, attributes of event notices, temporary entities, attributes of temporary entities, and sets.

### C.1 Routines

Exogenous Events

- 1. BEGIN starts the simulation
- 2. EXGEN creates explicitly generated flights
- 3. CHGOP initiates an operating policy change

Endogenous Events

- 1. GEN creates flights in a Poisson manner
- 2. NXTOP finds the next operation (landing or takeoff) for a runway
- 3. LAND creates tieups resulting from a landing
- 4. TOFF creates tieups resulting from a takeoff
- 5. FTIUP destroys tieups no longer in force
- 6. ENDS prints final output
- 7. CHOUR updates current hour
- 8. PRINT records delay and throughput
- CDIR accomplishes policy changes, taking into account runwaydirection changes

Functions

- 1. PTYPE picks an aircraft type
- 2. PRWAY picks a runway
- 3. FREER finds the first time the current operation can proceed

## C.2 Variables

#### Entities

- 1. 0 operation (1) takeoff, (2) landing
- 2. RW runway
- 3. TYP aircraft type
- 4. DX operating policy
- 5. H hour
- 6. SLOT positions for printing the delay profile

Variables and Arrays

- LAMBD(0) Poisson distribution parameter, the average time (in hours) between operations
- 2. OPER(RW) operational procedure
  - (1) takeoffs only
  - (2) landings only
  - (3) dual use, alternate operations
  - (4) dual use, landings take precedence
  - (5) dual use, operation sequence user-provided
  - (6) more than one runway operated together, operation/runway sequence user-provided
- 3. DOM(RW) distance from the outer marker to the runway threshold
- 4. NPT(RW) greater than zero if the runway RW interferes with others
- 5. FLYOM(TYP) time to fly from handoff to the outer marker
- 6. SQRW(DX, NSQRW(DX)) sequence of runways used for policy DX
- 7. VLAND(TYP) landing speed
- 8. VTOFF(TYP) liftoff speed
- 9. ROTL(TYP) runway occupancy time on landing
- 10. ROTT(TYP) runway occupancy time on takeoff
- 11. VTAXI turnoff speed for landings
- 12. DAFIX distance from departure/arrival fix to the runway threshold
- 13. SEPLL(TYP., TYP.) interlanding separation required between a TYP. aircraft and Ja following TYP; aircraft
- 14. SEPTL separation required between a takeoff and following landing
- 15. CALIN minimum time between the generation of a takeoff and clearance to leave its gate
- 16. CTYPE (0, TYPE) cumulative distribution of aircraft mix
- 17. CRWYT(RW, TYP) cumulative distribution of runway use for takeoff
- 18. CRWYL(RW, TYP) cumulative distribution of runway use for landing
- 19. SQOP(DX, NSQOP(DX)) operation sequence for policy DX
- 20. NEXT(DX) is 0 if the next operation has not been scheduled, nonzero otherwise
- 21. LAST(DX) index of latest operation used in the sequence for policy DX
- 22. DINT(RW, RW) distance from the end of RW to its intersection with  $RW_{i}^{i}$
- 23.  $TPT(RW, ^JNTPT(RW))$  type of tieup caused by an operation on runway RW
  - (1) to maintain interlanding separation
  - (2) to maintain a landing separated from a preceding departure
  - (3) to maintain a departure separated from a following landing
  - (4) to maintain departure separation between completely dependent runways using the separations in SEPTT
  - (5) to maintain departure separation on semi-dependent runways using the separations in SEP2
  - (6) to maintain separation on intersecting runways
- 24. RPT(RW, NRPT(RW)) runway tied up as a result of an operation on RW. Noce that RPT and TPT together describe the interference between runways; RPT tells which runway is interfered with and TPT tells how.
- 25. TDMIN(RW) minimum time between a takeoff's leaving its gate and starting its roll
- 26. SEPTT(TYP<sub>i</sub>, TYP<sub>j</sub>) minimum time separation between a takeoff of type TYP<sub>i</sub> and a following takeoff of TYP<sub>i</sub>

- 27. SEP2(TYP<sub>i</sub>, TYP<sub>i</sub>) - similar to SEPTT for a takeoff on one runway following a takeoff on another runway 28. IHOUR - current hour 29. NARR(H) - number of landings generated 30. NDEP(H) - number of takeoffs generated NLAND(H) - number of landings performed 31. 32. NTOFF(H) - number of takeoffs performed DELT(H) - total takeoff delay 33. 34. DELL(H) - total landing delay TBEG - time the accounting for delay starts 35. 36. TEND - time the simulation ends 37. GENN(0) - the identity of the GEN currently scheduled for operation 0 38. TDRW(RW,0) - total delay for operation type 0 on runway RW 39. HDRW(RW, 0) - hourly delay for operation type 0 on runway RW TNRW(RW,0) - total number of operations of type 0 on runway RW 40. 41. HNRW(RW, 0) - hourly number of operations of type 0 on runway RW 42. INITR - random number seed CAP - is 0 for only throughput printout, 1 for both delay and throughput 43. INDX(RW) - policy used for runway RW 44. TNDX(RW) - policy RW will use as soon as the changeover can be effected 45. 46. CHGD(RW) - is 1 if the new policy for RW involved a change in direction from the previous policy, 0 if not 47. AFIN(RW) - the time required for a runway direction change 48. QF(RW,0) - used when a policy is being changed; is 0 if this runway can accept a new policy, and otherwise is the last FLT, in the queue for operation 0 on runway RW, which is to occur before the policy change 49. NDLAY(H,SLOT) - the number of aircraft in hour H delayed between SLOT\*(INC-2) and SLOT\*(INC-1) minutes. (The last position contains all delayed over (NSLOT-2)\*INC minutes, and the first position all occurring early or on time.) 50. INC - interval-length for the delay profile 51. IDT(SLOT) - daily totals of NDLAY 52. DTIM - time of latest policy change 53. TIM(RW,O) - length of time period during which runway RW handled operation 0. Attributes of Event Notices 1. RWAY - runway
  - 2. OP operation
  - 3. PT point tied up
    - (1) outer marker
      - (2) runway threshold
    - (3) end of the runway
  - 4. DLAY delay for the current flight

Temporary Entities

- 1. FLT flight
- 2. TIEUP

Attributes of Temporary Entities

- 1. TYPE(FLT) aircraft type
- 2. TIN(FLT) first time FLT can cross outer marker or leave its gate

.

- 3. TMIN(TIEUP) beginning of tieup interval
- 4. TMAX(TIEUP) end of tieup interval

Sets

- 1. Q(RW,O) landing and takeoff queues
- 2. OMTI(RW) tieups in force at the outer marker
- 3. THTI(RW) tieups in force at the runway threshold
- 4. ERTI(RW) tieups in force at the end of the runway

## APPENDIX D

## REVISED INPUT FORMATS

# D.1 Revised Preprocessor Input Formats

Card No.	Column Nos.	Variable	No. Decimal Places	FORTRAN Format
1	1 - 7	TBEG - beginning of simulation	2	F7.2
	8 - 14	TEND - end of simulation	2	F7.2
2	1 - 18	INPUT (1 - 6), 3 columns	-	6A3
	19	print indicator (0 = throughput, 1 = both delay and throughput)	-	Il
	20 - 31	random number seed	-	012
GROUP I				
one per type	1 - 3	number of type ( $\leq$ 10)	0	13
	4 - 10	aver. landing speed (knots)	2	F7.2
	11 - 17	aver. takeoff speed (knots)	2	F7.2
	18 - 24	aver. runway occupancy time - landing - (seconds)	2	F7.2
	25 - 31	aver. runway occupancy time – takeoff – (seconds)	2	F7.2
#types + 1		end-of-file		
<pre>#types + 2</pre>	1 - 7	aver. turn-off speed, all types	2	F7.2

Card No.	Column Nos.	Variable	No. Decimal Places	FORTRAN Format
GROUP II				
1	6 per type	decimal fraction of take- off mix, of each type	4 .	12F6.4
2	same	dec. frac. of landing mix of each type	4	12F6.4
GROUP III				•
1,2	6 per hour	number of planes taking off per hour	1	12F6.1
3,4	same	<pre># planes landing per hour</pre>	1	12F6.1
GROUP IV				
1	1 - 7	required separation between an arrival and a departure (naut. mi.)	2	F7.2
2 through NTYPxNTYP 10	7 per type pair	required separation between landing aircraft (naut. mi)	2	10F7.2
next <u>NTYPxNTYP</u> 10	7 per type pair	required separation between takeoffs on the same runway (min.)	2	10F7.2
next <u>NTYPxNTYP</u> 10	7 per type pair	required separation between takeoffs on different runways (min.)	2	10F7.2
GROUP V				
one per runway	1 - 2	number of runways (1 - 9)	0	12
	3 - 6	heading of runway	0	14
	7 - 8	left/right designation	_	A2
	9 - 12	policy to be used by this runway	0	I4

Card No.	Column Nos.	Variable	No. Decimal Places	FORTRAN Format
	13 - 19	distance to outer marker (naut. miles)	2	F7.2
#rw+1		end-of-file		
two per	1 - 3	policy number	0	13
	4 - 6	operation code: 1-takeoffs only, 2-landings only, 3-both, alternating 4-both, landings preferred 5-both, sequence provided 6-both, sequence provided for several runways	0	13
	7 – 9	number of operations in sequence	0	13
	3 per operation in sequence	operation sequence	0	2013
(second card of policy pair)	1 - 3	policy number	0	13
	4 - 9	blank		
	3 per operation in sequence	runway on which operation is to occur	0	2013
2*policies + 1		end-of-file		
one per runway	7 per type	time, in minutes, for each type to fly from handoff to outer marker	2	10F7.2
one per inter- section	1 - 2	first runway number	0	12
	3 - 4	second runway number	0	12

Card Nos.	Column Nos.	Variable	No. Decimal Places	FORTRAN Format
	5 - 12	distance from end of first RW to intersection (feet)	0	F8.0
	13 - 20	distance from end of second RW to inter- section (feet)	0	F8.0
#inter-		end-of-file		
one per inter- ference	1 - 2	first runway	0	12
	3 - 4	second runway	0	12
	5 - 6	interference code: 1 - simultaneous departures are permitted, given divergence, but arr/arr is prohibited, 2 - all simultaneous operations prohibited.	0	12
<pre># inter- ferences +1</pre>		end-of-file		
GROUP VI				
one per type	6 per runway	decimal fraction of all takeoffs of type which use each runway, followed by decimal fraction of all landings of type which use each runway	4	12F6.4

\*

# D.2 Revised Input Formats for Exogenous Events

CARD NO.	COLUMNS	CONTAIN
1	3 6 - 7 9 - 10	the number 2 the hour the flight enters the system the minute of that hour
	11 - 12 13 - 14	the second of that minute 1 if flight is a takeoff, 2 if a landing
	15 - 16 17 - 18	the runway to be used by this flight the aircraft type for this flight

# D.2.1 FLIGHT GENERATION

# D.2.2 POLICY CHANGE

CARD NO.	COLUMNS	CONTAIN
1	3	the number 3
	6 - 7	the hour the policy change is to be initiated
	9 - 10	the minute of that hour
	11 - 12	the second of that minute
for each runway	3 - 4	new policy number to be used
	5 - 6	l if the runway direction is changed, O otherwise
for each runway and type	5 - 11 (4 decimal places)	CRWYT
	12 - 18	CRWYL

	THIS PROGRAM IS A PREPROCESSOR WHICH READS IN THE DATA AND PUTS IT INTO PROPER FORM FOR USE BY THE SIMULATION PROGRAM. PAPAMETER KRW=20,KTYP=10,KSEO=20,KO=2,KTPT=20,KNDX=20 INTEGER OPER(KNDX),PPT(KRW+KTPT),
	<pre>SOOP(KNDX,KSE0),SOP%(KNDY,KSE0),RW(KPW),INDX(KRW) KEAL L1 MBD(K0,24) DIMENSION DOM(KRW),NPT(KPW),FLYOM(KTYP,KPW),VLAND(KTYP),ROTL(KTYP) VTOFE(MTYP),ROTT(KTYP),DTYPE(K0,KTYP),PPWYT(KTYP,KRW),LAST(KRW), PPWYL(KTYP,KRW),NSOOP(KPM),DINT(KPW,KPW),THPUT(A),TDMIN(KPW), SEP2(KTYP,KTYP),SEPTT(KTYP,KTYP),INTER(KPW,KPW),CALIN(KPW),N(100), INEAD(KRN),ILP(KRW),AEIN(KPW) /IMENSION SEPLL(KTYP,KTYP)</pre>
	BEGITE D ARE TIMES OF REGIONING AND END OF SIMULATION EXAMPLES ARE 0.00 FOR MIDNICHT AND 17.30 FOR 5.30 P.M.
705 50n	<pre>READ(5,705)TBEG,TETE GDMAT(10F7.2) RJTE(6,500)TBEG,TETE TORMAT(11THIS SIMULATION RUME FROMTEG.2: TOTEG.2///) TBEGEAINT(TREG)+(TEREANINT(TEREA))/60. TELESEAINT(TEND)+(TEND-AINT(TEREA))/60. TELESEAINT(TEND)+(TELESEANING)/60. TELESEAINT(TEND)+(TELESEANING)/60. TELESEAINT(TEREA)+(TELESEANING)/60. TELESEAINT(TEREA)+(TELESEANING)/60. TELESEAINT(TEREA)+(TELESEANING)/60. TELESEAINT(TEREA)+(TELESEANING)/60. TELESEAINT(TEREA)+(TELESEANING)/60. TELESEAINT(TEREA)+(TELESEANING)/60. TELESEAINT(TEREA)+(TELESEANING)/60. TELESEAINT(TELESEANING)/60. TELESEANING/FELESEANING)/FELESEANING)/60. TELESEANING/FELESEANING)/FEL</pre>
	(NPUT(I) - LEAVE BLANK TE ITH DATA GROUP WILL BE SUPPLIED BY USER ANYTHING ELSE WILL CAUSE PROGRAM TO SUPPLY STANDARD DATA ATA GROUPS APE - 1) HUBBER AND DESCRIPTION OF AIRCPAFT TYPES 2) MIX OF AIRCRAFT TYPES 3) LAUDIUG AND TAKEOFE PATES, BY HOUR 4) SEPARATION REQUIREMENTS

# E.1 Listing of the Preprocessor

## PROGRAM LISTINGS

## APPENDIX E

C C

0000

1

2

00000000

```
5) DESCRIPTION OF AIRPORT AND ITS OPERATION
С
                      6) FRACTION OF TYPES USING EACH RUNWAY AND
С
С
                         DEPARTURE PATH
Ċ
     ICAP - FLAG USED TO CONTROL PRINTING OF DELAY OUTPUT
            (0 = ONLY THEOUGHEUT, 1 = BOTH THROUGHEUT AND DELAY)
С
C
      INITE - INITIAL RANDOM NUMBER SEED (12 OCTAL DIGITS)
С
     READ (5,730) (INPUT(I), T=1,6), ICAP, INITE
4
730
     FORMAT (6A3, 11,012)
C
С
   ******
С
   * INPUT DATA GROUP 1 *
С
   С
С
     С
     PTYPE - HUMBER OF TYPES
     VTOFF(I) - TAKEOFF SPEED OF TYPE I. IN KNOTS
С
     VLAND(T) - LANDING SPEED OF TYPE I, IN KNOTS
С
     ROTE (I) - RUNWAY OCCUPANCY TIME ON LANDINGS FOR TYPE I, IN SECONDS
С
С
     ROTT(I) - SAME FOR TAKEOFFS
     VTAXI - AVERAGE THRMOFF SPEED FOR ALL TYPES
С
Ċ
     IF(T:)PUT(1).E0. ')60 TO 5
С
      TYPE 1 - HEAVY AIRCPAET
С
     STANDARD TYPE INPUT:
С
                          TYPE 2 - SMALL PROP ATRCRAFT
C
                          TYPE 3 - CATEGORY OFS
С
     DATA FROM VALUES OBTAINED AT JEK
C
     _____
     DATA HTYPE/3/VTAXI/20./
     DATA (VLAND(I), VTOFF(I), POTL(I), POTT(I), T=1, 3)/
     1 124.,120.,55.,23.,119.,90.,40.,27.,120.,120.,50.,32./
     60 TA 11
     READ(5,725, END=6)NITYPE, VLAND(NTYPE), VTOFE(NTYPE),
                     POTI (NTYPE), ROTT (NTYPE)
    1
  725 FURMAT(13,4F7.2)
     30 TO 5
   6 READ (5, 705) VTAXI
     PO 7 I=1,HTYPE
1.)
     ROTL(I) = ROTL(I) / 3600.
   7 ROTT(I)=POTT(I)/3600.
C
С
    *****
С
    * INPUT DATA GROUP 2 *
С
    *****
С
С
      PTYPE(1,1) - THE ERACTION OF TOTAL TAKEOFFS WHICH ARE OF TYPE I
С
     PTYPE (2+1) - SAME FOR LANDINGS
C
С
     _____
     IF(INPUT(2).E0. 1)GO TO 15
C
     C
     STANDARD TYPE MIX - F#HEAVIES, 17% SMALL, 78% CATEGORY 3'S
С
     DATA ((PTYPE(I,J),J=1,3),I=1,2)/.05,.22,1.0/.05,.22,1.0/
     50 TO 39
   15 DO 16 I=1.2
     READ(5,710)(PTYPE(T,J),J=1,HTYPE)
```

16 CONTINUE DO 25 I=1,2 DO 20 J=2, NTYPE 20 PTYPE(I,J)=PTYPE(I,J=1)+PTYPE(I,J) IF(1'T((PTYPE(I, HTYPE)+.01)+100.).HE.100)WRTTE(6,800)I SUD FORMAT( MARVING - PROPADILITIES OF ALL TYPES FOR OPERATION + 12) 11 (1-LINITIA, 2-TAKFOFF) DO NOT SUM TO ONE!) 25 CONTINUE INPUT DATA GROUP 3 \* \_\_\_\_\_\_ LANDD(1,1) - AVERAGE NUMBER OF TAKEDEES DURING ITH HOUR OF THE DAY LAMED(2, I) - SAME FOR LANDINGS \_\_\_\_\_\_ 30 IF (T'IPHT(3).E0.! 1) GO TO 35 ---------------STANDARD DEPARTURE AND ARRIVAL PATES ARE 200 AND 100 PER HOUR RESPECTIVELY (FOR USE IN CAPACITY PUNS) \_\_\_\_\_\_ 10 31 I=1,24  $LA^{(4DD)}(1,I)=1./200.$ LANDD(2,I)=1./100. CONTINUE 31 GO TO 43 35 IF (NC.GT.0) 60 TO 37 00 36 I=1,2 READ (5,720) (LAMED (1,J), J=I1,JJ) 720 FOPMAT(12E6.1) 20 36 1=1,24 IF(LA440(1,J).LE.2.)60 TO 351 LAPED(T,J)=1./LAMPD(T,J)00 TO 34 351 LAMPE (T, J) =9.999 36 CONTINUE CO TO 42 37 00 39 1=1,2 PEAD(5, 72C)(LAMRD(I, J), J=IHOUP(24), (LAMRD(T, J), J=1, ND)DO 32 J=1,24 IF (LAN D(I, J). LE. P.) GO TO 371 LAMPE(I,J)=1./LAMPE(I,J) 60 TO 39 371 LANDD (T, J)=2,999 33 CONTINUE \* INPUT DATA SPOUP 4 \* SEPLL - PADAR SEPARATION RECHIRED BETWEEN AIPCRAFT ON SAME PATH SEPTI - PADAR SEPARATION RECHIEFE BETWEEN A LANDING A/C AND AN A/C TAKING OFF FROM THE SAME RUNWAY

ALL OTSTANCES APE THE MAUTICAL MILES.

С C C С C С С С

C

C

С

C C C C С C С C C Ç

> С C

С

(10 FORMAT(12F6.4)

40 IF(JUPUT(4).FQ. \* \*)60 TO 45 DAFIY=4. \_\_\_\_\_\_ STAUDARD SEPARATION REOUTREMENTS \_\_\_\_\_\_ SEPTL=2. 50 41 J=1, MTYPE SEPLL(1,J)=5. DO #1 I=2,NTYPE SEPLL (I.J)=3. 41 SEPIL(1,1)=4. 139 DO 140 TELINTYPE DO 146 JELFNITYPE SEPTT(I+J)=20./3600.+POTT(I) SEP2(I,J)=POTT(I)140 NO 1491 JERRITYPE SEPTT(1,J)=2./6(.+20TT(1) 14(1 SEPTT(1,1)=2./60. 50 TC 51 45 READ (S.705) SEPTL READ (5,705) ((SEPLL(I,J), I=1, MTYPE), J=1, MTYPE) PEAD (5,705) ((SEPTT(I,J),I=1,NTYPE),J=1,NTYPE) read (s,705) ((SEP2(J,J),I=1,NTYPE),J=1,NTYPE) \*\*\*\*\* IPPUT ONTA GROUP 5 \* THEAR(I) - THE HEADING OF RUNWAY I TLE(T) - FOR PARALLEL PUNWAYS, THE LEFT OP PIGHT DESIGNATION FOR EXAMPLE, IF REMEAY 2 IS 31R, IHEAD(2)=31 AND ILR(2)=R INDY(I) - UTARE OF THE OPERATIVE POLICY TO PE USED ON RUNWAY I OPER(J) - OPERATING CODE FOR POLICY NUMBER . SOOP(J,M) - SEQUENCE OF OPERATIONS FOR POLICY J (1 = TAKEOFF, 2 = LAND). THE SEQUENCE IS REPEATED OVER AND OVER. VSOAR(J) - NUMBER OF OPERATIONS IN POLICY J SORE(J,K) - THE RUMMAY UPON WHICH THE K-TH OPERATION IN POLICY J IS TO ACCUP. CODES APE 1- TAKEOFES ONLY, 2- LANDINGS ONLY 3-DUAL USE, ALTERNATING OPERATIONS 4-DUAL USE, LANDINGS TAKE PRECEDENCE DOW(I) - DISTANCE TO ONTER MARKED FOR RHNWAY I FLYOM(T, J) - TIME, IN MINUTES, FOR A TYPE I A/C TO FLY FROM HANDOFF TO OLITER MAPKER OF RUNMAY J DINT(I, J) - DISTANCE FROM END OF RUNWAY T TO ITS INTERSECTION WITH DUNWAY J. IN FEET THTER (I, J) - INTERFERENCE CODE FOR PUNWAYS T AND J CODES APE 1- LANDINGS ON I AND J INTERFERE AND MUST RE SEPARATED, BUT SIMULTANEOUS TAKEOFES ARE PERMITTED IF THEY DIVERGE. 2- NO STMULTANEOUS OPERATIONS PERMITTED IF METTHER, COMPLETE IMPEPENDENCE IS ASSUMED.

- TIME SEPARATION REQUIRED BETWEEN AIRCRAFT DEPARTING ON

1. CRV / 4

DIFFEPENT PUNWAYS

1 m 1 -

6

С С

Ç

С

C

C

Ċ

000000000

С

С

Ĉ

С

C

0

Ċ

С

C

C

С C

Ç

000

C

SEP2

```
50 IF(INPUT(5).F0.' ')60 TO F5
С
      STANDARD DATA IS FOR SUBJECT RUNHAY WITH ALTERNATING OPERATIONS
Ĉ
С
      _____
      DATA NOP/1/IMEAD(1)/15/ILR(1)/2H /OPER(1)/3/DOM(1)/5./
     1 (FLY01(J+1), J=1+3)/10++13++10+/DIMT(1+1)/0+/TMTFR(1+1)/0+/
       httl/2/(SOOP(1+I)+J=1+10)/1+2+9*0/(SQRW(1+T)+J=1+10)/1+1+8*0/
     2
     3 LAST(1)/1/THOX(1)/1/MODX/1/
      60 TO 572
      BRVIER
55
      READ (5,735,500=552) T,THEAD(T),TLP(T),INDX(T),DOM(T)
551
  735 FORMAT(12,14,A2,14,E7.2)
      MRY = MR (+1
      50 TO 551
      00 553 I=1,KNDX
552
      LAST(I)=1
      OPER(I)=1
553
      MNDX=0
554
      READ (5:615;END=557) NDY; OPEP(NDY); MIN; (SOOP((DX;I); I=1;MIN))
      1,500P( 10X)=1111
      FORMAT (2313)
615
      PEAS (5,616) (SOR (MOX, T), T=1, MIN)
      FORMAT (9X,2913)
616
      IF (NEX.GT. WNEX) MUDYENDY
      50 TO 554
      20 556 K=1, NRW
557
      I=INDX(K)
      IF (I.FQ.0) GO TO 556
      IF (OPER(I).6T.0) SO TO E56
      RITE (6,590) I.K.
      FORMAT (INWARNING - NO POLICY PROVIDED FOR INDEX!, I5, 2X, FOR RUNWA
590
     1Y1, IS)
556
      CONTINUE
      CO 56 T=1, NR'S
      PEAD(E, 705)(FLYOM(J, T), J=1, MTYPE)
      20 56 J=1, NRW
      CINT(I,J)=0.
      INTER(I)=0.
  56 CONTINUE
  57 READ(5,715,END=571) I, J, DINT(I, J), DINT(J, T)
  715 FORMAT(212:2F8.0)
      60 TO 57
  571 READ(5,730,END=572)T, J, INTER(T,J)
  700 FORMAT(1012)
      GO TO 571
  572 DO 59 I=1, NRH
      DO 58 J=1,NTYPE
   58 FLYON(J,I)=FLYON(J,I)/60.
      DO 59 J=1, NRW
   59 DINT(I,J)=DINT(I,J)/6076.
      00 60 I=1,MRW
      00 69 J=1, NRW
      IF(INTEP(I,J).FQ.0):00 TO 60
      INTEP(J,I)=INTEP(I,J)
   60 CONTINUE
      DO 90 1=1,1183
      メヨウ
      00 A9 J=1, MPW
```

```
IF(INTER(I,J).E0.0)GO TO 80
      I1=INDX(I)
      II=4
      IF (I1.NE.0) II=OPER(I1)
      J1=INDX(J)
      JJ=4
      IF (J1.ME.0) JJ=OPFP(J1)
      IF (II.LT.2.0R.JJ.LT.2) GO TO 65
      K = K + 1
      U=(X,I)T99
      TPT(I,K)=1
65
      IF (II.EQ.2.0R.JJ.E0.2) GO TO 70
      K \equiv K + 1
      RPT(I,K)=J
      TPT(I,K)=4
      IF(INTER(T,J).EO.1)TPT(T,K)=5
70
      IF (II.50.2.0P.JJ.50.1) GO TO 75
      K = K + 1
      RPT(I,K)=J
      TPT(I, r)=3
75
      IF (II.F3.1.0R.JJ.E0.2) 60 TO 80
      K \equiv K + 1
      RPT(T,K)=J
      TPT(J,V)=2
   80 CONTINUE
      DO 85 J=1,MRW
      IF(DINT(I,J).LE.0.)GO TO 85
      X = K + 1
      RPT(T,K)=J
      TPT(I_{PK})=6
   35 CONTINUE
      MPT(I)=K
      K \equiv K + 1
      DO RE LEK,KTPT
      92T(I,!)=0
      TPT(I_{P}) = 0
   86 CONTINUE
   90 CONTINUE
С
С
   *****
    * IMPUT DATA GROUP 6 *
С
С
    *****
C
С
C
      PRWYT(I) - THE FRACTION OF ALL TAKEOFFS OF TYPE I A/C
С
      WHICH USE PUNWAY J.
С
      PRHYL(T, J) - THE SAME FOR LANDINGS
                                                                  140
C
      _____
                       1)GO TO 115
  110 IF(INPUT(6).EQ.*
C
      С
      STANDARD RUNWAY USAGE HAS ALL / IPCRAFT OPERATIONS ON RUNWAY 1
С
      DATA (PRWYT(I,1),I=1,3)/3*1./(PPWYL(I,1),I=1,3)/3*1./
      60 TO 145
  115 DO 120 J=1, MTYPE
  120 READ(5,710)(PPWYT(J,J),I=1,NRW),(PRWYL(J,I),T=1,NRW)
      UO 122 I=1, MPM
      I I = I'' D Y (I)
```

```
IF (I1.5T.0) II=OPER(I1)
      00 122 J=1, TYPE
      IF (PR+YT(J,I).GT.0.AND.II.FO.2) WRITE (6,830) J/I
  830 FORMAT( MARMING - THERE IS A POSITIVE PROBABILITY THAT A TYPE !!
     112, ATTCRAFT WILL TAKE OFF FROM / 12X, PRUNWAY , 12, , WHICH HANDLES
     2 LANDINGS ONLY !)
      IF (PRWYL(J+I).GT.0.ANP.II.FO.1) WRITE (6,840) J+I
  840 FORMAT( MARNING - THERE IS A POSITIVE PROBABILITY THAT A TYPE !!
     112, AIRCRAFT WILL LAND ON 1/12Y, RUNWAY 1, 12, 1, WHICH HANDLES TAKE
     20FES ONLY!)
  122 CONTINUE
      IF ('IRW.E0.1) GO TO 145
1241
      DO 130 I=1, MTYPE
      DO 125 J=2, MRM
      PRWYL(I,J) = PRWYL(I,J=1) + PRWYL(I,J)
  125 PRWYT(I,J) = PRWYT(J,J-1) + PRWYT(J,J)
      IF(INT((PPWYL(I,NPW))+.01)*100.).NF.100)WRITE(6,810)I
  810 FORMAT( ! WARNING - PPOBABILITIES OF A TYPE ! , 12 , ! AIRCRAFT LANDING
     10H ALL RUNWAYS DO NOT SUM TO ONF!)
      IF(I'T((PRWYT(I*NPW )+.01)*100.).NF.100)WRTTE(6*820)I
  820 FORMAT( ! MARMING - PROBABILITIES OF A TYPE ! 12 .! AIRCRAFT TAKING
     10FF FROM ALL RUNMAYS DO NOT SUM TO ONE!)
  130 CONTINUE
145
     00 150 I=1,100
  150 !!(I)=I
      00 95 T=1,NRW
      TOMIN(I) = (OOM(I) / VLAND(1)) * PTYPE(2,1)
      AFIN(I)=TOMIN(I)+POTT(1)*PTYPE(1,1)
      DO 95 JEZINTYPE
      TDMIN(I) = (DOM(I) / VLAND(J)) * (PTYPF(2, J) - PTYPF(2, J-1)) + TDMIN(I)
95
      AFIN(I)=TDMIN(I)+POTT(J)*PTYPE(1,J)
      00 100 I=1/SRW
      CALIN(I)=FLYOM(I,1)*PTYPE(2,1)
      00 100 J=2,NTYPE
  100 CALIU(I)=FLYOM(I,J)*(PTYPE(2,J)-PTYPE(2,J-1))+CALIN(I)
C
C
    ********
C
    * WRITE STMULATION INPUT *
С
    ******
C
      XINC=5.
      L=0
      MIR
      WRITE (M, 899)
399
      FORMAT (111,9X, 1671,4X, 1601,4X, 1601)
      ARITE(N,907)1(1),1(2)
      WRITE( *, 900) 4(2), NRW
      WRITE(W,900)N(3),NITYPE
      PITE (M,900) N(4), MDX
      WPITE(1,900)N(5), M(24)
      WRITE (M, 923) N(6), MNDX, N(4), (OPER(T), I=1, MNDX)
      WRITE(",930)N(7), MRW, N(2), (DOM(T), I=1, NPW)
      .RITE(M, 920)N(8), MRW, N(2), (MPT(I), I=1, NRW)
      00 155 J=1+4RW
      IF(HPT(I).EQ.0)NPT(I)=1
  155 CONTINUE
      WRITE( *,940)N(9),/TYPE,N(3),NRV,N(2),((FLYOM(J,I),T=1,NRW),
```

TI=4

```
- 118 -
```

```
1J=1,NTYPE)
      WRITE (1,960) N(10), MNDX, N(4), ((SORW(K,I), I=1, KSEQ), NSQOP(K),
        K=1,MIDX)
     1
      MRITE( 4, 930)N(11),NTYPE,N(3),(VLAND(I),T=1,NTYPE)
      WRITE(14,930)N(12),NTYPE,N(3),(VTOFE(I),I=1,NTYPE)
      WRITE(14,930)4(13),MTYPE,N(3),(ROTL(7),I=1,NTYPE)
      VRITE( 1, 930) 1(14), UTYPE, 1(3), (BOTT(T), I=1, NTYPE)
      NRITE(1,910)N(15),VTAXT
      WRITE((1,910))((16),)(2)
      WRITE (M,945) N(17), NTYPE, N(3), NTYPE, N(3), (SEPLL(I, J), J=1, NTYPE),
       I=1, ITYPE)
     1
      WRITE (: 910) N(18), SEPTL
      WRITE( ', 930)11(19), HRW, N(2), (CALIN(I), I=1, NRW)
      %RITE(2,940)N(20),N(2),N(1),NTYPE(N(3),((PTYPE(I,J),J=1,NTYPE))
     11=1,2)
      WRITE(M,940)M(21),MTYPF,N(3),NRW,N(2),((PRWYT(I,J),J=1,NRW),
     11=1, 1TYPT)
      GRITE( 9940)N(22),GTYPE,N(3),NRW,N(2),((PPWYL(T,J),J=1,NRW),
     IT=1, TYPE)
       RITE (",960) N(23), "NDX, N(4), ((SQOP(K,I), I=1, KSEQ), NSQOP(K),
       K=1, #1DX)
     1
      WRITE (10,950) N(24), N(24), N(1), MNDX, N(4)
      WRITE (", 920) N(25), MNDX, N(4), (LAST(I), I=1, MNDX)
      WRITE ( 4940) N(26), NPH, N(2), NRW, N(2), ((DINT(T, J), J=1, NRW), I=1, NRW)
      WRITE((1,950)N(27),N(28),N(2),NRW,N(2),N(2),N(1)
      WRITE (M,960) N(29), NRW, N(2), ((PPT(T,J), J=1, KTPT), NPT(I), I=1, NRW)
      URITE (M+960) N(30), NRW+N(2), ((TPT(1,J), J=1, KTPT), NPT(1), I=1, NRW)
      WRITE( 1,930) M(31), NPW, M(2), (TOMTM(I), I=1, NPW)
      WRITE (",940) N(32),NTYPE,N(3),NTYPE,N(3),((SEPTT(I,J),J=1,NTYPE),
       I=1, ITYPE)
     1
      WRITE( +,950) M(33), M(38), M(1), M(24), M(5)
      PRITE(**,910)N(39), THEG
      VRITE(1,950)N(40),N(45),N(1),NRW,N(2)
      WRITE(MP910)N(46)PTEND
      VRITE(1,940)N(47),N(2),N(1),N(24),N(5),((LAMBD(I,J),J=1,24),T=1,2)
      WRITE(11,900)H(48),THOUR
      WRITE (M, 040) N(40), NTYPE, N(3), NTYPE, N(3), (( SEP2(I, J), J=1, NTYPE),
     1 = 1 + 1 = YPE
      WRITE (M, 950) N(50), J(50), N(1), N(2), N(1)
      WRITE (1,951) N(51),N(54),N(2),NRW,N(2),N(2),N(1)
      WRITE (11,955) M(55), INITP
       RITE (1,900) N(56), TCAP
      RRITE (#1920) N(57),NRM,N(2),(INOX(T),I=1,NRW)
      WRITE (M,951) M(52), N(59), N(1), NPW, N(2)
      URITE (M,930) N(6A), NRV, N(2), (AFTN(I), I=1, NRW)
      RITE (1,950) N(61),N(61),N(2),NRV(N(2),N(2),N(1)
      WRITE (1,900) N(62), N(14)
      3RITE (M+95)) H(63)+N(63)+N(2)+N(24)+N(5)+N(14)+N(62)
      WRITE ( 9,917) N(64), YINC
      WRITE (M, 950) N(65), N(65), N(1), N(14), N(62)
      WRITE (14,910) N(66), THES
      WRITE (M,959) N(67), N(67), N(2), NRW, N(2), N(2), N(1)
      WRITE(",970)
      "RITE( 4,980) M(1), INFG, L. L.
  900 FORMAT(14,5X,10 P1,139)
  910 FORMAT(T4, 5Y, 10 R1, 37XF7.3)
      "OPMAT (14,5%,11 P1,16,14,27%,120(12)1/(2012))
1,00
  930 FORMAT(14,5%,11 R1,16,14,27%,110(D3.4))/(10F9.4))
```

```
940 FORMAT(14,5X,12 R1,16,314,5X,18
                                         F',11X,'12(01.4)'/(12F6.4))
  945 FORMAT(14,5X,12 P1,16,314,5X,1P
                                         F',11X,'10(D2.4)'/(10F7.4))
  950 FORMAT(214,12,1 Z1,15,314)
      FORMAT (14,5X, '0 P', 37X, '(012) /(012))
955
960
      FORMAT (14,5X,12 P1,16,14,19Y,1P1,8X,120(12)1/(2012,30X,12))
  970 FORMAT( * *)
  980 FORMAT(13,14,13,12)
С
    ******
С
    * PRINT 201 DESCRIPTION *
С
С
    *****
С
      WRITE(6,505)
  505 FORMAT(//20XIAIRCRAFT DESCRIPTION!//1XITYPEI15XISPEEDS (KNOTS) 16Y
     1*RUNMAY OCCUPANCY (SECONDS)*/18Y*LANDING*4X*LIETOFF*6X*LANDING*6X
     2 * TAKEOFF ! / /)
      CO 160 1=1, NTYPE
      RROTL=20TL(I)*3690.
      PROTT=ROTT(I) *3600.
      WRITE(6,519)I, VLAND(I), WTOFF(I), PROTL, PROTT
  510 FORMAT(1011X12,15YF4,0,7YF4,0,10YF4,0,9XF4,0)
  160 CONTINUE
      #RITE(6,511)
  511 FORMAT(//5X*TRAFFIC DESCRIPTION*//1X*TYPE*5X*LANDING*4X*TAKEOFE*
     1/12X • MIX • AX • MIX • //)
      A=PTYPE(2,1)*100.
      B=PTYPF(1,1)*100.
      WRITE (6,515) M(1), A, P
  515 FORMAT(2XI2+2(7XE4+0)/)
      DO 165 1=2, MTYPE
      A = (PTYPE(2, I) - PTYPE(2, I-1)) * 100.
      P=(PTYPF(1,I)-PTYPF(1,I-1))*100.
      WRITE(6,515) I, A, B
  165 CONTINUE
      "RITE(6,520)
  520 FURMAT(! LAIRPORT CONFIGURATION!)
      LPTTE (5, 525) HPW
  525 FORMAT(///! MUMBER OF RUNWAYS = 12)
      DO 190 T=1.1PW
      II=I!Dx(I)
      IF (II.50.0) GO TO 166
      J=OPER(II)
      GO TO (170,175,180,185,186,186),J
  170 VRITE(6,530) I, IHEAD(I), TER(T)
  530 FORMAT('ORUNWAY'12,' ('12,42,') - TAKEOFFS ONLY')
      GO TO 190
  175 WRITE(6,535) I, IHEAD(I), ILR(T)
  535 FORMAT( + OPHIMAY + 12, + (+ 12, A2, +) - LANDINGS ONLY +)
      50 TO 190
  180 WRITE(6,540) I, IHEAD(I), TLR(T)
  540 FORMAT( 'OPUNNAY'12+ ( '12+A2+') - DUAL USF, ALTERNATING OPERATIONS
     1 * )
      GO TO LOA
  185 #RITE(6,545)1, IHEAD(T), TLR(T)
  545 FORMAT('OPUMWAY'I2+' ('12+A2+') - DUAL USE, LANDINGS TAKE PRECEDEN
     1CE!)
      60 TO 190
186
      HIN=USDOP(IT)
```

1/1 SIMULTAMEOUS OPERATIONS ARE PERMITTED!)

```
DO 189 J=1+NIN
      JJ=SQOP(II,J)
      GO TO (187,188),JJ
187
      SOOP(II, J)= DEPART
      GO TO 139
138
      SOOP(II,J)= ARRIVE *
189
      CONTINUE
      IF (OPER(II).GT.5) GO TO 191
      WRITE (6,546) I, HEAD(T), ILP(I), (SOOP(I,J), J=1, NIN)
      FORMAT (INPUMWAYI, 12, 1 (I, 12, A2, I) - DUAL-USF, OPERATION SEQUENCE
546
     1 - \frac{1}{(2X, 10(A6, 1X))}
      60 TO 121
191
      11N = 6
      00 194 J=1,010
      IF (SARY(II,J).EO.I) GO TO 194
      IF (MIN.FO.0) GO TO 193
      DO 192 JUEI / NIM
192
      IF (SORW(II,J).FO.PV(JJ)) GO TO 194
193
      91M=010+1
      RW(MIM)=SORW(II,J)
194
      CONTINUE
      IF (NIM.ST.0) 60 TO 196
      WRITE (S+546) IFTHEAD(I) FLP(I) (SOOP(I)) J=1, NIN)
      60 TO 191
196
      WRITE (6,547) I, THEAD(I), ILP(I), (RW(J), J=1, NIM)
      FORMAT (TORUNWAYT, I2, T (T, I2, A2, T) - OPERATED WITH RUNWAYST, 1012)
547
      VRITE (6,543) (SOOP(II,J),SOPW(TT,J),J=1,NIN)
      FORMAT ( * OPERATION SEQUENCE */5(1X, A6, * ON*, I2))
548
      DO 198 J=1+MIN
      TE (SOOP(II,J).EQ. 'ARRIVE') SOOP(II,J)=2
198
      IF (SCOP(II, J).EC. 'DEPART') SCOP(II, J)=1
      CO TO 120
      WRITE (6,549) I, INFAD(I), ILP(I)
166
      FORMAT ('OPU'WAY', I2, ' (', I2, A2, ') - NO POLICY PROVIDED/ NOT USED
549
     1 INITTALLY!)
  190 CONTINUE
      00 195 T=1, IRW
      00 195 J=1, IRW
      IF(DINT(I,J).LE.0.)GD TO 195
      A=DINT(1,J)*6076.
      B=DINT(J,I)*6076.
      WRITE(6,550)IHEAD(I),ILP(I),THEAD(J),ILP(J),A,IHEAD(I),ILR(I),B,
     1 I HEAD (J) , ILR (J)
  550 FORMAT(//'ORUNWAYS'13, A2, ' AND'13, A2, ' INTERSECT AT A POINT'F7.0,
     1' FEET FROM THE!/' END OF RUNWAY'I3,A2,' AND'F7.0,' FEET FROM THE
     2END OF RUNWAY'I3, A2, '. ')
  195 COUTINUE
      II=NPW-1
      DO 215 J=1+II
      JJ=J+1
      DO 215 JEJJ, NRW
      IF(INTER(I)).FO.C.MID.THEAP(J).NE.THEAD(J))GO TO 215
      L=JP!TFR(I,J)+1
      IF (IMEAD(I).NF. IHEAD(J)) GO TO 211
      GO TO(200,205,210),L
  200 WRITE(6,555)IHEAD(I),ILP(I),IHEAD(J),ILP(J)
  555 FORMAT(ZIORUNDAYSII3+A2+1 ANDII3+A2+1 ARE INDEPENDENT PARALLELS -1
```

```
205 WRITE(6,560)THEAD(I), THP(I), THEAD(J), ILP(J)
  560 FORMAT(/'ORUNWAYS'I3+A2+' AND'I3+A2+' ARE SEMI-DEPENDENT PARALLELS
     1 -1/1 SIMULTANEOUS APRIVALS APE PROHIBITED!)
      GO TO 215
  210 \forallRITE((\land, 565)THEAD(I), IL2(I), THEAD(J), ILP(J)
  565 FORMAT(/10RUNWAYSIT3+A2+1 ANDII3+A2+1 APE DEPENDENT PARALLELS -1/
     1. NO STANTANEOUS OPERATIONS ARE PERMITTED!)
      50 TO 215
      GO TO(215,212,213),L
211
  212 WRITE(6,570) INEAD(I), ILP(I), THEAD(J), ILP(J)
  570 FOPMAT(/'OPUNMAYS'I3, A2, 1 AUD'I7, A2, 1 APE SEMI-DEPENDENT -1/1 SIMU
     ILTANSOUS ARRIVALS ARE PROHIBITED!)
      GO TO 215
  213 WRITE(6,575)IHEAD(I), ILR(I), IHEAD(U), ILR(U)
  575 FORMAT(//ORUNWAYS/I3,A2, AND/I3,A2, APE DEPENDENT -// NO SIMULT
     1ANEOUS OPERATIONS ARE PERMITTED!)
  215 CONTINUE
      00 402 I=1 MTYPE
      JENRW
      PRWYL(I,J)=PRWYL(I,J)-PRWYL(I,J-1)
401
      PRWYT(T,J) = PRWYT(T,J) = PRWYT(T,J-1)
      J=J-1
      IF (J.GT.1) GO TO 401
      CONTINUE
402
      WRITE (6.,449)
440
      FORMAT (11 FRACTION OF LANDINGS OF FACH TYPE ON EACH RUNWAY!///)
      WRITE (6,450) (J,IHEAD(J),ILP(J),J=1,NRW)
      FORMAT (7X+ RUNWAY + 5X+7(11+ ( + 12+A2+ ) + AX))
450
      (RITE (5,951)
951
      FORMAT (2X, TYPE!/)
      DO 403 I=1, HTYPE
      WRITE (6,452) I. (PRWYL(T.J), J=1, NRW)
      FORMAT (3X, 12, 3X, 7(10X, F6, 4))
452
403
      CONTINUE
      NRITE (6:453)
      FORMAT ( 101///)
453
      #RITE (6,454)
      FORMAT ( 'D FRACTION OF TAKEOFES OF FACH TYPE ON EACH RUNWAY ! ///)
454
      WRITE (6,450) (J,145AD(J),118(J),J=1,NPW)
      WRITE (6,951)
      00 404 I=1. ITYPE
      WRITE (6,452) I, (PRWYT(I,J), J=1, NRW)
404
      CONTINUE
      STOP
      END
```

60 TO 215

# E.2 Listing of the DELCAP Simulation

+N +N +N	GEN 4 NXTOP4 LAND 4	N N	RWAY OP	31 2 32 2	I I	10 2RW 3TYP	FEE		Q	2	F	PTYPEI PRWAYI
+14	IDFF 4	1.1	OT	1.	Ŧ	411X EU	۲. ۳					FREERF
- <b>*</b> 111 		- eg - <b>T</b>	TYPE	4	I T		4.	Ŧ				
+1. -		1	DLAY	L L	F	70000 700M	1	,				
+T		-	TIN	4 7	F	ANDT	1	T				
+ T	TTEHPL	,			'	9FLYOM	2	F				
+10	ENTIS 2	т	TRITE	1	F	INSORW	2	T				
+1	CHOUR?	T	TNAY	2	F	11VLAND	1	F				
+						12VTOFF	1	Ē				
+						13POTI	1	F				
+						14POTT	1	F				
+		*	SQ	Ц.	I	15VTAXI	Û.	1				
+						16DAFTX	0					
+						17SEPL	2	۲ ۲				
*						185FPTL	4	- -				
<b>▼</b>						20CTYPE	1. 2	5				
+						21CEWYT	5	F				
+						22CPWYL	2	F				
+						23500P	2	T				
+						24NEXT	1	T				
+						25LAST	1	T				
+						PADINT	2	Ē				
+						27FC	2	T				
+						28L0	2	T				
+						PARET	2	Ţ				
+						301F/1	\$	-				
7						3) I TOTAL	1	-				
τ ⊥						33NADD	1	T				
+						34NDEP	1	T				
+						35NILAND	1	T				
+						36NTOFE	1	T				
+						TTPFLT	1	F				
+						REDELI	1	F				
+						39TREG	n	F				
+		Т	POMTI	3	I	UNFONTI	1	Ŧ	OMTI	1	RTMAX	L
+		Т	SOMTI	4	I	41LOMTI	1	Ţ	THTI	1	RTMAX	L
+		Т	PTHTI	3	I	UPETHTI	1	T	ERTI	1	RTMAX	L
+		T	STHTI	4	I	43LTHTI	1	I				
+		Т т	PEPTI	5	I	44FEPTI	1	T				
+		1	St.F.I.I	ч	T	HATEND	1	5				
+						471 AM9D	2	F				
+						48THOUR	0	T				
+						UOSED?	2	F				
ŧ						SOGENM	1	T				
+						E1TDPW	2	E				
÷						52HDBM	?	F				

53T* P	1 2	T
с цн» р	2	т
EST III	TRA	Ţ
FACAP	G	Ţ
באויטיובע	Y 1	T
FATIN	Y 1	τ
FOCHE	ר <u>1</u>	Т
FOAFT	1 1	F
F1CF	2	T
625L0	TF	
F3NDL	NY 2	Ţ
E4INC	n	F
AFIDT	1	I
FODIT	0	F
FTIM	2	F

+ + +

+ + +

++

+ + +

+ + + +

EVENTE 3 FXNGELOUS DECIM (1) EXAS: (2) (Hanp(3)a ENDOGETIONS GEH PATAP LAD TOFE FTIP CHO IR PRIMIT ENDS CHIP END EVENT LIST

EXAMPLICITE OF PECTA DO TO 1, FOP EACH O T CREATE GEN STOPE I IN OP(GEN) STOPE GEN I'L GENN(I) CALL PMD(\*\*INITR,\*P) LFT T=TIME-LAMBD(I, THOUR) \*ALOG(1.-P) CAUSE SEN AT T LOOP CPFATE ENDS CAUSE ENDS AT TEND CREATE CHOUR CAUSE CHOUR AT TIME+1. IF CAP GT D, GO TO 2 WRITE ON TAPE 6 FORMAT (111,520, HOURLY THROUGHPUT) 1/1 HOUR RUNWAY +, SE, +LANDINGS TAKEOFFS TOTAL +/) RETIRIE WRITE ON TAPE 6 FORMAT (111, S2G, HOURLY THOOUGHPUT, S9, HOURLY DELAY PER AIRCRAFT! 1/1 HOUR RUNWAY + SS, ILANDINGS TAKEOFFS TOTAL + SS, 21LANDINGS TAKEOFFS ALL!/) RETHINS END REGIN

1

2

```
3
       IF Q(K,1) IS NOT EMPTY, GO TO 4
      CPEATE MXTOP
      LET RHAY (NXTOP) =
      CAUSE MYTOP AT TIN(FLT)
С
С
      OR LAND (I=2) ON PUNWAY K.
      FILE FLT I'L Q(K,I)
4
      RETURN
      END GEN
      EYOGENOUS EVENT EXAEN
      EXGEN GENERATES FYPLICIT DEPARTHRES AND ARPIVALS
C
      SAVE EVENT CARD
      CREATE FLT
      READ IFKFIT
      FORMAT (312)
      STOPE IT I'L TYPE (FLT)
      GO TO (1,2),I
      LET TIM(ELT)=TIME+CALIN(K)
 1
      GO TO 3
 2
      LET TI"(FLT)=TIME+FLYO"(IT,K)
      IF C(K,I) IS NOT SMPTY, GO TO 4
 3
      CREATE MIXTOP
      LET PHAY(NXTOP)=K
      CAUSE MYTOP AT TIN(FLT)
 4
      FILE FLT J'L O(K, I)
      RETURN
      END
```

```
ENDOGENOUS EVENT SEN
      GEN SEVERATES LANDINGS AND TAKEOFES AND
С
      ASSIGNS ATTRIBUTES TO THEM.
С
      OP(GEH) IS 1- TAMEDEE , OR 2-LANDING
C
      STORE OP (GEN) IN I
      GEN SCHEDULES ITSELF TO OCCUR AGAIN AFTER A TIME INTERVAL
C
      DEPENDING ON THE RATE OF OPERATION.
C
      CALL PHD(**INITR,*P)
      CAUSE GEN AT TIME-LAMED (I, THOUR) * ALOG(1.-R)
      CREATE FLT
      LFT IT=PTYPE(I)
      STOPE IT IN TYPE (FLT)
      LET K=PRWAY(I,IT)
      GO TO (1,2),I
      TIN(FLT) IS THE TIME A FLIGHT IS AVAILAPLE TO BEGIN FINAL
С
      DESCENT (FOR LANDIUGS) OR TO BEGIN TAXITNG TO RUNWAY (FOR TAKEOFF)
С
      CALTN IS A TIME LAG INTRODUCED IN TAKEOFFS, CORRESPONDING TO
С
С
      FLYON - THE TIME A LANDING TAKES TO FLY FROM
      HANDOFE TO THE OUTER MARKED.
C
      LET TT'I(FLT)=TIME+CALIN(K)
1
      GO TO 3
      LET TIM(FLT)=TIME+FLYOM(IT+K)
2
      Q(K,I) - IS THE QUEUE OF PLANES WATTING TO TAKEOFF(I=1),
```

FUNCTION PRHAY(I,M) PRHAY CHOOSES A PUMWAY FOR EACH FLIGHT ACCORDING TO CREYL - THE CUMULATIVE DISTRIENTION OF PRWYL (SEE PREPROCESSOR) OR CPWYT - SAME AS CRAYL FOR TAKFOFFS. CALL SUD(\*\*INITR,\*P) DO TO 3. FOR FACH PW J GO TO (1,2),I IF R LE CRNYT(M, J), GO TO H 1 GO TO 3 IF F LE CRWYL(M. J), GO TO 4 2 3 LOOP LET PRMAYED 4 RETURN END PRHAY

C PTYPE CHOOSES AN ATROPAGET TYPE FOR FACH FLIGHT ACCORDING TO C CTYPE - THE CUMULATIVE DISTRIBUTION OF A/C TYPES IN THE MIX. CALL PUD(\*\*INITR,\*P) DO TO 1, FOR EACH TYP J IF R LE CTYPE(I,J), GO TO 2 1 LOOP 2 LET PTYPE=J PETURN END PTYPE

FUNCTION PTYPE(I)

С

C

С

	ENDOGENOUS EVENT NYTOP
	DIMENSION IRW(29)
	NXTOP DECIDES WHICH OPERATION WILL BE SCHEDULED NEXT
2	ON EACH PUNHAY.
	STORE RWAY (MXTOP) IN K
	DESTROY MYTOP
	LET KRU=INDX(K)
	IF KRY EG D. RETUR!!
	IF MERT(KPW) HE U. PETHRN
	IF LAST (KRW) GT USAOP (KRW), LET LAST (KRW)=1
	IF OPEP(KRV) EO 4, LET LAST(KRW)=1
	LET IT=LAST(KRV)
	LET IEND=II
	LET T * 1=999999
	LET IMJUEO
L	LET K=SORW(KRW,II)
	LET I=SOOP(KRW,II)
	FIND FIRST, FOR EACH FLT IN O(K,T), IF NOME, GO TO 2
	STOPE FLT IN F
	LFT T=FREFR(K,I,F)
	IF TIM(F) LF T. 60 TO 3
	IF T GT THM: GO TO 2
	LFT TerteT
	LET IVINEIT
	STORE F I'L MAF
2	LFT II=II+1
	IF II ST MSOGP(KPW), LFT II=1
	IF II ME IEND, GO TO 1
	60 TO 4
3	LET I THEII
	STORE E IN ME
ł	TE TWILLED DE REIDER
	LET I=SOOP(KRW, IVIN)
_	
2	
	STORE K IF RUAT(TOPP)
	CAUSE FOFF AT PAT
2	CREATE LAND
	STORE & IN OWAY (LAND)
•	CAUSE LAND AT IMP
1	
	LET VOULTNOV(V)
	TE AND TE OF(K.T). PETHON
	$1 \in T$ $O \in (K \cdot T) = 0$
	LET NINENSOOP(KRW)
	LET MUJER

C C



LET ISSOP(KEM.J) LET KESOPH(KPU,J) IF OF(K, I) ME O, PETURN IF MRS FO D. GO TO O DO TO A, FOR MM=(1)(MPN) IF K FO TRY(NMA), GO TO 10  $\hat{n}$ LOOP LET MRHEMRH+1 9 LET IRW(MRM)=K LOOP 10 LET T=TMD+.0001 00 TO 11, FOR I=(1) (MP+) CPEATE COIP STORE IRW(I) IN RMAY(COIR) CALISE COIR AT T 11 LCOP RETURN END HATOP

DC TO 10, FOR J=(1)(NI')
FUNCTION FREER(K+I+FLT) FREER CALCULATES THE FIRST TIME AT WHICH FLIGHT FLT CAN PERFORM С С OPERATION I ON RUN AY K WITHOUT VIOLATING SEPARATION RULES. DIMENSION TR(25) LET J=0 LET TETIME IF TIM(FLT) GT T, LET TETIM(FLT) LET METYPE(FLT) LFT FREFRET IF 1 50 2+ 60 TO 4 IF EPTI(K) IS EMPTY, RETURN EPTT(P) IS THE SET OF 'TIEUPS' FOR THE END OF THE RUNWAY K. C с с A TIEVE IS A TIME INTERVAL DURING WHICH NO TAKEOFE MAY OCCUPY THE END OF THE RUNEAY DUE TO INTERFERENCE FROM OTHER AIRCRAFT. IFT TEVETDUTU(V) ¢ TOMIN IS A TIME LAG INTRODUCED INTO THE SCHEDULE OF A TAKEOFF С CORRESPONDING TO THE TIME IT TAKES A LANDING TO FLY FROM THE OUTER MARKER TO TOUCHDOWN. IT MAY BE LOOSELY THOUGHT OF AS C TAXIING TIME. С DO TO 3, FOR EACH TIEUP IN FRTI(K) LET TTETVAY (TIEUP) = TEM Ċ THE END OF THE TIFUE, I.E. THE TIME WHEN THE END OF THE RUNWAY BECOMES FREE, IS DISPLACED BACKWARDS TO GIVE THE TIME WHEN C THE TAKEOFE MAY PERIN TAXI. IF TT LS T , GO TO 3 LET J=J+1 LET TR( J)=TT 2 I GOP GO TO 12 4 IF CMTI(K) IS EMPTY, GO TO B OTT IS THE SET OF TIFUES FOR THE OUTER MARKER. C UP TO 5, FOR EACH TIEUR IN ONTI(K) LET TT=TVAY(TIEUP) IF TT LS T , SO TO 5 LFT J= J+1 LET TP(J)=TT 5 LCOP P IF THIT (K) IS EMPTY, SO TO 12 LET TEMENOM(K)/VLAND(M) THTI IS THE SET OF TIFUPS FOR THE THRESHOLD OF THE RUNWAY. С DO TO OF FOR EACH TIFUP IN THTI(K) THRESHOLD TIEURS ARE DISPLACED BACKWARDS TO GIVE THE TIME THAT C THE LIDTIG MAY PASS THE OUTER MARKER. C LET TISTUAX (TIFUP) - TEM IF TT LS T , GO TO 9 LFT J= 1+1 LFT TO(J)=TT  $\mathbf{C}_{\mathbf{i}}$ LOOP 12 IF J SO A. RETURN LET FREERITR(1) IF J FA 1, PETUR'. FREER IS SET EQUAL TO THE END OF THE LATEST TIEUP, WHEN THERE IS 0 C NO LONGED ANY INTERFERICE. DO TO 21, FOP JU=(1)(J) IF TR(UU) GT FREER, LET FREFRETR(UU) 21 LOOP RETUP

END FREEK

ENDOGE JOUS EVENT LAND LAND CREATES ALL THE ITIEURS! WHICH RESULT FROM AN AIRCRAFT LANDING. STORE RWAY(LAND) I'K IF O(K,2) IS NOT E"PTY, GO TO 9 WRITE ON TAPE 6, TIME,K FORMAT (1 AT TIME 1, M3.2.2.52, LANDING OUFUE FOR PUNWAY 13.52. IS EMPTY!) 1 STOP 0 C FIND THE LANDING TO BE ISCHEDULED! AND STOPE ITS ATTRIBUTES. REMOVE FIRST FLT FROM Q(K,2) STOPE FUT IN FU LET METYPE(FL) LFT V=VLAND(M) LET T = FREER(K, 2, FL) LET TO=T+DOM(K)/V TIE UP THRESHOLD TO LAMDING AIRCRAFT FROM TOUCHDOWN TIME UNTIL С AFTER PUNWAY OCCUPANCY TIME HAS ELAPSED. С CREATE TIFUP LET TOIN(TIEUP)=TO LET T AX (TIFUP)=TO+ROTH (M) FILE TIFUP IN THTI(K) CREATE ETTUP STORE K I'L RWAY (FIIUP) STARE 2 IN PT(FTIUP) CAUSE STIUP AT TMAX (TIFUP) TIF UP END OF RUNWAY TO DEPARTING AIRCRAFT FROM TOUCHDOWN UNTIL C С AFTER PURNAY OCCUPANCY TIME HAS ELAPSED. CPEATE TIEUP LET TVIN(TIEUP)=TD LET THAX(TIEUP)=TO+ROTL(M) FILE TIEUP IN ERTI(K) CREATE FTIUP STORE " IN EWAY (FTJUP) STOPE 3 IN PT(FTTUP) CAUSE ETTUP AT TWAY (TIEUP) FIND THE FOLLOWING PLANE IN THE LANDING QUEUE С AND STORE ITS ATTRIBUTES. С FIND FIRST, FOR EACH FLT IN Q(K,2), IF NONE, GO TO 11 STORE FLT IN F LET M"=TYPE(F) LET SEVEAND (MM) CREATE A TIFUP WHICH WILL MAINTAIN PROPER RADAR SEPARATION С С RETWEEN APPIVING AIRCPAFT. CPEATE TIEUP JE S GE V. GO TO 20 IF THE LANDING SPEED OF THE PLANE PEING 'SCHEDULED' IS GREATER THAT THAT OF THE FOLLOWING PLANE, TIE UP THE OUTER MARKER FROM 000 THE TIME THE FIRST PLANE PASSES THE OUTER MAPKER UNTIL THE TIME IT TAKES THE SECOND TO FLY THE SEPARATION DISTANCE HAS ELAPSED. LET TITH(TTEUP)=T LET T AX(TIFUP)=T+SEPLL(M, MM)/S FILE TIEUP TH OMTI(K) CREATE STIUP STOPE V TH RWAY (FTTHP)

C

C

С C

STOPE 1 IN PT(FTIMP) CAUSE ETIUP AT THAY (TITUP) GO TO 11 IF THE LANDING SPEED OF THE FOLLOWING PLANE IS GREATER, TIE UP C THE THRESHOLD FROM TOUCHDOWN OF THE FIRST UNTIL THE TIME IT TAKES С C THE SECOND TO FLY THE SEPARATION DISTANCE HAS ELAPSED. 20 LET THITH (TIEUP) = TD LET TAAY (TIEUP)=TO+SEPLL (M, MM)/S FILE TIEUP IN THIL(K) CPEATE ETIUP STORE & IN EWAY (ETIUP) STORE 2 IN PT(FTIUP) CAUSE ETTUP AT TMAY(TIEUP) CPEATE A TIEUP WHICH WILL MAINTAIN PROPER SEPARATION BETWEEN C THIS LANDING AND A TAKEOFF ON THE SAME PUNWAY. C FIND FIRST, FOR FACH FLT IN Q(K,1), IF MONE, GO TO 2 11 CREATE TIEUP LET THAX(TIEUP)=TO STORE FLT IN F LFT MIN=TYPE(E) LET S=VTOFE(MM) LET T'I!!(TIEUP)=T+(DO''(K)=(SEPTL+.5\*V\*\*2/S\*ROTT(MM)))/V 101 FILE TIEUP IN EPTI(K) CREATE FTINP STOPE V IN RWAY (FTIUP) STORE 3 IN PT(FTIUP) CAUSE FILLE AT TMAX(TIFUE) IF "PT(K) E0 0, 60 TO 10 2 NOW CREATE TIEUPS ON OTHER RUNWAYS, IF SUCH INTERFERENCE EXISTS. C 00 T0 3 F09 J=(1)(PT(K))CREATE TIEHE С KK IS THE RUNWAY AFFECTED. LET KK=PRT(K,J) IT IS THE TYPE OF TIEUP TO PE CREATED. С TIFUP TYPES 1, 2, AND & APPLY TO LANDINGS. C LET IT=TPT(K,J) GO TO (3,4,6,6,6,5), IT CREATE A TIEUP TO MAINTAIN INTER-APPIVAL SEPARATION. С 3 FIND FIRST, FOR FACH FLT IN Q(KK+2), IF NONE, GO TO 6 STOPE FLT TH F LET MMI=TYPE(F) LET SEVLAND (MM) IF 5 GE V. GO TO 325 LET THIM(TIFUP)=T LET THAX (TIEUP)=T+SEPLL (M, MM)/S LET JJ=1 GO TO 7 325 LET TMIN(TIEUP)=TD LET THAX (TIEUP)=TD+SEPLL(M+MM)/S LET JJ=2 GO TO 7 CREATE A TIEUP TO "AINTAIN DEP/ARE SEPARATION. С 4 LET THAX(TIEUP)=TO 425 FIND FIRST , FOR EACH FLT IN Q(KK,1), IF NONE GO TO 6 STORE FLT IN F LET MULTYPE(E) LET S=VTOFF(NM) LFT TPIN(TIEUP)=T+(DOM(K)-(SEPTL+.5\*V\*\*2/S\*POTT(MM)))/V

END LIND

450	LET JJ=3		
	GO TO 7		
C	TIE UP THE END OF AM INTERSECTING PUNWAY TO TAKEOFFS	S AND	LANDINGS
С	UNTIL AFTER THE LANDING PASSES THE INTERSECTION.		
5	LET TMIN (TIEUP) =TD		
	LET A=(VTAXI-V)/ROTL(M)		
	LET TEM=.5*A*ROTL(M)**2+V*POTL(M)		
С	IF THE LANDING WILL NOT REACH THE INTERSECTION,		
С	TIE UP UNTIL THE LANDIUS TURNS OFF.		
	IF TEM LE DINT(K, KK), SO TO 51		
	LET R=V**2+2.*A*0I1T(K,KK)		
	LET TUP=TD+(-V+SORT(B))/A		
	GO TO 52		
51	LET THP=TD+ROTL(M)		
52	LET TAAX(TIEUP)=TUP		
	FILE TIFUE IN THTI(KK)		
	CPEATS FTIUP		
	STORE KK IN RWAY(FTIUP)		
	STORE 2 IN PT(FTIUP)		
	CAUSE FTIUP AT TMAY (TIFUP)		
	CREATE TIEUP		
	LET THIN(TIEUP)=TD		
	LET THAY (TIEUP) = TUP		
	LFT JJ=3		
	60 TC 7		
E	DESTROY TICUP		
	GO TO 3		
7	GO TC(701+702+703)+JJ		
701	FILE TIFUE IN OMTI(KK)		
	GO TO 705		
702	FILE TIFUE TO THII(KK)		
, .	GO TO 705		
703	FILE TIPUP IN ERTI(KK)		
705	CREATE FILUP		
	STORE KK IN RWAY (FTTUP)		
	STORE JU I   PT(FTIUP)		
	CAUSE ETILO AT TMAX (TICHP)		
<u>F</u>	LOOP		
10	CREATE MIXTOP		
	STORE & IM RWAY (MYTOP)		
	LET KK=INDY(K)		
	LET NEXT(KK)=0		
	CAUSE NATOP AT T		
С	DTEM IS THE DELAY ENCOUNTERED BY THIS LANDING.		
	LET DTEM=(T-TIN(FL))*60.		
	IF TO LS THEG, GO TO 50		
	CREATE PPINT		
С	STORE DATA TO BE RECORDED AT TOUCHDOWN.		
	STORE DIFM IN DLAY (PRINT)		
	STOPE K IN PWAY(PRINT)		
	STOPE ? IN OP(PRIMT)		
	CAUSE PRIMT AT TO		
50	DESTENY FLT CALLED FL		
	LET LAST(KK)=LAST(YK)+1		
	DESTROY LAND		
	2 CTUR -		

ENDOGENOUS EVENT TOFF TOFE OPEATES THE TIEUPS RESULTING FROM AN ATROPART TAKING OFF. STORE RWAY (TOFF) IN K DESTROY TOEF IF G(K,1) IS EMPTY, GO TO 16 FIND TAKEDEE TO BE SCHEDULED AND STORE ITS ATTRIBUTES. REMOVE FIRST ELT FROM O(K+1) STORE FLT IN FL LET M=TYPE(FL) LFT V=VTOFF(M) LET T=FPFER(K+1+FL) LET TO=T+TOMIN(K) TIE UP THE RUNWAY TO TAKEDEES AND LANDINGS FOR DURATION OF THE RUNWAY OCCUPANCY TIME. CPEATE TIEUP LET TVIN(TIEUP)=TO LET THAX (TIFUP)=TD+ROTT(M) FILE TIENP IN THTI(K) CREATE ETTUP STORE K IN RWAY (FTIUP) STORE 2 IN PT(FTTUR) CAUSE FTIUP AT TMAX (TIFUP) CREATE TIEUP LET TVIN(TTEUP)=TD LET T MAY (TIFUP) = TO+ROTT (M) FILE TIEUP IN ERTI(K) CPEATE ETIUP STOPE V IN RWAY(FTIUP) STOPE 3 IN PT(FTTUP) CAUSE FTIUP AT TMAX(TIEUP) FIND FIPST, FOR EACH FLT IN Q(K,1), IF NONE, GO TO 2 STORE FLT IN F LET MMETYPE(E) TIE UP THE END OF THE PUNMAY TO THE NEXT TAKEOFE LONG ENOUGH TO MALITAIN INTEP-DEPARTURE SEPARATION. THIS DEPENDS ON THE TYPES OF THE TWO AIRCRAFT. CREATE TIFUP LET TWIN(TIFUP)=TD LFT TMAY (TIEUP)=TD+SEPTT(M,MM) FILF TIFUP IN ERTI(K) CREATE ETTIP STORE K IN RWAY (FTIUP) STORE 3 IN PT(FTIUP) CAUSE FTIUP AT TWAY (TIFUP) FIMP FIRST, FOR FACH FLT IN O(K,2), IF NONF, GO TO 5 STOPE FLT IN F LFT S=VLAND(TYPE(F)) CREATE A TIEUP TO MAINTAIN DEP/ARR SEPARATION. CREATE TIEUP LFT THIM(TIEUP)=TD LET TMAX(TIEUP)=TD+(SEPTL+.5\*S\*\*2/V\*ROTT(M))/S 4 FILE TIFUE IN THTI(K) CREATE FTIUP STORE K IN RWAY (FTIUP) STOPE 2 IN PT(FTTHP) CAUSE STIUP AT THAY (TISUP) 5 IF "PT(K) E0 0, 90 TO 15

C

С

C C

C C

C

2

C

С	CREATE TIEVES OF OTHER PUNWAYS AS REQUIRED. DO TO 14, FOR J=(1)(NPT(K))	
	CREATE TIEUP	
С	KK - RUNWAY AFFECTED	
с	IT - TYPE OF TIEUP	
Č	ONLY TYPES 3, 4, 5, AND 6 APPLY TO TAKEOFFS.	
	LET IT=TPT(K,J)	
~	60 TO(12,12,6,8,8,10),IT	
C 6	CREATE A TIEUP TO MAINTAIN PECPER DEPLAPE SEPARATION.	
5	STORE ELT IN E	
	LET MATTYPE(F)	
	LET S=VLAND(MM)	
	LET TWIN(TIEUP)=TO	
	LET JUAZ TET TMAY(TIEHP)=TD+(SEDTL+,5*S**2/V*ROTT(M))/S	
	60 TO 13	
3	FINE FIRST, FOR EACH FLT IN 3(KK, 1), IF NONF, GO TO 12	
	STOPE FLT IN F	
· ·	LET MUTTYPE(F)	
C	LET TITU(TIEUP)=TO WARDINI' PROPER INTER-DEPARTORE SEPARATION.	
С	IF THE RUNWAYS ARE DEPENDENT, USE THE SAME SEPARATION AS FOR ONE	
С	RUNWAY, I.F. THOSE IN THE SEPTT ARRAY.	
~	LET THAY (TIEUP)=TD+SEPTT(M,MM)	
C	IF THE RUNWAYS ALLOW SIMULIANEOUS DEPARTURES WHEN THEY DIVERGED USE THE SEDADATIONS IN THE SEDA ADDAY	
L.	TE IT ED SHET TMAY(TIFUP)=TD+SFP2(M+MM)	
	LFT JJ=3	
	GO TO 13	
C	THE UP THE END OF AN INTERSECTING RUNWAY TO ALL OPERATIONS UNTIL	-
10	HET TAIN(TIFUP)=TD	
* ./	LET A =V/ROTT(M)	
	LET TEM=.5*A*ROTT(M)**2+V*POTT(M)	
ç Ç	IF THE TAKEOFE IS AIRBORNE BEFORE REACHING THE INTERSECTION,	
C	TIF UP ONLY UNTIL AIRBORNE. TE TER LE DINT(K.KK), CO TO 51	
	LFT B=V**2+2.*A*DINT(K,KK)	
	LET TUP=TD+(-V+SORT(B))/A	
	GO TO 52	
51		
52	ETTE TIEUP IN THII(KK)	î
	CPEATE ETIUP	
	STORE KK IN RWAY(FTIUP)	
	STORE 2 IN PT(FTIUP)	
	CREATE TIEUP	
	LET TWIN(TIEUP) =TO	
	LET T MX(TIEUP)=TUP	
1.2	DESTRIC TEUR	
1 -	GO TO 14	
13	GO TO(14,131,132), JJ .	
131	FILT TIFUP IN THII(KK)	-

GU TO 135 132 FILE TICHP IN ERTI(KK) 135 CREATE ETTUP STOPE KK I'L RWAY (FTTUP) STORE JU IN PT(FTT'P) CAUSE ETTUP AT THAY (TIFUP) 14 LOOP CPEATE MXTOP 15 STORE M IN RWAY (NXTOP) LET KK=IPDX(K) LET NEYT(KK)=0 CALISE "XTOP AT T DTEM - THE DELAY INCURRED BY THIS TAKEOFF LET DIEM=(TD-TDMIN(K)-TIN(FL))\*60. IF TO LS TREG, GO TO 50 CDEATE PPINT STOPE DATA TO BE PECORDED AT THE TIME THE TAKEOFE TURNS ON TO THE PUNWAY. ŧ STORE OTEM IN DIAY (PRINT) STORE K IN RWAY (PRINT) STORE 1 IN OP(PRINT) CAUSE PPINT AT TO 50 DESTROY FLT CALLED FL LET LAST(KK)=LAST(KK)+1 RETURN 16 WRITE OF TAPE 6, TIME, K FORMAT (' AT TIME ', D2.4, S2, TAKFOFF QUELE FOR RUNWAY 1, 13, S2, 1 IS F'PTY!) STOP

С

C

С

END TOFF

	TOUCHES DOWN OF TURIS ON TO THE RUNWAY, AS THE CASE MAY BE.
	STOPE RWAY(PRINT) IN K
	STOPE DLAY(PRINT) IN D
	STORE OP(PRINT) IN I
	DESTROY PRINT
	LET HORW(K,I)=HORM(K,I)+D
	LET HUPW(K,I)=HNPW(K,I)+1
	NTOFE AND BLAND ARE THE TOTAL NUMBER OF TAKFOFFS AND LANDINGS
	DUPING THIS HOUR.
	DELT AND DELL ACCUMULATE TOTAL DELAY ON TAKEOFES AND
	LANDINGS BY HOUR.
	LET IN=D/INC+1.
	IF ID GT NSLOT, LET ID=NSLOT
	IF TO LE OF LET ID=1
	LET NOLAY(IHOUR, ID)=NDLAY(IHOUR, ID)+1
	GO TO(10+20)+I
10	LET NTOFF(IHOUR)=NTOFF(IHOUR)+1
	LET DELT(IHOUR)=DELT(IHOUR)+D
	RETURN
50	LET MLAMD (THOUR) = MLAND (IHOUR) +1
	LET DELL(IHOUR)=DELL(IHOUR)+D
	RETURN
	END PATIT

PRINT RECORDS DATA ON FACH FLIGHT AT THE TIME IT ACTUALLY

30	REMOVE FIRST TIEUP	FROM	1
40	DESTROY TIFUP		
	RETURI		
	END FILLP		

ENDOGENOUS EVENT PRINT

ENDOGETIOUS EVENT ETTUP

- GO TO 40 30 REMOVE FIRST TIEUP EROM ERTI(K)
- GO TO 40 20 REMOVE FIRST TIEUP FROM THTI(K)
- FTIUP BEMOVES TIFUPS FROM THEIP SETS AND DESTROYS THEM WHEN SIMULATED TIME PASSES THE END-LIMIT OF THE TIEUP. STORE RWAY(FTIUP) IN K STORE PT(FTIUP) IN J DESTROY FTIUP GO TO(10:20:30);J 10 REMOVE FIRST TIEUP FROM OMTI(K)

С

С

0000

```
ENDOGENOUS EVENT CHOUR
     LET IHOUR=IHOUR+1
     IF IHOUR GT NH. LET IHOUR=1
     LET T=TIME+1.
     IF T LE TEND, CAUSE CHOUR AT T
     DO TO 1. FOR EACH O I
     STORE GENN(I) IN GEN
     CANCEL GEN
     CALL RHD(**INITR,*P)
     CAUSE GEN AT TIME-LAMBD(I, THOUR) * ALOG(1, -R)
1
     100P
     IF TIME LE TBEG, RETURN
     LET II=IHOUR-1
     DO TO 4, FOR EACH RW K
     LET NOPS=HNRW(K,1)+HNRW(K,2)
     DO TO 12, FOP EACH O I
     LET TMRW(K,I)=TMRW(K,I)+HMPW(K,I)
     LOOP
12
     IF CAP GT 0, GO TO 11
     IF K GT 1, GO TO 20
     WRITE ON TAPE 6, II,K, MNRW(K,2), HNPW(K,1), MOPS
     FORMAT (14,16,54,319)
     GO TO 22
     WRITE ON TAPE 6.
20
                       K+HNRW(K+2)+HNRW(K+1)+NOPS
    FOPMAT (54,16,54,319)
     GO TO 22
11
     LET TDEL=0.
     DO TO P. FOR EACH O I
     LET TOP (K, I)=TORW(K, I)+HOPW(K, I)
     LET TOFL=TOFL+HOPW(K,T)
2
     LOOP
     LET PITHNPW(K,1)
     IF B1 ST 9., GO TO 5
     LET D1=0.
     GO TO 6
5
     LET D1=HDRW(K+1)/B1
6
     LET B2=HDRW(K+2)
     IF 32 GT 0., GO TO 7
     LET D2=0.
     GO TO B
7
     LET D2=HDRW(K+2)/32
R
     LET B3=10PS
     IF 33 ST 0., GO TO 9
     LET D3=0.
     GO TO 10
Q,
     LET D3=TDEL/P3
10
     IF K GT 1, GO TO 21
     WRITE 21 TAPE 6, II,K,HNRW(K,2),HNRW(K,1),NOPS,02,D1,D3
     FORMAT (14,16,54,319,53,307.1)
     GC TO 22
21
     WRITE ON TAPE 6, K, HNRW(K, 2), HNRW(K, 1), NOPS, D2, D1, D3
     FORMAT (S4+16+S4+319+S3+3D7+1)
22
     DO TO 3, FOR EACH O I
     LET HORW(K,I)=0.
     LET HMRW(K,I)=0
     LOOP
3
     LOOP
4
     RETURN
     END CHOUR
```

```
READ THOX(K), CHGD(K)
      FORMAT (52,212)
      LOOP
 1
      DO TO 3, FOR EACH PW K
      DO TO 2, FOR EACH TYP J
      READ COMYT(J,K), COMYL(J,K)
      FORMAT (54,202.4)
      LOOP
 2
 3
      LOOP
      IE TINE LT TREEP GO TO 54
      LET TETIME-DIIM
      DO TO 53, FOR EACH RW K
      LET KPHEINDX(K)
      IF KRY LE D. GO TO 53
      LET NIM=NSOOP(KRW)
      LET 11=0
      LFT I2=0
      DO TO 51, FOR J=(1)(NIN)
      LET KK=SORW(KRW,J)
      IF KK HE K, GO TO F1
      LET IT=SOOP(KRW,J)
      IF II EO 1, LFT I1=1
      IF II FO 2, LET 12-2
      LOOP
51
      IF I1 50 9, 60 TO 52
      LET TIM(K,1)=TIM(K,1)+T
      IF 12 00 0, 60 TO 53
52
      LET TIM(K,2)=TIM(K,2)+T
53
      LOOP
      LET DITMETIME
54
      DO TO 63, FOR EACH RW K
      LET 05(K,1)=0
      LET GE(K, 2)=0
      LET II=INDX(K)
      IF II FO P. GO TO A3
      LET MH=MSOOP(II)
      DO TO 62, FOR J=(1)(NH)
      LET KK=SORV(II.J)
      IF KK ME K, GO TO 62
      LFT I=SOOP(II,J)
      IF Q(V,I) IS EMPTY, GO TO 62
      LET GE(K,I)=LQ(K,I)
      LOOP
 62
 63
      LOOP
```

EXOGENOUS EVENT CHGOP

DO TO 1. FOR EACH PW K

C INITIATES THE CHANGEOVER.

C THIS EVENT READS THE NEW OPERATING POLICY AND RUNWAY PREFERENCES AND

	STURE AVAILUDIET IS K
	IF CHGD(K) EO E, 60 TO 1
	CAUSE COIP AT TIME+AFIN(K)
	LET CHAD(K)=0
	RETUR
1	DESTROY COTR
-	LET KOMETHOX(K)
	TE KO CO OF DETUDN
	LET MONTH
	L = T = T = T = T
	TE OPER (VR.) LE (L. CO TO E
	DO TO 4. EOR T-(1) (NNI)
	I = T  V = C (P = (V = V = T)
	TE MD. EC N. GO TO 3
	$1^{-1}$ $P_{1}^{-1}$ $P_{2}^{-1}$ $P_{2}^{$
<i>n</i> ,	IP KK 10 IRA(D)) GO IC 4
2	
J	
	Field That (Mission) TKR
4	L009
6	DO TO 5, FOR KK=(1)(MRN)
	LET KEISH(KK)
	$\Gamma EI I DX(K) = I M DX(K)$
	LET T' $\nabla \chi(Y) = 0$
<u> </u>	LOOP
	KETHEN.
	E DI CITS

ENDOGENOUS EVENT COTR DIMENSION IPU(20)

IF KP FO 9, GG TO 100 IF OPED (KRY) LE 5. GO TO 77 LFT HITSONP(KDV) DO TO 72, FOR I=(1)(MI'!) LET KK=SQR%(KRM,I) DO TO 71, FOP FACH O II IF OF (KK, II) NE P, GO TO 100 71 L000 72 LOOP 73 IF CHED(K) OT P, OD TO 00 74 LFT INDY(K)=THEY(K) LET TOX(K)=0 -30 TC 100 80 CREATE CEIP STORE K IN PWAY(C)JP) CAUSE COIP AT TI TE 100 LOOP RETURI ENF CEOOP

00 TO 100, ECO FACH RUN 70 LET M. =TUDY(K)

FORMAT (101//10FINAL RANDOM NUMPER SEED 1,012) LET T=TIME-DTIM DO TO 53, FOR FACH RUK LET KRW=INDX(K) IF FRY LE AF GO TO 53 LET MIMENSOOP(KRW) LET I1=0 LET IPEN DO TO 51, FOR J=(1)(NTM) LET KK=SCRW(KRW,J) IF VK ME K. GO TO SI LET II=SOOP(KRW,J) IF II EO 1, LET 11=1 IF II 50 2, LET 12=2 51 LOOP IF 11 EO 0, GO TO 52 LET TIM(K,1)=TIM(K,1)+T 52 IF 12 ED 0, GO TO 53 LET TIM(K,2)=TIM(K,2)+T 53 LOOP WRITE ON TAPE 6 FORMAT ( 11SUMMARY REPORT FOR THIS PUN!//) WRITE ON TAPE 6 FORMAT (S5, TOTAL THROUGHPUT !// 1 SA, TRUNKAYI, SA, TOPERATIONS PEPFORMEDI/S19, LANDINGS TAKEOFFS! 2 S4 . TOTAL ! / ) LET MUANDED LET MTOFE=1 DO TO 1. FOR EACH PH K LET MUNNERMLAND+THRW(K.2) LET MTOFE=MTOFE+TMRW(K,1) LET NOPS=THRW(K, 2) +TNRW(K, 1) WRITE ON TAPE 6, K, TNRW(K, 2), TNRW(K, 1), MOPS FOPMAT (S10, 11, 54, 3110) LOOP 1 LET NOPS=MLAND+MTOFE WRITE ON TAPE 6, MLAND, MTOFF, NOPS FORMAT (S9, 'TOTAL ', 3110///) WRITE ON TAPE 6 FORMAT (55, 'AVERAGE HOURLY THROUGHPUT!// 1 SB, PUNMAY, SP, POPERATIONS PEPEORMEDI/S19, LANDINGS TAKEOFES! 2 S4, TOTAL!/) LET THP=TEND-TREG LET TEAMDED. LET TROFF=0. DO TO 2. FOR EACH PW K LET TITTNRW(K,1) LET TROFF=TTOFF+T1 IF TIV(K,1) GT 0.0, GO TO 7 LET TI=0. 60 TO 2 7 LET T1=T1/TIM(K.1) F LET TO=THPW(K+2) LET TEAMDETLAME +T? IF TI ((V, 2) GT 0.0, GO TO 0

ENDOGENOUS EVENT ENDS WRITE ON TAPE 6, INTER

	GO TO 10	
Q	LET $T_2 = T_2/T_{M}(K_{12})$	
1.0	LET T=T1+T2	
	WRITE ON TAPE 6, KITZITIIT	
	FORMAT (S10, 11, 54, 308, 1)	
2	100P	
· ~	LET T=(TLAUD+TTOFE)/THE	
	LET TLANDETLAND/TH?	
	LET TTOFE TTOFE / THP	
	WRITE ON TAPE 6. THAND. TTOEF.T	
	ECRIMAT (59. TOTAL 1.51. 308.1///)	
	TE CAPIE 1. GO TO 4	
	WEITE OL TAPE 6	
	ECRMAT (55. AVERAGE HOURLY DELAY!//	
	1 SEATDENNAY ASTA TOPLAY (MINITES) / SIQ. HANDINGS	TAKENEECTACILA
	2 ITOTALI/)	TAKEDERSTROPP
	$\frac{1}{10} = \frac{1}{10} $	
4.4		
11		
12	LET 12-10P2(K)2)	
	$17 11^{(0,0)} (1,0) (1,0) (1,0) (0$	
9 7	$\int \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 + 1}} \int $	
1.2		
1.4		
	$ \begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} \\ \\ \end{array} \end{array} \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \\ \end{array} \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \\ \end{array} \\ $	
7	FOR AAT (510#11#54#508+1)	
5		
	WITTE OUT TAKE BY MEANDIDIDEEPT	
	FOR AT (SG, TOTAL', S1, 308, 1///)	
	UD TO ST FOR EACH H I	
	DC TO SEFOR EACH SLOT J	
-	L(I) = IOI(J) = IOI(J) + MOLAY(I,J)	
2		
0		
1.	CTOD CTOD	
4		
	F. (1) F. (1)2	

LET TOTO.

¢	° D	P.Y.	р. ОVFP 50 5	 	* 2	α	۵	* ° * * *	°°°
		¢	55-60	* * *				*	
			Rn55	* * *				* *	
			45-50	***				* *	ης ηουτ
	0		40-45	***				*	L HALF
	нон т		35-40	**				* *	LH9IA J'
	TECCRY		30-35	***				*	Ĺ
	PELAY CI		25-3n	***				* *	
	EACH F	ίF.Ω	50-52	* * *				* * *	
	part tr	S TELAY	15-20	* * *				* *	
	OF ATRO	111 <sup>1</sup> 11.	13 <b>−</b> 15	* * *				* * *	
	c_5MHs		C 6-10	* * *	((()))			* * *	
•	L. It OFILE	×	С 0-05 . У	*	(NOLAY ()	× •	>	* * * * * *	
ыт 936. stoт J	931. NELAY PP		933. 10 DELAY 934.	*** 0.45	14	236.	037.	*** 0.45.	аза. ЧАЦЕ ОТ
PORT NU			HOUL	**	1		R F CH	UTAL	LFFT

#### APPENDIX F

#### PROCESSING THE LGA TRAFFIC INPUT DATA

In Chapter 2 of this report we discussed a run of DELCAP using traffic schedule data from [3] together with actual runway-use information from the CATER data. These two data sources were matched, and the discrepancies noted were resolved to the extent possible. Figure F.1 records those errors, inconsistencies and mismatches which were found but could not be reconciled. 1

Three flights identified as TWPCK were listed among those scheduled, but were rejected because their flight identification numbers had incorrect form (correct form is two alphabetic characters followed by 3 or 4 numeric characters). We were unable to discover anything further about the identity of these flights, although it is speculated that they are TWA pilot check flights.

Three flights had a discrepancy between a scheduled aircraft type and the type actually used. Two Eastern flights scheduled for heavy aircraft actually used category 3 aircraft, and one Air New England flight scheduled for a light aircraft actually used a category 3. In all three cases, the actual type used was input to the model.

A total of 43 flights were not matched. Of this total, 24 are National flights which were scheduled but did not occur because of a strike by National employees. This left unexplained a total of six scheduled flights which did not actually occur, and 13 flights which occurred but were not among the list of those scheduled, amounting altogether to an error in less than 3 percent of all the scheduled flights.

A list of all flights, arrival/departure designator, aircraft type, runway used, scheduled and actual operation time is given in Figure F.2 at the end of this appendix in order of actual operation time. All times are in Greenwich Mean Time (GMT), and since local time on October 25th was Eastern Daylight Time, one can obtain local time from GMT by subtracting 4 hours.

Several other problems in reconciling the two data sets were encountered and overcome. The schedule data, being computer output, had a fixed format: 7-character flight ID, two leading alphabetic characters, followed by a zero and 4 trailing numerics. The CATER data listed the flight ID with no extra zeroes between the alphabetic airline identifier and the numeric flight code. In addition, airline identifiers for suburban carriers are not the same in the two sources. For instance Air New England is ANE in the CATER data and NE in the schedule data, Command Airways is CMD in CATER and DD in the other, and Catskill Airways is CSK in CATER and KF in the schedule data.

## FIGURE F.1

### Inconsistencies in Two Data Sources

ERROPS IN SCHEDULED TRAFFIC THOUT DATA ARE STARPED

5	*TWPCK	1300	*	۲
G .	*TWPCh	1655	Α	
5	*TNPCV	1439	n -	٦

AIRCRAFT TYPE INCONSISTENCY. SCHEDULED TYPE IN PAPENTHESES.

1

EA0414	442	417	Α	3(1)	20
ME1448	1335	1320	٢)	3(2)	13
EA0011	142?	14,00	D	3(1)	13

732 SCHEDULE: OPERATIONS READ OF HITCH 30 WEPE NOT MATCHED 715 CATER OPERATIONS OF "HICH 13 WERE NOT MATCHED

FLIGHTS NOT	FOULD
-------------	-------

IN THE	SCHEDUL	E DATA			ІН ТН	E CATER	DATA	
MA0605	18	Δ.	.3					
				020261	24	٨	2	31
				C*2600	43	Δ	2	31
MA0611	100	7	1					
1A0605	100	5	2					
NA0612	413	2	3					
				442350	152	Γ	3	31
A0608	417	1	7					
DJ0729	420	<i>.1</i> .	7					
A0608	455	15	z					
C00001	1125	٩	3					
				EA0706	243	D	3	31
				EA2435	355		7	04
				E \7121	1132	Π	3	13
	1.7.5			UA0903	1206	n	3	13
A0143	1305	n.						
MAU055	1755	0	.) 7					
1A0055	1057		2 1					
1AUU92	141/	1	,	EA0122	1340	0	-2	1 7
01/04	1523	^	1	120122	1.540	{ •	0	10
- 110 T + +	1.76.7	/ \	,	1117218	1437	٨	3	22
· A0434	1535		z	UTELO	1401	, (		22
AL 0621	1547	1						
A0428	1550	T.	7					
				T::/0329	1553	0	3	13
A0141	1640	5	1					
"A0099	1650	<u>^</u>	5					
1.E1446	1735	n	-					
				EA7323	1716	Δ	3	22
110000	1807	1	1					
AL0677	1845	17	/					
1:A0405	1916	r	7					
-A0091	1920	n	1					
NA0129	2915		5					
IAU145	2128	Λ						
PA0094	2151	n D						
(AU143	22.31	, ,		NE 097/	224.9	٨	7	22
000601	2245	0	0	NE (1 O 1 H	CC40	, K	0	2.2.
140093	2300	0	1					
			L	NE2472	2354	D	3	31
14009J	2350	Δ.	1	· · _ 2_ · · · ·		*	-	~ -

Another difference between the two sets concerns the designation of the Eastern Air Shuttle flights. Each such flight appeared in the schedule data once with the symbol < as the final character in the ID. It appears in the CATER data as many times as there were sections of the flight. There were different numbering schemes in use for the shuttle flights in the two data bases, which required further hand reconciliation. All of these discrepancies were identified and standard formats decided upon, using the two-letter airline code from the schedule data and a four-digit, right-justified numeric flight code. Additional sections of the air shuttle were included as scheduled when they actually occurred. Differing shuttle numbering schemes were eliminated by an arbitrary choice of one coherent scheme. The result of these efforts is the list of 702 flights in Figure F.2.

# FIGURE F.2

# LGA Scheduled Flights Input to DELCAP

DETAILED	FLIGHT	OUTPU	T		
FLT TO	A/D	TYPE	RUMAY	SCHEDULED	ACTUAL
TW0465	Ð	7	31	2251	Ω
AA0350	D	٦	31	2255	1
AA0424	A	3	22	2300	1
AL0753	υ	٦	7.1	2210	2
AA0592	A	٦	22	2234	3
AL0757	L	3	٦1	2331	4
UA0422	A	3	22	2705	5
FA0024	Ð	3	31	2310	6
NE1442	D	7	31	2300	9
AA0296	Â	3	22	2305	8
11A0332	A	3	2.3	2323	10
FA1531	0	2	21	<u> </u>	11
EA2522	Δ	٦	25	12	12
AA0228		3	31	2330	12
TN0253	D	3	31	2340	1/1
TWORES	0	7	z	2345	16
ni 1996	ů.	3	2	2350	16
010053	n n	3	31	2330	17
	Δ	7	2	2350	17
AA0 130	~	2	2	2367	1.0
Tw04.00	FA E	7	7.5	2355	10
100533	U N	7	7 <u>1</u>	2055	1 -
EAUS41		z	ור	2205	20
AAUSIL	U		01	0700	~2
A40341	A	د ان	27	23013	20
ALU 301	U U	7	.51	2.545	24
EATDOD	J	 	.54	6	
EACIST	U	ר ד	51	24	26
EATIZS	A	) 7	27	25	20
UA0922	A	.) 7	32	2.151	27
EACISC	J	2	51	2770	27
100346	A	<b>ب</b>	22	2337	79
NW0224	A	ר ד	22	2451	50
EAU347	0	ා අ	51	2150	1
AAU273	A		22	2321	52
500719	U	-	3]		5.5
UAU796	A	5	22	2347	34
AAU200	Ă	.5	2:2	2240	36
AL0749	D	3	31	Ĵ	36
Nw0241	J	3	31	2	38
DL1248	А	3	2 July 1	2320	38
AAU259	D	3	31	2300	70
AL0498	A	3	2,	2355	39
T#0151	ن	3	31	5	40
FA2512	А	3	2.2	41	41
UA0424	A	*	2.2	2355	43
AA0:447	Ú -	٦	31	2330	45
EA1125	Λ	3	2	45	46

		7	-	-	4
UA0725	U U	2	* <u>1</u>	5	4.7
AAU227	J	*	×1	0	4.8
AA0104	A	1	22	5.4	48
TW0160	А	3	22	2340	50
DF0500	A	3	22	2340	51
AA0284	А	٦	22	2347	53
AA0545	H	3	22	0	55
AA0154	A	٦	22	2350	57
EA1131	A	٦	22	4 ~	59
TW0350	A	7	25	30	100
AA0526	A	٦	22	30	101
AA0401	U	3	31	n	101
AA0106	Ā	3	22	2013	102
FA1133	A	3	22	106	106
FA1543	.)	7	21	102	108
A40512	Δ	٦	2	46	108
FA2141	0	3	71	100	100
EA2604	р. Г.	-3	2	110	110
		3	71	114	110
EVUELE	0	7	.71	2340	1.1.1
		7	1	2.04	111
AL BUSI		7	21	/+ // ==	
ALUASI	0		01 01	97 10755	117
EAUUD2	А		20	∠05°	115
DEUZIS	A	ר ד	22	24	114
NCUOSE	A	5	22	50	116
EA0028	A	-	22	31	117
UAU3137	Ð	.3	71	55	119
AA0522	A	3	22	42	119
AAU345	A	3	2.	51	120
FA1141	A	3	2 .	14r	121
AA0251	U	3	٦1	20	121
AA0250	A	3	22	23	122
DL1205	Ũ	3	31	100	123
AA0129	D	3	31 .	2355	124
EA2531	A	3	22	53	124
AA0430	D	3	31	30	127
EA0100	A	3	02	24	127
UA0814	A	٦	22	51	129
AA0132	А	3	27	16	130
DL0200	D	3	31	้อา	130
TWO256	À	٦	2	2340	133
FA2:32	A	٦	20	135	135
TW0182	A	3	22	101	136
AAUSINA	A	3	22	102	138
NW0230	4	3	20	107	140
A A 0 31 1		3	31	30	140
AA05/15	D	3	31	100	140
FADUGA	0	ž	22	50	1/12
00000	0	2	74	2320	1/1-2
AL 0 647	A	2		50	1/17
TWO JUG	A	7	24	5.1	145
EN0240		.) 72	20	45	147
C.NED41	15	,	16	1.4	140

EAD016	н	٦	22	125	147
EA2142	C	.3	31	14-	148
AA0271	U)	7	31	3-	140
AA0146	А	3	21	54	150
AA0255	A	3	22	121	152
FA1541	0	3	3 1	100	153
EA0758	Ā	٦	2	2752	153
EA0540	А	3	2	132	155
000026	Ē.	2	22	55	156
AL 0.578	Å	3	22	120	157
Tx0476	Â	٦	52	127	158
R*I0006	<u> </u>	3	22	125	150
AL0-12	A	3	20	55	201
EA0415	63	1	31	100	202
EA1143	Ā	3	22	202	202
TV.0 554	A	3	22	132	204
AA0354	A	3	22	144	206
AA0479	i)	7,	31	115	208
EA2542	Λ	3	22	200	209
PI0015	Ð	٦	31	110	210
PI0056	Â	3	22	147	211
DL0307	ΰ	3	31	125	211
EA2151	D	3	31	200	213
TW0424	A	3	22	200	213
EA0417	Ð	3	31	100	215
AA0325	0	3	31	100	216
AA0550	A	3	22	214	219
DL0128	Δ	٦	22	200	223
FA2544	Ą	3	31	22/1	224
Tw0541	L	3	31	55	227
AL.0541	Ð	٦	31	155	228
AL0759	Ũ	.3	31	205	230
AL0547	Ð	٦	31	130	234
FA1545	i)	٦	31	234	235
AA0174	Ā	7	31	220	230
DL0321	4	3	22	230	243
UA0928	A	3	2%	237	245
AA0566	А	3	2	142	247
EA1151	À	3	22	241	250
EAU 197	J	3	3	125	250
DL0123	U	3	ρ.	24 2	256
EADG28	e)	٦	74	110	258
EA0421	U	3	04	210	311
AA0042	A	٦	0.4	٦10	317
ALUG24	A	3	04	314	327
EA0432	-	3	22	345	413
EA0414	Ā	3	22	417	442
FA0+16	А	3	22	417	448
010594	A	٦	22	1120	450
DL0594		7	22	45=	523

AA0842	Λ	3	20	310	702
FA2151	. 1	3	13	1100	1105
EALU(1	D D	3	13	1100	1107
A A D 1 71	D D	3	1.3	1100	1111
AAAAAX	1	3	13	1100	1111
DI 1015		3	1 7	1105	1113
	D	3	1 3	1100	1114
		3	1.5	11/15	1116
AA0441		3	1 3	110-	1117
AA04 7	0	3	13	1110	1119
EAU519	0	z	13	1120	1125
		3	13	1120	1127
EAUS97	D	3	1.5	1130	1135
P10057	()	, 7	15	1130	1130
AAU417	D	् र		1130	1170
AAUSST	U		10	1130	1170
AAU579	0	) 7	12	1130	11/0
AA0.397	A	<u> </u>	22	1158	1142
EALCOL	A	5	22	1140	1147
EAUURU	А	5	55	1150	1140
Tx0107	Ð	3	13	1140	1151
EA2401	A	.3	25	1145	1155
UA0411	D	3	13	1140	1153
DEDUUS	C	2	22	1145	1155
AL0909	υ	٦	13	1145	1155
FA1411	1)	3	13	1200	1157
NC0051	L)	<b>X</b>	13	1151	1158
Pethow S	A	1	2C	1156	1150
TWU303	U	3	13	1140	1200
EA0351		3	13	1150	1201
V40525	A	3	22	1152	1203
AA0125	U	3	13	1145	1203
AA05 *7	Ũ	3	13	1150	1204
DD0001	A	3	2S	1155	1204
EA2011	U	3	13	1200	1207
AA0410	Ā	3	22	1201	1219
UA0455	.)	7	13	1200	1209
AL0746	A	3	22	1210	1212
EA0101	J	3	13	1200	1212
AA0269	Ð	3	1 5	· 1202	1214
KF0107	A	2	22	1215	1215
EA1413	Ð	3	13	1216	1216
TW0517	D	3	13	1201	1217
DL05~5	А	3	22	1213	1217
AA0:577	A	3	22	1210	1220
4A0609	D	3	13	1200	1220
AL0752	А	3	22	1207	1222
EA2012	D	3	13	1222	1222
DL0138	A	Χ,	22	1154	1224
DL0219	Λ	3	22	1210	1226
NE 1:177	Α	2	25	1215	1228

٠

AA04 22	A	3	2°	1216	1230
KF0193	U	2	22	1250	1233
TW0467	• )	٦	13	1220	1233
TW0129	Ū.	٦	13	1220	1233
E40562	ند ند	-3	22	1225	1236
N=0 201		7	1 3	1230	1236
ACD. ( D	1	3	22	1007	1238
000042	24 1.1	7	22	1230	1211
00042	() ()	z	43	1030	12/11
AAUSL9	0	3	22	1005	1241
NEIBIL	A	- 2	2	1725	124)
NE1449	A	ر. ۳	24	1240	1240
EAUUED	L) -	) 7	10	124	1247
AAU275	D	2	13	1245	12/14
AL0053	D	5	13	1245	1250
T#0550	P.	7	22	1240	1251
NE1061	Ä	3	22	1231	1252.
T#0456	A	3	22	1240	1254
B110-101		3	13	1240	1255
AL0751	Ú	7	13	1251	1256
EA2411	13	3	20	125*	1256
Tw0315	Ĺ.	3,	13	1245	1257
AA0124	A	3	22	1247	1259
FAUSOL	12	٦	13	1221	1301
Tw0112	Ä	٦	22	1237	1301
11/09/17	()	3	1.3	1250	1302
FA1011	A	3	22	1246	1302
AL 0.562	4	z	22	1245	1304
NE0209		7	1.3	1250	1304
EADESS	0	7	22	1240	1306
T+0127	ř <b>n</b>	3	13	1250	1307
EA1/101	12	3	13	1300	1310
AAD350	<u>0</u>		22	1300	1310
AA0 00	13	z	13	1055	1312
000070	U		10	1701	131/
AA01-00	E C		• 2	1001	1315
AAU428	12	1	1.5	1745	1313
NE1476	D	7	34	1 101	1316
ALUGIS	A	7	2	1245	1315
EAZURI	ن ت		1.5	1 500	1317
EA1473	.)	5	13	1319	1319
DLU209	U	5	1.3	1310	1320
UA0325	Fi.	3	55	1300	1320
AAU432	J	3	1.3	1301	1321
AAU235	()	3	13	1300	1321
AA0529	D	1	13	1300	1322
EA1013	Ĥ	्र	22	132/	1324
NE1672	υ	3	22	1315	1325
PI0076	A	٦	20	1250	1325
AA0577	U	3	13	1255	1327
AL0442	A	3	22	1255	1328
NE1062	U	3	20	1320	1328

- 151 -

		~*			4 7
EAU504	А	5	22	1315	1329
AA044N	U	3	13	1300	1330
AA0265	A	3	22	1315	1333
NE14/40	9	3	1.3	1320	1.335
ALOUIN	A	3	22	1310	1336
DL0177	υ	٦	1.3	1325	1.337
AA0 398	A	3	22	1310	1338
TW0306	A	3	22	1327	1340
SOUDAA	A	٦	22	1320	1342
AA0451	Ð	7	13	1325	1.342
FA0741	. 0	3	13	1330	1344
FA0452	Â	3	22	1.3.34	1346
AL 0745	1)	3	13	1330	1346
EN2022	Δ	٦	22	1347	1347
EADSES	1)	3	13	1340	1349
TW0.073	0	7	13	1340	1350
T = 0 06	L'	7	22	1 7/1 1	1350
1 10 +00	4	7	22	1747	1351
ALOU IC	A	7	12	1705	1371
AL0435	0	ר	13	1,025	1350
EA2421	A	.) 7	22	1301	1055
EALUPI	A	<b>`</b>	22	1 * 5 0	1357
TN0420	A	5	22	1352	1350
DL0608	A	7	22	1315	1401
AA0 363	()	3	13	1345	1402
TW0319	Ð	74,	13	1345	1403
EA1431	C	*	13	140 2	1405
UA0900	A	3	22	1345	1407
AA0594	4	3	22	1347	1408
AL0442	IJ	3	13	1335	1409
AA0420	À	٦	22	1340	1410
AA0,229	0	3	13	1400	1411
A40564	A	3	22	1465	1412
TW0191	- 1)	٦	1 5	1345	1414
FA2031	D	3	13	1400	1415
ni 1915	í.	3	22	1400	1415
FALURS	G	3	22	1417	1417
A. 0245		3	13	1400	1417
AL 0495	Li I	3	13	1345	1419
500710	A	3	22	1400	1421
EA0011	1)	٦	1 2	1400	1422
EA1433	D	3	15	1424	1424
AA0303	6	3	13	1400	1426
	U		13	13/15	1427
	0	3	1.3	1755	1/130
NV 0 2 2 2	0	3	10	1/10/1	1/177
NW0202	A	72	17	1750	1/137
		7	00	1/205	1433
r Alorz	A	7	22	1421	1454
E.A.1.1.30	A	ر. حد ا	2	1441	1441
ENOTO	U	ר ד	10	1405	1442
PIVING	14	r		1100	1444

- 152 -

AA0573	D	٦	13	1430	1444
AA0442	A	3	25	1430	1446
TW0570	Ą	3	22	1445	, 1449
EA1031	<u>A</u>	٦	22	144*	1450
EA0892	A	3	22	1424	1452
A40272	А	3	22	1442	1453
EA0543	υ	3	13	1445	1453
NCOUSO	А	3	22	1450	1455
AA0.389	Ð	3	13	11130	1455
NWO200	A	3	22	1440	1456
TW0072	Δ	3	22	1450	1458
THORDS	- D	3	13	1000	1459
1.00.07.0	() A-	7	2	1/1/1/7	1/150
EA2021	A 0	3	20	1450	1500
C00713	/ <b>\</b>	7	13	1455	1507
500713	U	7	10	1455	1500
EAUISU	A	ن. ۲	22	1451	1574
EA1441	D	7	1.5	1504	1015
UA0340	A	ר ד	22	1455	1.506
UAU-911	0	5	13	1500	1508
P10072	A	3	22	1147	1508
UA0469	D	3	13	1505	1510
AA0298	A	3	22	1505	1510
AL0492	Å	3	25	1455	1513
TW0115	Э	3	13	1500	1515
UA0450	A	3	22	1517	1516
AA0257	υ	3	13	1500	1516
AA0413	D	3	13	1500	1517
AA0433	Ð	3	1.3	1500	1518
EA2041	Ċ	٦	13	1500	1519
A40221	A	3	55	1510	1521
DL1904	U	٦	13	1520	1523
Tw0.514	A	3	22	1520	1526
AA0142	A	3	22	1505	1529
DI 0709	Δ	3	22	1522	1530
AA9606	4	3	22	1522	1535
AA04112		3	13	1530	1536
100463		3	13	1530	1538
E12340		3	13	1540	15/10
	0	3	13	1 1 1 1 1	1540
FALUEL	0	3	10	1540	15/12
	1	3	20	15%0	1545
EAUTED	14	2	22	1535	1547
UA09114	A	ר ד	22	1000	1547
EA0150	υ.	ר ד	13	1501	1548
AAU233	Ú	.) 7	1.5	1540	15/18
100124	A	ר 	25	1546	1552
020-906	A,	7	25	1545	1553
ALU443	.)	ר ז	15	1545	1554
NWU207	D.	<u>,</u>	13	1540	1556
EALUS	*	-	25	1557	1557
NWUS12	1)	2	13	1550	1557
AAU302	A	5	22	1540	1601
AAU273	А	3	22	1601	1602
AA0239	Ð	3	13	1600	1602
AA0504	A	3	22	1545	1604

- 153 -

EA2441	A	3	22	155n	1605
NC0053	D	٦	13	1600	1606
EA0700	A	3	22	1550	1678
EA0050	A	3	22	1550	1610
FA2051	D	٦	13	1600	1610
FA1451	Ū.	3	13	1600	1611
FA0017	5	3	13	1600	1613
UA0-19	D	3	13	1600	1615
AAOUAS	A	3	22	160.9	1616
AA0221	0	٦	1.3	1600	1617
AA0:09	0	3	13	1600	1618
TW0171		3	13	1605	1620
AA0524	A	1	22	1621	1621
n1 0709	()	7	13	1610	1622
P10.79	D	3	13	1555	1623
DL0458	A	3	22	1607	1624
LIA0 355	0	3	13	1625	1628
FA0580	Δ	3	22	1625	1628
EA0102	2	3	20	1550	1631
AA0331	0	Ř	13	1620	163/
EAGUER	0	٦	2	1630	163/
DL0370	Ti -	7	2	1600	1635
EL0163		٦	1	1616	1636
		7	13	1630	1630
E72451	1.7	3	22	1650	1630
	A		4 7	1630	1640
Tw0 / 19	0	7	20	1600	1640
TWO STO	14	7	00	1626	1641
EALAR1	4N 7.		22	1640	164.5
EA4051 NC1667	A .	7	22	1675	1640
	A	3		1640	1650
070000	0		13	1640	1050
020909	U	7	13	104-	1.051
AA9211			10	1640	1054
	~	3		1450	16.77
Tw0516	A Ly	3	13	1645	1650
TW0515	0		1.5	1760	1650
AVUELD	A		20	1650	1701
AAU598	A	3 7	13	1647	1700
ANDORD	2	3	15	1647	1700
EA20C1		3	13	1700	1709
	U	3	• 3	1700	1710
	U K	3	10	1703	1711
EN20570	A .		22	1717	1713
EA402	A	3	17	1710	1710
111日11111	0	.) 7	13	1445	1714
100010	0	ר ד	1.5	1700	1710
TWOICI	0	7	17	1700	1710
TWOINI	5	7	10	1710	1710
AL 1024	A	7	2	1657	1700
AL U 19 1(1)	11	,		1000	

EA2062	U	٦	1.5	1720	1722
FA1463	ر	3	13	1723	1723
FA0545	L	٦	1 3	1651	1724
DI 0367	Ē.	3	1 3	1710	1725
1140913	4	3	22	1721	1725
T #0 302	Δ	3	22	1726	1720
EA0161			1 3	1705	1700
EA01 11	D	3	1 )	1700	1771
EA0219		7	1.5	1771	1770
	4	3	22	1/01	17.54
A40572	А	-	22	1844	1736
NE1053	= A	-	22	1710	1/37
EA0749	U	5	13	1730	1730
AA0414	A	3	22	1723	1740
AA0450	A	- 3	22	1731	1744
AA0082	U	্র	13	1730	1745
EA2461	A	3	21	1750	1746
AA0574	А	.3	22	1741	1748
AA0405	Ð	1	13	1735	1740
FA0536	.)	3	13	1740	1751
1140917	0	3	13	1745	1752
A & 1) 573	)		13	1745	1750
	0	3	13	1730	1754
AL DUE 7		2	4.3	1700	1700
ALOBA	D	7	10	1745	1757
AA0446	A	,	22	1737	1/5/
AAU 395	A	2	22	1746	1758
180337	5	-	13	174=	1/59
TW0512	A	5	22	1742	1800
EA0115	D	٦	13	175%	1800
TW0436	A	3	22	1754	1802
EA1471	O	<b>x</b>	13	1800	1804
DL0457	A	3	22	1754	1804
EA1061	A	3	22	1730 -	1806
EA2462	A	3	<b>2</b> 5	1807	1807
TW0125	Ŭ	3	13	1755	1808
TW0522	A	3	20	1755	1809
FA2071		3	13	1800	1810
NE1664	i	3	13	1750	1811
DL 0212	Δ	3	32	1746	1811
FA0021	11	3	13	1800	1813
ALBOOR	~	- X	22	1700	1813
	· A		20	1000	1010
EADSIG	A		. 7	1802	1018
AAUNAS	U	-	15	1800	1818
HNU(P)	U D	)	13	1900	1814
NE1674	0	5	13	1915	1820
AAU249	A	5	22	1200	1820
EA1063	Λ	3	55	1822	1822
AA0355	D	3	1.3	1000	1823
UA0826	Δ	3	22	1.9.1.1	1825

EA2072	D	7	13	1925	1825
EA0063	A	3	22	1815	1827
EA1473	C	3	13	1820	1828
EA1475	С	3	1.3	1831	1832
AA0431	А	3	22	1820	1835
AA0017	D	3	13	1830	1837
Tw03-6	A	٦	22	1826	1839
FA2471	A	٦	22	1P46	1842
NC0.152	A	٦	22	1840	1843
FA1071	Δ	3	22	1840	1845
AA0.335	.)	٦	13	1830	1847
EADOIG	A	3	22	1925	1847
DL0457	Ð	7	13	1840	1849
UA0378	А	ス	22	1847	1850
AA0173	Ð	3	13	1840	1851
AA0482	A	3	22	1843	1853
AL0935	υ	3	13	1030	1853
AL0758	A	3	22	1747	1855
UA0910	A	3	22	1943	1856
EA0574	D	3	1.3	1840	1858
EA2472	A	3	22	1850	1858
UA0374	A	٦	22	104F	1859
EA1491	U	3	13	1000	1900
FA2031	17		13	1900	1901
AA0454	Ā	3	22	1945	1901
TWOAR6	· A	3	22	1846	1903
TV:0.539	Ū.	.3	13	1945	1906
EA1073	Ā	3	22	1906	1906
AA0.564	Å	٦	22	1812	1908
AA0431	1)	3	13	1000	1909
FA2474	Ā	۳۹	22	1910	1910
FA0962	A	٦	22	1856	1911
AA0249		2	1.3	1900	1913
FADIES		3	13	1655	1915
AAOpra	4	3	22	1845	1916
FALLA3	1)	3	31	1022	1922
EA01o2	4	3	22	1911	1922
EA2082	D D	٦	31	1923	1923
AL0502	Δ	3	22	1855	1924
Tw0553	D	3	31	1001	1925
DL0178	A	3	22	1912	1926
0223		3	× 1	1910	1927
NW0222	A	3	22	1015	1928
AA0:301	1)	3	31	1015	1929
AA0326	Å	3	20	101/	1930
FA2084	5	3	72	1031	1931
TW0330	4	٦	25	1926	1933
AL0717	D	3	31	163	1934
EA2491	A	2	22	1940	1934
B110an4	Α	3	22	1920	1937

TW0255	D	3	*1	1000	1938
AA04 12	Ŭ	3	31	1030	1942
AA0558	А	3	22	1935	1944
EA1 aP1	А	3	22	1030	1946
A60304	A	3	22	1040	1952
AA0426	À	٦	22	1947	1953
FA1403	υ	3	31	1053	1953
TV:0475	Ū	٦	31	1035	1955
FA2432	4	3	22	105-	1955
AA0541		3	31	1935	1957
AA0455	Ū,	3	3	1030	1958
NE1445	A	3	22	1940	2000
NCONSS	L)	3	31	1940	2001
FA0748	Ă	3	22	1050	2003
FA2001	D	3	31	200r	2006
Tw0170	A	٦	22	1055	2007
AL0509	D	3	31	1045	2008
DL19(7	A	3	22	1050	2010
TW0343	D	3	31	1045	2012
PI0030	A	3	20	1040	2012
UA0403	D	3	31	1055	2013
FA1491	Ð	3	31	2000	2015
AA0025	A	3	22	2000	2015
FA0162	υ	3	3:	1955	2016
FA1035	Ā	3	23	2017	2017
UA0921	0	٦	31	2000	2018
UA0+15	U	3	31	2000	2020
EA2092	D	3	3:	2020	2024
AA0538	Â	٦	22	2016	2025
FA0365	D	3	31	2005	2026
Tv.0147	Ŭ	3	31	1950	2027
EA1495	Ū	٦	31	2020	2029
EA10-3	Ā	3	25	2030	2030
AA0305	L L	3	31	2000	2031
AA0175	D	3	31	2005	2032
EA1091	A	3	22	2040	2032
AA0326	D	3	31	1950	2033
EAD398	A	3	22	2016	2035
EA0547	A	٦	22	2025	2036
NW0235	D	3	31	2015	2038
UA0763	D	3	31	2010	2030
Tw0334	A	3	22	2026	2041
TW0144	A	٦	25	1950	2043
UA0650	А	3	22	2030	2045
EA2491	44	3	22	2050	2047
EA0577	D	٦	31	2015	2049
NE1444	D	٦	31	2030	2053
AA0251	А	3	22	2045	2055
UA0351	υ	3	31	2130	2057
AA0436	A	3	22	2047	2057

EADUPO	23	٦	<b>9</b> 2	2025	2058
EA1 303	Ð	3	31	2100	2100
NC0054	A	3	22	2040	2100
AA0375	D	3	31	2030	2106
AA0426	Ð	3	31	2030	2107
KE0116	A	2	22	2045	21.07
EA1003	Δ	3	22	2100	2100
nl 1996	1	3	31	2040	2100
DLASS	0	3	31	2040	2111
EA2000	^	3	22	2111	2111
EA2101	A Li	٦	71	2100	0110
	U C			2107	2112
AA0448	H	,	2.2	2030	2112
200321	A	2	2	2030	2114
AAU419	0	5	31	2045	2116
DL0120	í4	5	22	2040	2116
TW0347	Ð	5	31	2045	2118
UA0544	A	3	25	2101	2119
EA2494	A	3	22	2110	2119
TWOPA6	A	3	22	210/	2122
AA0549	0	3	31	2055	2123
PI0033	0	3	31	2100	2125
AL0506	A	3	22	2040	2125
BN0005	J	٦	31	2100	2127
AA0nh5	Ð	2	31	2055	2128
EA0053	U	3	31	2105	2129
000021	Ä	2	22	2025	2129
FA0544	A	3	2	2042	2131
EA1501		3	31	2100	2132
AA0 548	A	1	2	2053	2133
TWOPEL	Ď	3	31	2050	2135
AA0301	5	3	31	2100	2136
NWADDA	^	3	22	2120	2136
Tw0572	A .	٦	22	2040	2130
	A	, 3	24	2110	21/17
UAU 914	A	3 3	71	2100	2142
100103	U C	,	71	2100	C146
KFUI[/	U .		0.0	2121	2143
ALUB74	A	 	22	21.23	2143
EACSUL	A	् र	22	2157	2145
AL0760	A	2	22	2122	2147
EA2102	U	5	31	2141	2148
EA1101	A		22	2143	2149
EA0547	с L	3	31	2115	2150
AA0473	A	3	20	2111	2150
DF0551	O	3	31	2120	2152
EA2104	C	3	31	2153	2153
EA1103	А	3	22	2153	2153
DL0426	A	3	22	2123	2155
EA0397	D	3	31	213r	2156
PI0074	A	3	20	2112	2157
NE1441	Â	3	22	211	2202

		-			
AA9436	.)	3	31	2130	2205
AA0460	13	3	22	2117	2205
EA0759	A	3	25	2141	2206
UADSER	A	3	22	2152	2208
AA0261	0	٦	31	2125	2209
TW0338	Ä	3	22	2130	2210
UA0959	0	3	٦1	2127	2211
AA0270	Å	3	22	2145	2212
AA0530	A	1	22	2147	2213
TH0285	1)	٦	31	2130	2214
DUDOUG	E.	2	21	2055	221/1
TW0456	C.	3	20	2151	2216
F. 2502	1.	3	22	2101	2210
EAGDIZ	~	7	26	2017	2217
NEIDDO	A	2	22	2140	2219
EALSIS	D	ر. ح	51	2220	5550
AA0198	A	਼ੁ	22	1940	2221
ALU747	A	.5	22	1250	2225
EA2111	υ	3	31	2200	2226
NC0057	D	3	31	2155	2230
UA0712	A	3	:55	2200	2230
EA2504	A	٦	22	2232	2232
AL 0506	D	3	31	2130	2232
500717	0	3	31	2110	2234
DL0121	U	٦	71	2140	2236
AAO LOO	A	٦	22	2147	2236
UA0557	U	٦	31	2200	2237
FA1105	А	3	2.	2237	2237
EA0362	A	٦	22	2217	2239
FA1511	D	.3	31	2200	2240
DL0609	A	3	22	2203	2241
EA2112	D	3	71	2242	22/12
TWOUS6	ů.	3	22	2147	2243
AL 079	i.	3	71	2200	2211
THUSEL	:)	7	7.1	21/15	2244 2245
E 10 46 h	0	7		6147	2245
EAU 364	A	-	22	2200	2245
TN0.342	A	1 -	55	2230	2246
EAUU29	L .	)	31	2200	2247
EA1515	D	3	31	2247	2247
ALUJEY	D	5	71	2145	2249
AAU.350	A	3	22	2217	2250
AA0473	Ü	7	31	2140	2251
EA1111	A	3	22	2251	2252
020970	A	-3	22	2137	2254
EA0024	A	3	22	2225	2255
UA0665	υ	3	71	2220	2256
AA0299	A	3	22	2222	2258
Tw0411	D	٦	-1	2155	2259
NW0233	Ú	3	31	2220	2300
Tw0538	A	3	22	2231	2300
TW0.576	A	٦	22	2247	2302



AA0437	D	1	31	2200	2305
AL0738	A	3	22	2230	2306
NE1667	A	3	22	2140	2307
NE1472	D	3	31	2145	2308
PI0052	А	3	22	2225	2308
DL0723	Ð	٦	31	2225	2310
FA2511	A	3	20	2253	2311
PI0049	Ð	٦	31	2220	2311
TW0495	D	3	31	2225	2313
AL 0677	A	٦	25	2135	2314
NE1443	A	3	22	2210	2315
AA0421	E)	3	31	2130	2315
ME 1.568	1)	3	31	2015	2316
AA0288	4	3	25	2~47	2317
CROADD	Δ	ź	22	2010	2318
EA0759		3	31	2230	2319
EAREAU	0	3	22	2156	2320
AA0035	1	3	31	2155	2321
EA251/	0		2	2320	2322
EAGENU	A		7.4	21/15	2322
EAU044	<i>.</i> ,	3	00	2300	2320
FA11//	/ <b>^</b>	78	7.1	2700	2305
EACIZI	D D	7	⊃ <u>I</u> 7 +	2327	2327
EATO20	Ď		I 	C.S.C. 1	0707
AAU228	A	.)	22	274.3	2321
UA0929	U U	ר ד	51	2.500	23,29
EA1521	L)	ר ד	51	2.300	2329
TW0 355	D	<b>n</b>	31	2245	2011
AL0737	Ð	3	31	1050	2533
TW0464	A	<b>`</b>	25	2255	23.55
DL0+US	Ð	-	31	2300	2335
MM0545	A	3	35	2255	2335
ALU496	А	3	22	2255	2337
AA0-595	U	<b>X</b>	31	2130	2338
EA2122	D	3	31	2330	2339
EA0357	A	3	22	2305	2341
AA0531	Ð	1	31	2250	2344
EA1525	D		31	2346	2346
AA0156	A	3	22	2247	2346
EA1121	A	3	22	2345	2347
AA0139	D	3	31	2230	2348
UA0a 35	Ú	3	31	2*15	2349
TWOB-1	Ų	3	31	2300	2351
500/16	А	5	22	2320	2351
EA4124	U	٦ 	31	2351	2352
NE1678	0	<u>م</u>	22	2225	2353
EAUS95	5	5	31	2320	2353
EAU358	A	1	22	2130	2354
02.0971	Ŭ		51	2245	2355
EA4521	A	3	22	2350	2356
AAUZUG	D	3	51	2250	2357
ALU/AR	Δ	5	22	2300	2350





а